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TI-IE object of this book is to lay before the 

public a short history of Afghanistan, which, 

can be read in a few hours, and will give, 

the author trusts, an accurate account of the 

history of a country at the present time 

attracting considerable attention from the 

im~ortance of its position in relation to our 

Indian Empire. 

The author having been present in Afgha- 

nistan during part of the Afghan war, is able 

in these pages to supply some details from 

his personal experience as well as informa- 

tion derived on the spot ; for the rest, he 

wishes to express the obligations he is 

under towards the authorities from whom 

he has derived his information ; they are- 

Icaye's " Afghanistan War," various histories 



of India, Elphinstone's " Kingdo m of Cabul," 

the " Account of the Massacre of the Cabul 
Army," by Lieuten ant Eyre, Malleson's 

" History of Afghanistan," and other books, 

together with letters and articles in various 
magazines and newspaper S. 



AFGHANISTAN. 

I N  this book I propose to lay before the 
reader a short account of the history of 
Afghanistan from the earliest time to the 
present day, including accounts of our first 
Afghan war of 1838-42, the present war, 
and the Afghan question. 

I do not propose to enlarge upon the geo- 
uraphy of the country, but simply to state 3 

roughly the boundaries of Afghanistan. 
Afghanistan is bounded on the north by 

the Oxus river, and a line drawn from that 
river to Persia, dividing Afghanistan ' from 
Ichivan territory. On the west Afghanistan 
is bounded by Persia; on the south by 
Beloochistan ; on the south-east by British 
India, from which it is clearly separated by 
the Suliman and Safed K011 ranges of moun- 
tains ; on the east Afghanistan is bounded by 
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Cashmeer. Originally the Afghanistan that 
I have here described was oilly part of a 
kingdom whose capital was Bokhara. 

All invaders of India coming from the north 
have passed through Afghanistan. As far 
back as the year 5 18 B.C. Darius, King of 
Persia, crossed the Indus, and annexed a 
large portion of the north of India to his 
kingdom. 

Alexander the Great was the next in- 
vader of India. Having subjugated Cabul 
about 331 B.c., he passed the mountains, 
crossed the Indus at Attock, and defeated 
King Porus on the Jhelum river; thence he 
pushed on as far as the Sutlej, which he was 
compelled to make his boundary, as his 
troops could not be induced to advance fur- 
ther, though he himself desired to traverse 
the districts bordering on the Ganges, of 
whose wealth he had received fabulous 
reports. 

In A.D. 1001 we hear of the next important 
invasion of India from the north, by Mah- 
mood of Ghuzni. This king in several ex- 
peditions conquered a large part of northern 
India, penetrating as far as Somnath, from 
whence he removed the sandal-wood gates of 
a celebrated Hindoo temple to Ghuzni in 



I 024. ' These gates afterwards became the , *  

subject of Lord Ellenborough's " Proclama- 
tion of the Gates," of which I shall' say more 
hereafter. Under this king Ghuzni rose to be 
one of the most splendid cities of the world, 
filled with marble palaces and treasures, and 
so remained until I I 52, when it was sacked 
and greatly destroyed by Alla-ood-deen. The 
dynasty of Mahmood of Ghuzni lasted until 
I 186. 

The  next rulers of Afghanistan were those 
usually known as the House of Ghore, 
of whom Mahomed Ghory was the most 
renowned. H e  invaded India from Af- 
ohanistan, defeated the Icing of Delhi and 2 3  

his allies, and established the second Ma- 
hommedan dynasty at Delhi. His empire 
was further pushed on by his commanders 
over Behar and Bengal. This prince died 
in 1206. 

Shortly afterwards Jenghis Khan, the ruler 
of the Moguls, a tribe of Tartars, laid waste 
the whole of Central Asia, and marched as 
far as the Indus. 

I n  1298 the Moguls again attempted an 
invasion of India, but were defeated near 
Delhi. 

A hundred years later, namely, in 1398, 



Timur, or, as he is sometimes called, Tamer- 
lane, having made himself master of Central 
Asia, advanced to the conquest of India. 
Crossing the Indus at Attock, he plundered 
the country as far as Delhi, after which hc 
returned and recrossed the river. 

The  next invasion of India from the north 
was that of Baber, in I g I g. Baber was the 
sixth in descent from Timur; he had cap- 
tured Cabul in 1504, and had there main- 
tained himself, notwithstanding perpetual 
warfare against the Uzbeks. After four ex- 
peditions against India with doubtful results, 
he finally, in I 526, met the Emperor I brahin~ 
Lodi in the plain of Paniput. In the battle 
fought there Baber was completely successful, 
and seated himself on the throne of Delhi. 

I t  is extraordinary to find the numbers 
recorded as opposed to each other in this 
battle, it is said that Baber's army consisted 
of but I 2 , 0 0 0  men, all hardy veterans, 
while Ibrnhim Lodi's army numbered nearlv 
100,ooo men ; the battle lasted the whole 
day, and resulted in the complete defeat of 
the Emperor of Delhi, who lost 15,000 men, 
and was himself killed. After conquering 
Chunderee, Oude, and Behar, Baber died in 

1 5 3 0 .  His body was carried from Agra to 
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Cabul. His son Humayoon succeeded him 
on the throne of Delhi, but being defeated 
by Shere Khan, he was finally driven out of 
India in 1540. However. in 1545, having 
obtained assistance from Shah Tamasp, the 
Persian monarch, he attacked and took 
Candahar, and made himself master of 
Cabul ; and shortly afterwards, taking ad- 
vantage of the weakness and profligacy of 
Adeli, who was now Emperor at Delhi, 
Humayoon crossed the Indus once more in 
1555, and defeated the forces sent against 
him. He now for a second time mounted 
the throne of Delhi ; six months later, how- 
ever, he slipped on the marble floor of his 
palace, and received injuries from which he 
died. H e  was succeeded by the greatest of 
the Moguls, Akbar. Akbar was not, how- 
ever, allowed to succeed quietly to his father's 
throne, for he was attacked by Hemu, a 
Hindoo who was in command of Sultan 
Adeli's army, and again, for the second 
time, the plain of Paniput was the scene of a 
oreat battle in which the rulers of Afghan- b 

istan attempted to obtain possession of the 
throne of Delhi ; after a severe contest, the 
army of Sultan Adeli was completely defeated, 
and its gallant general Hemu taken prisoner 



12 AFGHANISTAN. 

and put to death. This battle seated Akbar 
securely on the throne of Delhi, I 556. 

Bengal and Orissa had both been go- 
verned by descendants of the first conquering 
Afghans, until in 1576 Daood Khan was 
defeated and slain by Akbar's generals, and 
with him terminated the rule of those Afghans 
in the two provinces, a rule that had lasted 
over 2 0 0  years. 

Akbar was now master of the greater part 
of India, but there still remained to him to 
reduce the north-western bord,er-tribes of 
Khyberees and hill-men, who could not be 
restrained from their predatory expeditions, 
by either threats or liberality. 

For this purpose Akbar sent against them 
a strong force ; the expedition was, however, 
most disastrous, 40,000 men having been 
said to have been cut off in the mountain 
passes and destroyed. Akbar then adopted 
a different mode of warfare agaii~st these 
tribes, and established a chain of fortified 
posts throughout the mountains, from whence 
his garrisons were able to sally out when- 
ever the hill-men collected, and by which 
the hill-men were cut off from their supplies 
and communications with the plains ; and 
this plan seems to have succeeded fairly well, 
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though it had not the effect of civilizing or 
taming the ~eople .  During the reign of 
Akbar and his successors, Candahar was 
frequently lost and regained by them in their 
struggles with Persia, until the power of the 
Court of Delhi being weakened by continual 
dissensions and rebellions, and the incapa- 
city of the monarchs having destroyed the 
strength of the state, Afghanistan was left 
free from all control from India ; and Can- 
dahar, with a large part of the country, fell 
under the power of the Shahs of Persia, 
Abbas I I., and his successor Suliman. I n  
1709 the Ghilzie Afghans revolted, and made 
Candahar independent of the Persian Crown ; 
and finally in I 7 2 2  Mahmood, the Ghilzie 
Chief, took Ispahan, and became King of 
Persia. On the death of Mahmood his son 
succeeded him, and Afghanistan remained in 
a state of semi-independence until Nadir 
Shah became powerful in Khorassan. This 
extraordinary man defeated the Abdali 
Afghans in Khorassan, the Ghilzies in Persia, 
and the Turks and Russians in the west, and 
having been crowned king, he invaded Af- 
ghanistan, and laid siege to Candahar ; from 
thence he sent messengers to Delhi ; one 
of his messengers, however, received but 
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little attention, while another was murdered 
on his journey. Exasperated by this treat- 
ment, Nadir Shah determined to invade 
India. Having crossed the Indus with a 
large army, he  defeated the Emperor of 
Delhi, and entered the city with him in r 739. 
A short time after his arrival a t  Delhi a 
disturbance arose between the  inhabitants of 
the  city and Nadir's army, from which a 
general massacre of the inhabitants ensued. 
After having inflicted this terrible massacre 
on the people of Delhi, and after havino b 

plundered the  whole country, and collected 
enormous spoils, Nadir Shah returned to 
Persia, leaving Mahomed Shah restored to 
the throne of Delhi, but extending his own 
territories to the Indus. Nadir Shah, whose 
career had been from its commencement 
marked by cruelty, treachery, and baseness, 
was assassinated in his tent by his own 
people in I 747. 

His throne was seized upon by Ahmed 
Khan, an  Abdali Afghan, of the Sudoozie 
family, a name which he shortly afterwards 
changed to Durani, which name they a t  p r e -  
sent bear. He advanced into India, but was 
defeated by the army of the Emperor of Delhi. 

Not  dispirited, however, by his defeat, and 



seeing that the country was in a state of great 
confusion owing to the death of the Emperor 
Mahomed Shah, Ahmed Shah Abdali again 
advanced into India, and made himself master 
of the Northern provinces. These provinces 
were afterwards confirmed to him by treaty. 
Disputes having again broken out between 
Ahmed Shah Abdali and the Court of Delhi, 
he for the third time advanced into India, 
captured and sacked Delhi, and again retired 
across the Indus. 

Ahmed Shah then leaving Timur, his son, 
in charge of the Indian provinces, returned 
to the North. 

The next year Timur was attacked by the 
Mahrattas, and defeated. I n  order to avenge 
this defeat, in I 759, Ahmed Shah once more 
commenced an invasion of India ; in this, his 
fourth invasion, he defeated the armies of 
Srindia and Holkar, who were opposed to 
him ; and finally in January, I 76 r ,  at Paniput, 
where already twice before the fate of India 
had been decided, he encountered the whole 
Mahratta power. For days the two armies 
lay opposed to each other without any deci- 
sive action taking place, but at last reduced by 
famine, and by sickness engendered by the 
dead bodies around their camp, the Mahrat- 
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tas commenced the attack. Their  army had 
been one of the finest that India had ever 
seen, and was estimated a t  over 250,000 men, 
while that  of Ahmed Shah consisted of but 
about 80,000 ; , bu t  famine had greatly reduced 
the ranks and strength of the Mahrattas. T h e  
battle was fiercely contested, and at one time 
it appeared as if the victory would remain 
with the Mahrattas, but Ahmed Shah brought 
up his reserve, some of the Mahratta chiefs 
fell, and others withdrew ; thereupon the 
Mahratta army was thrown into confusion, 
and victory remained with the invader. T h e  
loss of the Mahrattas in this campaign was 
estimated a t  200,000 men ; had they gained 
the day, the  fortunes of India would have 
been changed;  for they would then have 
been the greatest power in the country, 
and we ourselves should perhaps not have 
obtained the hold that we now have in India. 
After this decisive victory of Paniput, Ahmed 
Shah Abdali remained master of India, 
since having destroyed the strength of the 
Mahrattas, there was no other power that 
could cope with him ; but it was not his policy 
to  become Emperor of Delhi, he therefore 
retired into Afghanistan, after having restored 
the almost nominal sovereignty of the Mogul, 



a' sovereignty which was destined to last until 
the Indian mutiny. Shortly after his return 
'to Afghanistan, Ahmed Shah died, and was 
succeeded by his son Timur, who moved the 
capital of his kingdom from Candahar to 
Cabul, as  he distrusted both the Candahar 
people and the Duranis, who had supported 
his brother against him on his father's death. 
Timur governed the country well, and col- 
lected - the  taxes regularly, so  that without 
wars his exchequer was full, still he was 
troubled with rebellions on all sides, the light- 
ness of his rule leading the chiefs. to imagine 
that they could rebel with impunity. This 
prince died in 1793, leaving twenty-three 
sons, of whom Zemaun Shah was chosen as 
king ; but although chosen king, his kingdom 
had to be conquered, for there were signs of 
revqlt amongst various chiefs, and two of his 
brothers were in open rebellion. Neverthe- 
less, by rapid and determined movements, he  
counteracted the plans of his brothers, and 
having settled Cabul and Candahar, he 
marched his army through the mountains into 
India, and made himself master of Lahore and 
the Punjab. In  1798, Lord Wellesley, then 
Governor-General of India, received a letter 
from Zemaun Shah, stating his proposed expe- 



IS  AFGHANISTAN: 

dition into India, and requesting the co-ope- 
ration of the English army for the purpose of 
driving back the Mahrattas from the north 
into the Deccan ; Scindia and Holkar having 
invaded Delhi and Agra some years pre- 
viously. The power of Zemaun Shah was not 
a t  that time known to be as weak as it really 
was, for judged by the history of his grand- 
father's reign, he was supposed to be a power- 
ful prince. Nevertheless Lord Wellesley, 
with the object of securing a treaty with 
Scindia, sent Zemaun Shah's letter to him, 
saying that it was the desire of the British 
Government to maintain the present princes 
of India in the position they then occupied. 
Lord Wellesley did this with the object of 
checking Tippoo Sultan, who was at this 
time making great preparations in order to 
drive the English out of the country ; and 
with this object was urging Zemaun Shah to 
proceed with his invasion in the North, while 
a t  the same time he himself was gaining all 
the assistance he could from the French, with 
whom at that time we were at war in Europe. 
However, Tippoo was killed at the fall of 
Seringapatam on the 4th May, I 798. 

Notwithstanding Tippoo's death, it was con- 
sidered necessary that we should protect our- 



AFGHANISTAN. I 9  

selves fromany attack that Zemaun Shah might 
deliver, supported by the French, who it was 
supposed intended marching into India through 
Persia and Afghanistan. In I 799, therefore, 
for the purpose of strengthening our hands, 
Captain Malcolm was sent by Lord Wellesley 
upon a mission to Persia, in order to form an 
alliance with that country. This if satis- 
factorily arranged would, owing to our com- 
mand of the sea, place us in a position to land 
troops when required in Persian territory. 

A treaty was concluded between England 
and Persia by which the Persian king pro- 
mised to advance into Afghanistan, should the 
Afghans attempt an invasion of India, and an 
allied army of England and Persia was to 
resist the French, should they attempt an in- 
vasion from Europe ; also all French agents 
were to be excluded from Persia. However, 
the Afghan invasion came to nothing, Zemaun 
Shah was blinded by his subjects, and became 
a pensioner of the British Government, and 
Shah Mahmoud became the ruler of Afghan- 
istan until deposed by Shah Soojah. 

In I 808 another mission was despatched 
to Persia, as it was then considered that the 
relations of that Court with France were of a 
dangerous character to ourselves. Persia 

B 2 
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afraid of the designs of Russia, thought France 
was the only power who could interpose 
effectually in her favour ; but even then 
Napoleon's career was closing in, for the 
French were being rapidly driven out of the 
Peninsula by Wellington. 

In I 809 Mr. Elphinstone was sent upon 
a mission to Shah Soojah, the King of 
Afghanistan, and satisfactorily concluded a 
treaty with him. Mr. Elphinstone describes 
the king as magnificently attired, covered 
with jewels and precious stones, while every- 
thing around him appeared luxurious in the 
extreme, his tents were decorated with silk, 
and silver bells, and a portable house of two 
stories, that could be set up by a hundred 
men in an hour, accompanied him on his 
march. But the state appeared to Mr. 
Elphinstone to have little vitality in it, and 
to be but a great kingdom going to decay. 
H e  describes the Afghans as treacherous, and 
ready to plunder their guests as soon as they 
had left their houses. H e  describes an. 
attack upon the house tenanted by the Em- 
bassy at Peshawur, which was with difficulty 
suppressed, and which somewllat resembles 
t h e  attack upon the Embassy at Cabul in 
1879, and the attack upon Burnes' house in 



I 84 r ; only that fortunately in this first attack 
the sedition was checked before any damage 
had occurred. Shortly after Mr. Elphin- 
stone's arrival at Yeshawur, and his gracious 
reception there, Shah Soojah marched against 
Shah Mahmoud, who had rebelled against 
him, captured Candahar, and advanced upon 
Cabul. I n  this expedition against his rebel- 
lious subject Shah Soojah was defeated, and 
fled as a refugee to the Court of Runjeet 
Singh, the ~ i k h  king, who entertained him 
for a short time, but, taking advantage of his 
misfortunes, extorted from him much treasure, 
as well as the celebrated Koh-i-noor diamond, 
which is now in our possession among the 
regalia, having been obtained by us when 
we took the Punjab. Shah Soojah, after a 
short time, escaped from Runjeet Singh, and 
became a British pensioner. 

Afghanistan was now torn by internal dis- 
sension, no ties of blood or honour were of 
sufficient strength to prevent treachery, until 
after frequent plots, and much fighting, Dost 
Mahomed, the most capable of the Afghan 
chiefs, attained supreme command in I 826. 
Dost Mahomed was brother of Fati Khan, 
chief of the Barukzies, who, after having raised 
Mahmoud a second time to the throne by 
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defeating Shah Soojah, and after having 
brought the country into good order, and 
governed it with great force and power for 
Shah Mahmoud, had been treacherously 
seized and subsequently murdered by the 
order of the very man for whom he had done 
such good service, and whom he had raised to 
be king. 

While the brothers of Fathi Khan were 
rebelling against Mahmoud Shah, and while 
Dost Mahomed was obtaining for himself the 
chief command in Afghanistan, Russia was 
pushing on her frontier at the expense of 
Persia, and although we were bound by 
Malcolm's treaty to assist Persia, yet we 
sent her neither men nor money as we 
had agreed, maintaining, rightly or wrongly, 
that the war was commeilced by Persian 
aggression, although no doubt the provoca- 
tion came from Russia. Finally we paid a 
sum of money to obtain the erasure from the 
treaty of the articles concerning the help we 
were to give. 

This was certainlv doubtful policy on our 
part, and the fruits of it were soon shown, for 
Russia having obtained, by her various suc- 
cesses aaainst h Persia, considerable hold on 
that country ; her agents, with the object of 



thwarting England, commenced instigating 
the Persian monarch to attack Afghanistan 
in order to obtain possession of Herat  and 
Candahar, which places had formerly belonged 
to the Persian Crown. 

In  1835 Lord Auckland was appointed 
Governor-General of India by the Whig  
Ministry, and received a letter of congra- 
tulation from Dost Mahomed, to which he 
replied in a friendly manner, and the next 
year sent up Mr. Burnes, afterwards Sir 
Alexander Burnes, on a commercial mis- 
sion to Cabul, where he was favourably 
received by Dost Mahomed, and his com- 
mercial mission changed into a political one. 

Shortly after Burnes' arrival in Cabul, a 
Russian agent arrived there, bearing purely 
commercial letters to the Ameer from the 
Emperor of Russia. This  agent, however, 
was received with but little attention by the 
Ameer, as  Dost Mahomed was aware of the 
rivalry between England and Russia, and 
preferred to have the former for his ally. 

T h e  chief object that the Ameer had in 
view in allying himself with England was the 
recovery of Herat  and Peshawur, both of 
which places had been separated from his 
crown during the recent troubles in Afghan- 



istan ; for while Dost Mahomed had been 
obtaining the chief power in his distracted 
country, Runjeet Singh had by gradual en- 
croachments pushed his frontier northwards, 
and finally a t  Noushera had defeated the 
Afghans, and thereupon claimed Peshawur, 
and in fact, had nominated and installed an 
Afghan governor in that  place, who paid 
him tribute ; and about the same time, 
Kamran, the son of Mahmoud, the  late King 
of Afghanistan, had established himself in an  
independent position a t  Herat. Hence it 
was that Dost Mahomed applied to us for 
assistance, thinking that we might induce 
Runjeet Singh to give back Peshawur. 

Mr. Burnes himself was inclined to the 
policy of a strong Afghanistan, under a ruler 
friendly to ourselves, and thought that Run- 
jeet Singh might easily be induced by us to 
give back Peshawur to Dost Mahomed, to be 
held by him as tributary to Lahore, and this 
would have greatly strengthened the Ameer's 
position. But the Governor-General, Lord 
Auckland, wrote to Mr. Burnes instructions 
entirely contrary to this plan, and Mr. Burnes 
was compelled, against his own inclinations 
and opinion, to let the Ameer see that Lord 
Auckland discountenanced all idea of his 



recovering Peshawur. Now, it was impor- 
tant for Dost Mahomed to have Peshawur 
added to his kingdom, as his brother, Sultan 
Mahomet, his declared enemy, was striving to 
obtain full power over that country, and thus 
situated in so important a position, he formed 
a standing menace to the Ameer's Govern- 
ment. 

Unable to attain the assistance that he  
wished for in one quarter, the Ameer naturally 
turned to the other quarter. Burnes had 
started on his mission with miserable toys 
instead of the handsome presents of the pre- 
vious expedition under Elphinstone ; he had 
been directed to ask much, and to give little, 
and as Dost Mahomed clearly put the matter, 
" w e  proposed to  assist him, but our assis- 
tance really was hastening his ruin." 

I t  was not unnatural, thetefore, that our 
embassy should fall into disrepute ; as the 
influence of Mr. Burnes began to fail, that 
of the Russian agent rose ; for, although the 
Ameer had been kind and straightforward, 
what was to be expected but failure under 
the circumstances ; in Burnes' own words, 
" Lord Auckland must have been the most 
sanguine of men had he expected any other 
result." 
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The Ameer therefore entered into nego- 
- 

tiations with the Russian agent, which re- 
sulted in his receiving from the Russians 
large promises of help and assistance, and 
decided help in the shape of an attack upon 
Herat by the Shah of Persia, at Russia's 
instigation, and assisted by Russian officers. 

The Whig Government now thought it 
necessary to make a counter move against 
Russia, and urged Lord Auckland to adopt 
vigorous measures in order to counteract 
Russian aggression, both in Persia and 
Afghanistan. Lord Auckland having got 
himself into this unfortunate position by his 
hesitating policy, afraid to fix himself with the 
slightest liability, now began toconsider how he 
should proceed, and finally came to the conclu- 
sion that there were three courses open to him. 

1st. Simply to maintain the line of the 
Indus, and leave Afghanistan to its fate. 

2nd. To assist the chiefs of Afghanistan. 
qrd. T o  assist Runjeet Singh and Shah 3 

Soojah to march to Afghanistan, and take 
- 

the country. 
Lord Auckland chose the last, and des- 

patched Mr. Macnaghten to the court of 
Runjeet Singh for the purpose of making 
a triplicate treaty with him and Shah Soojah, 
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for the conquest of Afghanistan, and for 
placing Shah Soojah on the throne. We 
therefore came to be acting against Dost 
Mahomed, instead of with him, and thereby 
we found ourselves in the position of setting 
up a weak king who had been deposed by 
his subjects, and been living in exile for 
years, against Dost Mahomed, who was re- 
cognized as the most capable chief in the 
country, one who had always wished to be 
our friend, who preferred our friendship to 
that of Russia, and who had always been 
willing to be guided by our councils when 
they were not opposed to his own interest, 
and who, further, had never been guilty of 
any treachery towards us, and this is saying 
a great deal for an Afghan. 

I n  1838, therefore, according to the new 
policy, a large British force was collected on 
the northern frontier of India, in order to 
march v 2  Candahar to attack the south- 
western portion of Afghanistan ; with these 
Shah Soojah and whatever troops he could 
collect, was to march, while Captain Wade, 
and the son of Shah Soojah, were to advance 
with the Sikh troops, our allies, through the 
IChyber pass. 

Opinions, both in England and India, were 
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loudly raised against this war, which was one, 
undertaken against a chief who had done us 
no harm, except in so far as listening to 
Russian advice, because we had declined 
to assist him. Loud complaints were also 
raised on account of the avowed object of. 
the expedition being to prevent Persia from 
taking Herat, and, this being the case, it 
seemed somewhat inconsistent that we should 
make war on the ruler of Afghanistan, in 
order to prevent the ruler of Persia from 
taking a city which at that time was inde- 
pendent of both kingdoms, and which was 
even then making a vigorous defence against 
the army of the Shah. In this defence the 
people of Herat were assisted by a young 
Englishman, Eldred Pottinger, who, by his 
energy, pluck, and skill, so baffled the enemy 
that, after spending many months before the 
walls, with considerableloss of life and treasure, 
the Shah of Persia was obliged to raise the 
siege, and retire from the contest ; now, as this 
took place before Lord Auckland's manifesto 
of the war was published, one of the objects 
for which we proposed to go to war was 
already accomplished. After the failure of 
the expedition, when these things came to 
be criticized, and it was found out that 



Burnes' advice would, had it been followed, 
have given us all we desired, without any 
war, ugly rumours got afloat as to thk 
manner in which his despatches had been 
tampered with, before being presented to the 
country by the Government. 

However, the war commenced, and various 
troubles occurred in crossing the independent 
country of the Punjab and Scinde, which lay 
between our frontier of those days and that of 
Afghanistan, for not yet was thought of the 
celebrated despatch which surpassed Czsar's 
veni, vidi, z k i  in brevity, namely " Peccavi," 

I have sinned," when the conquest of Scinde 
was completed by Napier. The commands in 
the west were entrusted to Sir Willoughby 
Cotton and Sir John Keane; the former 
marched by Ferozepoor and Shikarpoor to 
the Bolan Pass, which he traversed in six 
days, after losing many baggage animals and 
much baggage, and Sir John Keane, with 
the Bombay division and the Shah's army, 
having made their way through Scinde after 
overawing the Ameers of that country, fol- 
lowed Sir Willoughby Cotton up the Bolan 
Pass to Quetta, where Sir John Keane took 
command of the whole force. 

In April, 1839, Shah Soojah entered 
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Candahar. Up to this time the army had 
suffered in physique from want of provisions, 
and had lost large numbers of its transport 
animals and baggage, but had met with no 
opposition from the enemy. 

After a long halt at Candahar to collect 
supplies, Sir John Keane advanced upon 
~ h u z n i ,  which he took by assault. The 
Cabul Gate was blown up, whereupon 
Colonel Dennie, at the head of the stormers, 
rushed in, and shortly afterwards three cheers 
announced that they had established them- 
selves within the walls. Colonel Sale 
followed Colonel Dennie, and after much 
severe fighting we obtained possession of 
the place. The fall of Ghuzni astonished 
the Afghans. Dost Mahomed Khan fled 
across the frontier of Afghanistan, and 
his guns were found in position, and 
captured. On the 6th of August, 1839, the 
army reached Cabul, and the next day the 
king entered the city in state. Shah Soojah 
was now restored to his kingdom, but it was 
found that he was unable to govern it without 
British assistance. While these events were 
taking place in the west, Captain, now 
Colonel Wade, with the Sikhs, had pushed 
up the Khyber, taken Ali Musjid after a 



short resistance, and through Dakka and 
Jellalabad, reached Cabul. Our Sikh allies 
had proved themselves but very weak-hearted 
in the-cause, and no dependence was therefore 
to b e  placed upon them. 

Much annoyance was as usual caused by 
the Khyberees until they were bought OK 

In the south, Khelat was captured by 
assault as a punishment for the frequent 
depredations committed by the Beloochees. 

The danger of Russia in Afghanistan had, 
it appears, been greatly magnified in the minds 
of our statesmen, by an expedition she had 
undertaken in 1840 against the Khan of 
Khiva, in order to chastise him for his slave- 
dealing propensities ; Russia affirming that 
the Khan had taken several Russian subjects 
and kept them in slavery. I t  was supposed 
that this expedition would push on against 
the Shah of Bokhara. But the force was 
attacked by famine, and unable to advance 
owing to the cold and the rugged country 
through which it had to pass. On the failure 
of this expedition all fear was removed for 
the time from the minds of our statesmen 
concerning Russia's counter-move in Asia. 
This expedition and its failure is somewhat 
similar to Russia's expedition against the 



Tekke Turkomans which failed in I 879 ; the 
expedition that they have lately organized on 
a much larger scale under General Skobeleff, 
the Balkan hero, has been fairly successful. 

But to return, Shah Soojah being esta- 
blished at Cabul, and the whole country 
being apparently quiet, it appeared that 
now was the time for us to retire and 
leave the king to manage his kingdom ; 
it is true he was not very firmly seated on 
the throne, but few Afghan kings ever are. 
Macnaghten, our political officer, was of 
opinion that the country was settling down, 
and it was obvious that we could not keep 
an army perpetually in Afghanistan, and 
further, it could with reason be urged that 
the Afghan king, left with a few faithful 
subjects, would have a stronger hold on the 
mass of his people, and therefore be a 
stronger ruler, than if he were supported by 
foreign bayonets. The opportunity of thus 
leaving the country was, however, missed, 
and soon it became clear that all was not 
going so well as Macnaghten thought, for 
signs of ferment appeared in many directions ; 
near Candahar the Ghilzies and Beloochees 
were again giving trouble, and had to be 
chastised, while in the north a detachment 



was attacked and lost several men, and in 
Cabul itself there were signs of disturbance. 
Major Todd also, our envoy at Herat, had 
been obliged to retire from that place over- 
whelmed with insults ; and the Duranis also 
were giving us trouble. Our attacks on these 
different tribes, though generally successful, 
were not sufficiently carried out, being made 
by small parties of troops sufficient to irritate 
without crushing our treacherous enemies. 

Sir Willoughby Cotton was now succeeded 
by General Elphinstone, an old officer who 
had served his country bravely and well, and 
who, although he obtained the respect of 
every one as a brave old gentleman, was not 
at all strong, a martyr to the gout, and not 
by any means the right man for Lord Auck- 
land to have pitched upon for this special 
service, a service that was trying to the full 
the powerful brain of Macnaghten. 

The troops at Cabul were quartered in 
what were called the cantonments, which 
formed a long parallelogram, the whole being 
surrounded by a ditch and mud wall ; the 
ramparts, however, were so weak that in 
many places they could be ridden over, and 
the position was such that it could be swept 
by fire from the hills and forts on all sides ; 
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added to all this, the troops had been ell- 

couraged to  have their wives and children 
with them, as it was considered that the occu- 
pation of Afghanistan would be a question of 
time. T h e  expense of this continued occu- 
pation of the country began to tell heavily 
on the exchequer of India, and Macnaghten 
was ordered to economize ; he began by 
cutting down the  pensions and subsidies of 
the Afghan chiefs; this touched them in a 
point where they were very sensitive; ac- 
cordingly secret meetings were held by the 
discontented chiefs, and finally the eastern 
Ghilzies broke into rebellion and held Khoord 
Cabul pass against us. Sir  Robert Sale was 
sent against them, and after some difficulty 
cleared the pass and marched on towards 
Jellalabad, unfortunately not taking the oppor- 
tunity of inflicting a severe blow on this 
restless tribe. 

O n  November rst, I 841, several chiefs met 
in secret, and the next day there was a corn- 
motion in the city of Cabul ; Sir Alexander 
Burnes' house was attacked, and he and 
nearly all in it were massacred. T h e  Shah 
sent out some troops from the Balla Hissar, 
but they were unable to quell the disturbance, 
and finally retired before the insurgents. 



T h e  British army remained inactive all 
day, Brigadier Shelton only assisting to carry 
off the guns, which the Shah's men would 
otherwise have lost. 

Th is  insurrection, there is no doubt, was 
but  small and unprepared in its first out- 
break, and any action of decision would have 
crushed it ; and by crushing it would have 
strengthened our position, while showing us 
how precarious that position was. 

T h e  next day the  insurgents, animated by 
their success, gathered in far larger force, 
but still nothing was done, till, increasing in 
boldness, they attacked parties of our troops 
and our commissariat fort, containing the 
clothing and food for the  army, which by a 
gross blunder had been placed a t  a distance 
from the cantonments. T h e  small detachment 
in charge of the fort held out for many hours, 
until, finding that  the Afghans were under- 
mining one of the towers, and that no rein- 
forcements came to  their repeated calls, they 
evacuated the fort, leaving there the food of 
the  entire force ; General Elphinstone having 
failed to send out a sufficient force, either to  
drive off the Afghans or  reinforce the place. 
T h e  position of El~hins tone ' s  army now be- 
came very critical, for it was obvious that 



they could not collect supplies enough to 
keep them from famine, not having sufficient 
troops for that purpose to spare from the 
arduous duty of guarding the cantonments. 
Further, the general and his second in com- 
mand, Brigadier Shelton, could not agree, 
and the general was so careful of the lives 
of his soldiers that he permitted them to be 
annoyed night and day by the Afghans, rather 
than make an attack which he thought danger- 
ous against the enemy's position. S o  things 
went on getting worse and worse, the men 
and officers burning to attack the enemy, 
but the general uncertain and afraid to give 
the necessary orders. I t  was now proposed, 
as  the winter was coming on, either to retreat, 
or  to move to the Balla Hissar, where the 
men would be in better quarters, would not 
be harassed by perpetual attacks, and might 
periodically sally out and capture provisions. 
But this was overruled, chiefly on account of 
the difficulty of moving the wounded, though 
the distance was only two miles. 

Several small fights now took place which 
showed the want of capacity of Brigadier Shel- 
ton, into whose hands the command had 
virtually fallen, Elphinstone being too ill to  
take the management of affairs, although he 



never actually resigned the command. These  
fights also showed the demoralization of the  
troops, both native and European, both of 
whom on different occasions refused to follow 
their officers, and fled before the Afghans. 

Macnaghten in this trying conjunction at-  
tempted to make a treaty with the Afghan 
chiefs, but was offered the most humiliating 
conditions, the  terms of which were, that if 
the  force yielded up their arms and guns, their 
lives would be spared. These  conditions 
were of course refused with scorn, but a 
treaty was drawn up  for the  retirement of the 
forces. T h e  treaty, however, though ob- 
served on our side, was mere waste paper 
on the  side of the Afghans. Finally Macnagh- 
ten was invited to a conference outside the 
cantonment, where he  and one of the officers 
with him were basely murdered in sight of 
his escort, two other officers being carried 
off prisoners. Notwithstanding all this, our 
troops were never moved out to the attack 
that  day. Another treaty was now drawn 
up, by which the guns  were given up  to  the  
enemy. T h e  hope had long since died out 
of any assistance from Candahar or  Jellalabad ; 
General Nott at the former place was unable 
to advance, and Sir Robert Sale was by this 



time holding out with his small force at Jella- 
labad, himself hardly pressed bp the enemy. In 
all this history of treachery and incompetence 
it is a relief to turn to the account of General 
Sale's force ; whether he was right in not 
attempting to assist Elphinstone, is a matter 
which can always bear discussion ; doubtless, 
had he been able to march on Cabul he might 
have saved the force there, for his vigorous 
counsels would alone have been sufficient to 
turn the odds against the Afghans. B u t  on 
hearing of the Cabul troubles he held a council 
of war, which decided that it was not advisa- 
ble for him to advance; he therefore broke up 
his camp at Gundamuck, and retired to Jella- 
labad, which he made himself master of, and 
proceeded to fortify. In thus holding Jella- 
labad, Sale had no easy task; the fortifications 
of the place were in lamentable order, and 
one part of them was commanded by some 
rocky hills from whence the enemy kept up a 
perpetual and accurate fire upon the defenders, 
this they were well able to do as their long- 
barrelled guns were superior to our muskets, 
carrying further,. and being more accurate. 

The  supply of food was very short in the 
city, and to add to the trouble of the garrison 
an earthquake shoolc down a large part of the 



fortification walls, which they had built up 
with much care and danger ; yet such was the 
determination and energy of the little force, 
that the Afghans, who were bold enough in 
attacking Elphinstone's army, got very shy of 
coming to interfere with Sale, for whenever 
they were bold enough to show a determined 
front, Sale led out his men and defeated them. 
T h e  health of Sale's men was splendid, for 
although they were living on half rations, 
without any spirits, an officer who was 
one of the garrison assured the author that 
they had scarcely a man in hospital. O n  the 
6th of January a letter was received at  Jellala- 
bad from Elphinstone ordering the evacuation 
of the city, but neither Sale, nor any of the 
officers there, were inclined to throw them- 
selves on the mercy of the Afghans, and 
therefore they refused to stir until they re- 
ceived further orders. They  little thought 
that the next communication they would 
receive would come from Dr. Bryden, the 
sole survivor of the massacre of the Cabul 
army. 

O n  the 6th of January, 1842, Elphinstone 
evacuated his cantonments, relying on a treaty 
which had been arranged with Akbar Khan, 
and other chiefs. By this treaty the force 



was to be escorted through the passes by a 
body-guard of Afghans. 

Thus on the morning of the 6th of January 
the Cabul army started; the escort of Afghans, 
however, did not arrive ; the baggage was 
not ready ; the bridge over the Cabul river 
was not yet sufficiently repaired ; instead of 
getting off by daylight, it was noon before the 
bridge was ready for the troops ; already the 
enemy were swarming into the cantonments 
before the rear guard left them ; it was six 
in the evening when the rear guard passed 
out. The force halted for the night six miles 
from the city, the road was strewn already 
with dead and dying, the cold was in- 
tense ; the snow lay thick on the ground ; 
soldiers, camp followers, and cattle were 
mixed up in terrible confusion. When 
morning broke, the camp followers struggled 
on, discipline was gone ; the enemy pressed 
on the rear of the force, seizing and slaying 
all they could. 

The rest is soon told, Akbar Khan and 
his Afghan horsemen came offering food and 
escort, but no food was brought, while the 
troops were attacked on all sides by the 
murderous Afghans. The only hope of 
safety for the force lay in the rapidity with 
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which they could march through the passes, 
every moment wasted, increasing the number 
and boldness of their assailants ; yet Elphin- 
stone, incapable here as ever, refused to push 
on ; thus two more fearful nights were spent. 
Akbar Khan now took the women and chil- 
dren under his protection, and another halt 
was called on the I I th, five days after leaving 
Cabul ; here they remained until the evening 
of the I ath, during which time General Elphin- 
stone, Brigadier Shelton, and other officers 
were detained by Akbar Khan as hostages ; 
the troops expecting the food and assistance 
that Akbar Khan promised, but neither were 
forthcoming, so the remainder of the force, 
reduced to about 150 fighting-men and some 
camp followers, pushed on to Jugdulluck. 
Here  they f ~ u n d  the pass, which is very 
narrow, barricaded with rocks and branches 
of trees ; the small body of Europeans, how- 
ever, fought with desperate valour, and here 
the artillery, under Captain Nicholl, displayed 
that unshrinking courage and determination, 
which won for them the awe and admiration 
of the Afghans. Many fell a t  the barrier, 
and only seventy reached Gundamuck, (the 
place where the treaty was concluded in 1 8 j g ,  
between Major Cavagnari and Yakoob Khan.) 
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At Gundamuck, these were attacked by the 
peasants, and only six escaped. A few miles 
farther on, these six were offered food, and 
while they were eating it, the enemy attacked 
them ; one only, Dr. Bryden, escaped, and was 
brought in half dead to Jellalabad on January 
I 3th, I 842, with the exception of the prisoners 
and some natives who deserted, the sole sur- 
vivor of a force of 4,500 fighting-men and 
I 2,000 camp followers. When the news 
reached India, people were overwhelmed 
with the magnitude of the disaster. 

Lord Auckland's mental faculties were, for 
the time, obscured by this crushing blow to 
his policy ; the Commander-in-Chief thought 
it unnecessary to send any more troops into 
Afghanistan, considering it wise to keep all 
the available troops to counteract any attempt 
at rebellion in India ; however, wiser judg- 
ment prevailed, an& after some delay, General 
Pollock was appointed to the command of a 
force to start for Peshawur. Meanwhile a force 
under Brigadier Wild had advanced with our 
Sikh allies up the Khyber, but the expedition 
had been a failure, the advanced portion of 
the force had indeed taken Ali Musjid, but 
by mistake only a quarter of the baggage 
animals had been sent with them, and conse- 



quently they found themselves in the fort 
without food, or possibility of getting it ; and 
when Brigadier Wild advanced with the main 
force, the Sikhs refused to attack the enemy ; 
the fears of the Sikhs contaminated our 
native troops ; nothing therefore remained 
to be done but to retire to Jumrood. 

Shortly afterwards the Ali Musjid garrison 
were forced to return by want of food, and 
the place was therefore abandoned. 

General Pollock arrived at Peshawur in 
February, and remained till April recruiting 
the health and spirits of his troops, for thev 
were in a state of almost open mutiny. 
Transport was then, as at the present time, 
one of the greatest difficulties to be overcome, 
camels were scarce, and the camel-drivers 
deserted in great numbers. However, 
General Pollock overcame all these difficul- 
ties, and on the 5th of April, 1842, advanced 
from Jumrood. The Khyberees had thrown 
up a barricade across the mouth of the pass, 
but they were not prepared for Pollock's 
mode of attack, he sent strong flanking 
parties up the hills on either side of the pass, 
and the troops soon showed that when pro- 
perly led, they were able to beat the Khy- 
berees on their native hills, for the enemy 



fled on all sides, and the barricade was turned 
and destroyed. General Pollock now marched 
on through the pass, and, without encountering 
much further opposition, relieved Jellalabad. 

On the 5th of April Shah Soojah was 
murdered by treachery in Cabul, and thus 
ended the rule to support which we had 
spent so much blood and treasure. 

While these events had been taking place at 
Cabul, and on the east of the seat of war, 
General Nott, at Candahar, in the south-west, 
had been much pressed by the enemy ; a re- 
lieving force which he had sent out to Cabul 
had failed to display the requisite energy, and 
had consequently returned without reaching 
that place, where its assistance might have 
proved invaluable. The enemy, emboldened 
by the state of affairs in Cabul, had attacked 
Candahar with great determination, but were 
repulsed ; still, although they had failed in 
their attack on Candahar, they had taken 
Ghuzni, and destroyed a party convoying 
provisions. General England had been 
directed to march from Quetta with ammu- 
nition and treasure to relieve Candahar ; but 
he advanced without much spirit, and was 
unable to rout the enemy opposed to him ; 
thus stopped in his attempt to reach Canda- 



har, he waited until he received from General 
Nott decisive orders to advance, and until 
that general had sent out some of his own 
men to meet him, these crowned the heights 
of the Khojak pass, and reported all clear for 
General England's advance, not a little to 
the envy of that general's troops, who ought 
to have done the work thenlselves. 

But to return to General Pollock, it was 
not till September that he could obtain per- 
mission from the Governor-General, Lord 
Ellenborough, to advance against Cabul, 
though both he and Nott were burning to 
do so. 

When Polloclc did advance, he found the 
enemy posted at Jugdulluck, the scene of 
the massacre. " Here," says one writer, " the 
skeletons lay so thick that they had to be 
cleared away to allow the guns to pass. The 
savage grandeur of the scene rendered it a 
fitting place for the deed of blood which had 
been enacted under its horrid shade, never 
yet pierced in some places by sunlight. The 
road was strewn for two miles with moulder- 
ing skeletons like a charnel house. 9 ' 

Now the enemy found they had to deal 
with other men, under other leaders, for, put- 
ting their whole energy into the work, the 



British troops scaled the heights and steep 
ascents, and defeated the enemy in their 
strongholds on all sides. After one more 
severe fight with Akbar Khan, and all the 
force he could collect, the enemy were beaten, 
and driven from their mountains, and the 
force marched quietly into Cabul. 

Nott, on his side, started from Candahar on 
the 7th of August, and, after fighting several 
small battles with the enemy, he captured 
Ghuzni, where Palmer and his garrison had 
been destroyed. From Ghuzni General Nott 
brought away, by command of Lord Ellen- 
borough, the gates of Somnauth, which formed 
the subject of the celebrated " Proclamation of 
the Gates," as it was called. This proclamation, 
issued by Lord Ellenborough, brought upon 
him endless ridicule, and was indeed at first 
considered to be a satire of his enemies, in 
imitation of Napoleon's address from the 
Pyramids ; the Duke of Wellington called 
it "The  Song of Triumph ;" it ran as fol- 
lows :-" My brothers and my friends." 
'' Our victorious army bears the gates of the 
temple of Somnauth in triumph from Afghan- 
istan, and the despoiled tomb of Sultan 
Mahomed looks upon the ruins of Ghuzni." 
" The insult of 800 years is at last avenged." 



" The gates of the temple of Somnauth, so 
long the memorial of your humiliation, are 
become the proudest record of your national 
glory ; the proof of your superiority in arms 
over the nations beyond the Indus. )) u ~ o  
you, princes and chiefs of Sirhind, of Raj- 
warra, of Malwa, and of Guzerat, I shall 
commit this glorious trophy of successful 
war." " You will yourselves, with all honour, 
transmit the gates of sandal-wood through 
your respective territories to the restored 
temple of Somnauth." " The chiefs of Sir- 
hind shall be informed at what time our 
victorious army will first deliver the gates of 
the temple into their guardianship at the foot 
of the bridge of the Sutlej." 

This proclamation, put forth with so much 
flourishing of trumpets and ado, was really 
an insult to those whom it professed to 
praise, it was an insult to the Mohammedans 
under our rule, for their power was gone, 
it was also an insult to the Hindoos, for their 
temple of Somnauth was in ruins. These 
celebrated gates, which are believed to be 
imitations of the original gates, are now lying 
neglected and worm-eaten, in the back part 
of a small museum at Agra. 

But toreturn, General Nott, having captured 



Ghuzni and defeated Sultan Jan, pushed on 
to Cabul, where he arrived on the 17th of 
September, and met Pollock. 

The English prisoners, (amongst whom 
were Brigadier Shelton and Lady Sale,) who 
had been captured at the time of the 
massacre, were brought, or found their own 
way, to General Pollock's camp. General 
Elphinstone had died during his captivity. 

I t  was not now considered necessary to 
take any further steps ; the bazaar in Cabul 
was destroyed, and on the I nth of October 
Pollock and Nott turned their faces south. 
wards, and began their march into India 
by the Khyber route. The  Afghans in 
captivity were sent back, and the Governor- 
General received the troops at Ferozepoor. 
Thus ended the Afghan war of I 838-42. 

The reason of the failure which we 
experienced was clearly the wrong and 
mistaken policy upon which the war had 
been commenced. That which was begun by 
a blunder of policy, was consummated by 
great military incapacity and supineness. 
The  war being over, we withdrew our 
forces into India, leaving the son of 
Shah Soojah, Fathi Jung,  who had escaped 
from Cabul when his father was murdered, 
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as king of the country, a position that he 
was unable to maintain long, being very 
shortly afterwards assassinated. 

I n  1842 Dost Mahomed, the ruler whom 
we had deposed, and who had been living 
at our expense in India, returned to Cabul 
and resumed his former position as king 
of the country, still bearing ill-will towards 
us, which he showed on several occasions, 
notably during the Sikh war, when he sent 
a body of his horsemen to fight for the 
Sikhs, and he himself marched an army 
through the Khyber to Peshawur to assist 
our enemies. However, the occupation of 
the Punjab forced upon Dost Mahomed the 
necessity of being on friendly terms with his 
powerful neighbour ; he therefore concluded 
a friendly treaty with us in 1854, hoping 
thereby that our power would be used to 
prevent the intrigues of Persia against his 
kingdom. This  hope was shortly after realized, 
for in I 856 we declared war against Persia, 
an  event which was greatly to the advantage 
of Dost Mahomed, as  it prevented Persian 
encroachments upon his territory. This  war 
lasted but a short time, for early in I 85 7 an  
agreement was signed between England and 
Persia, by which the latter renounced all 

D 



claims over Herat  and Afghanistan. Herat,  
however, still remained independent of 
Afghanistan, until I 863, when Dost Mahomed 
attacked and took the town, thus uciting 
the whole kingdom, including Candahar and 
Afghan Turkestan, under his rule. This was 
almost the last act of the Ameer's life, for a 
few days after taking Herat  he  died. By 
his will he directed that Shere Ali, one of 
his sons, should succeed him as Ameer of 
Afghanistan. 

T h e  new Ameer immediately wrote to the 
Governor-General of India, Lord Elgin, in a 
friendly tone, asking that his succession 
might be acknowledged. Lord Elgin, how- 
ever, as  the commencement of the Liberal 
policy of " masterly inactivity " neglected to 
answer the letter, a neglect which cannot but 
be deeply regretted, as Shere Ali was at  all 
events the de facto ruler of the country, and 
even had he been beaten by any other rival 
for the throne, it would have been time 
enough to acknowledge that- rival as  soon as 
he was really ruler of the country. When  
six months later a cold acknowledgment of 
the letter was given by Sir  William Denison, 
and when a request that the Ameer made for 
6000 muskets had been refused by Lord 



Lawrence, the Ameer concluded that the dis- 
position of England towards him was not 
that of a friend ; particularly as, when later 
on, two of his brothers revolted against him, 
each of them was told by the Government 
that he would be acknowledged for that part 
of the country which he brought under his 
power. 

However, after various changes in fortune, 
in 1869 Shere Ali finally defeated his two 
brothers Afzool and Azim, together with 
Afzool's son, Abdurrahman. This Abdur- 
rahman is the man into whose hands we have 
now given Afghanistan. 

'We' now come down to the origin of the 
present war in Afghanistan. In  order to 
understand the origin of this war it is neces- 
sary to take note of the movements of Russia. 
I t  was the fear of an attack on India from 
Europe, through Afghanistan, that led to our 
proceedings in Persia previous to the last 
Afghan war, and to that war itself. These 
fears have increased in proportion as Russia 
has steadily pushed on her frontier nearer 
and nearer to India. 

In 18 56 Russia attacked the tribes who 
for so long had withstood- her rule in the 
Caucasus. With the aid of a very large force 



she managed to subdue these rough moun- 
taineers, and has since kept them subser- 
vient to her rule by severe regulations, and 
strong military garrisons. This accomplished, 
Russia then pushed up the Jaxartes River, 
and in 1863 attacked the Khan of Khokand, 
and shortly after captured Turkestan, a town 
belonging to the Ameer of Bokhara. 

These movements of Russia caused the 
English statesmen then in power, to make 
representations to the Russian Government, 
which representations were replied to by 
Prince Gortschakoff, who stated that the 
advance was necessitated by the nature of the 
people with whom Russia had been thrown 
in contact, but that now she had reached a 
solid and compact country, and therefore the 
Russian frontier would be there fixed. 

Sir Henry Rawlinson shows that this com- 
munication to the English Government did 
not rest on any solid foundation ; written in 
November, 1864, it was seen to be false in 
June, r 865, for by that time the Russians had 
- 

attacked the Ameer of Bokhara, and con- 
quered Tashkend. So again in September, 
1865, Russia declared that she had no wish 
to add to her dominions, yet in 1866 she 
captured Khojend, and obtained sovereignty 



over the whole of Khokand; shortly after- 
wards Samarcand 'was taken, and the Ameer 
of Bokhara was obliged to admit Russian 
supremacy. 

It was now proposed by Lord Clarendon 
that Afghanistan should be a neutral zone 
between the English and Russian frontiers, 
and to this Prince Gortschakoff agreed, de- 
claring that the Czar " looks upon Afghanis- 
tan as completely outside the sphere within 
which Russia may be called upon to exercise 
her influence. P 9 

While Russia was making these soothing 
speeches, she was quietly preparing for an 
expedition against Khiva, at the same time 
denying repeatedly that such an expedition 
was in prospect. In June, 1873, however, 
Khiva was taken, and the whole of its terri- 
tory, on the right bank of the Oxus, an- 
nexed. 

These rapid advances of Russia towards 
the Afghan frontier had the effect of dis- 
quieting Shere Ali ; he saw that with a power- 
ful state on one side of Afghanistan, and 
another powerful state advancing on the 
other side, it was advisable for him to arrange 
for the support of one neighbour against the 
attacks of the other, and with this object he 
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wrote to  Lord Lawrence in 1868, asking for 
an  interview a t  Peshawur. But, owing to 
rebellion in his dominions, this interview was 
postponed until I 869, when Lord Mayo, 
having been made Viceroy, invited the Ameer 
to a conference a t  Umballa. However, the 
Conservative Government who appointed 
Lord Mayo, having been succeeded by the 
Liberals, the Viceroy found his hands tied ; 
for the Liberal Government, acting upon 
Lord Lawrence's policy, were disinclined to 
make any promises, or in any way to bind 
this country to a decided policy in respect of 
Afghanistan, or to undertake any responsibili- 
ties in the matter. 

During this conference, the Ameer fre- 
quently assured the Government that if we 
would acknowledge and support him, and 
the heir he would point out, then there 
was nothing he  would not accede to ; he 
was open to  any  propositions for securing 
his northern boundary, for facilitating trade 
with India, and for receiving English officers 
in some of the towns of Afghanistan, not 
Cabul. He frequently asserted that our not 
acknowledging him as Rmeer, after the death 
of Dost Mahomed, had been the cause of all 
the troubles which he had encountered. 



In  this conference, however, Shere Ali 
did not obtain the offensive and defensive 
alliance which he looked for, but instead of 
it was obliged to be content with vague 
promises of support ; and being dissatisfied, 
he was naturally not inclined to agree to 
what we desired, namely, that British officers 
should be placed irl certain towns of Afghan- 
istan to inform their government of what 
was goine C on in the country; the result 
of the conference, therefore, was not alto- 
gether satisfactory. 

So matters went on until the capture of 
Khiva by the Russians in I 873. Alarmed 
at  this near approach of Russia, Shere Ali 
sent an envoy to Lord Northbrook, the 
then Viceroy, stating his apprehensions, 
and asking for a close alliance, arms, and 
money. But the Liberal Government treated 
the matter very lightly, stating that Af- 
ohanistan was beyond Russian influence, a 
and that aggression from that quarter was 
not anticipated, but that should the Ameer 
be attacked from without, material aid would 
be given to him if he abstained from aggres- 
sion and followed the advice of the British 
Government. 

The origin of this the Simla Conference 
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seems curious. Lord Cranbrook states, that 
the Ameer desired the conference in order to 
obtain assurances of protection against Russia, 
who was pushing on towards his frontier. 
But it is asserted by the Liberal side, that it 
was from the British that the proposal for the 
interview came, and that Lord Northbrook 
himself proposed it. 

Now at this time Lord Northbrook was 
aware that the Ameer was in a state of con- 
siderable irritation with England, principally 
on account of the Seistan award, and that 
he was alarmed at the approach of Russia; 
the policy, therefore, of the Viceroy should 
have been to smooth the difficulties and allay 
the causes of irritation which were disturbing 
the friendship between the Ameer and our- 
selves ; for this purpose what specific do we 
find the viceroy had at his disposition ? As 
to Russian advances, he was prepared to say 
that the communications which had passed 
between Russia and England, led the latter 
to the decided conclusion that Russia had no 
views adverse to Afghanistan. Such expla- 
nations contained nothing of solid value to 
the Ameer of Afghanistan, and beyond this 
he obtained nothing more than that which he 
had received already from Lord Mayo, and 



it is clear from his reported opinions, that he 
did not coincide with the British Government 
in its belief of the value of the Russian ex- 
planations, and in this he was without doubt 
right ; for recently published papers have 
conclusively proved that Russia considered 
Afghanistan very much within the sphere of 
her operations as soon as she desired to affect 
the policy of England, for it is clear that the 
object of sending General Stolietoff to Cabul 
in 1878, was to make the Ameer either a 
friend or a foe to Russia. 

Under these circumstances, then, surely 
Lord Northbrook was scarcely wise in pro- 
posing the conference, as it has been asserted, 
for if the Ameer was satisfied with his posi- 
tion, what was the use of officious diplomacy 
which was contrary to the inactivity policy ; 
and it was scarcely necessary to have a 
special conference in order to find out if the 
Ameer was willing to receive British officers 
to examine his frontier, for this was the 
object sought to be obtained by us in the 
conference. There is no doubt as to the 
result of the conference; it was, that Noor 
Mahomed, the Ameer's envoy, went back 
much more dissatisfied than he had been 
previous to the conference, and that the 



Ameer grew colder to us after his return. 
For it had been made perfectly clear to Noor 
Mahomed that we desired to have British 
agents in Afghanistan, and also to hold our- 
selves free from any but very vague promises 
of assistance to the Ameer. 

The Ameer stated at this time, through his 
agent, that he foresaw that the Russians would 
advance and demand some portion of his ter- 
ritory, which for the sake of peace we should 
agree to their taking. And in saying this he 
was only echoing the common opinion in 
Europe at the time. Holding this opinion, 
the Ameer came to look upon us almost with 
contempt, for he considered we should never 
be a valuable ally to him, as he held that, for 
the sake of peace, we should give way to any- 
thing so long as it did not actually affect our- 
selves ; this was the key-note of all his 
subsequent proceedings, hence the exertions 
he made to form a powerful army, and the 
large expenditure which he sanctioned for the 
purpose of manufacturing and collecting war 
material, and building fortifications at Sherpur. 
No doubt he remembered the destruction of 
the British army in the 1838-42 war, and he 
considered that, with the large force he was 
gathering round him, he would be able to act 



independently of England, and even to hold 
his own against her in war. Hence it was 
that his language became " anything but satis- 
factory " after the conference, and his actions 
became more and more unfriendly, until the 
final insult to our Envoy in the Khyber Pass 

Thus  threatened by Russian advances, 
doubtful of the assistance he would receive 
from England, and thinking himself able with 
impunity to defy her, he  naturally made his 
terms with Russia. 

This view is in conformity with the Ameer's 
other actions, with his refusal to allow two 
English officers, who had been travelling, to 
pass through his country on their way to 
India ; with the assertion of Noor Mahomed 
a t  the Peshawur conference in 1877, that, 
" this is the last opportunity for settlement, 
and God only knows the future ;" and finally 
with his reception of the Russian Embassy 
with distinction, and his refusal to allow our 
Embassy to advance. 

Such, then,.was the result of the masterly 
inactivity policy, a policy which degraded u s  
in the eyes of an Oriental king, and conse- 
quently also in the eyes of our own native sub- 
- 

iects in India. A policy which, whatever it 
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may be called, cannot be considered kind to the 
Ameer, as it led him into a war which de- 
stroyed his power ; or  wise for ourselves, as it 
not only lost us great influence, but it cost us 
the large expense of the late Afghan war ; a 
war which viewed by the light of recent events 
and  of the correspondence between the Ameer 
and the Russians, cannot but be considered 
tinder the circumstances wise and politic, 
however much it may be regretted. 

But to return, not 'only was the Ameer dis- 
appointed b y  the answers he  received to his 
appeal for a friendly alliince in this confer- 
ence, but he  was irritated by the decision 
given by General Goldsmith in the Seistan 
boundary question, by which the Ameer 
maintained that his territory was reduced, 
and that the boundary defined was such as 
was likely to occasion him annoyance by gene- 
rating ill-will between himself and his neigh- 
bours, a s  well as causing him considerable 
expense. T h e  Ameer was also annoyed a t  
the government refusing to recognize his heir, 
a t  Lord Northbrook's mediation for Yakoob 
Khan,  a t  our despatch of an Embassy to  one 
of his feudatories direct, and not through him, 
as Suzerain, and finally at our occupation of 
Quetta. There  were also several other 
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minor complaints, such as articles in the 
newspapers, and so forth. 

As to these grievances, it may be briefly 
stated that no doubt the Ameer had been 
carelessly treated in one or more points, but 
there was no real ca.use in the list of his 
complaints for the course he took of turning 
to Russia, particularly as he was aware that 
the new Viceroy, Lord Lytton, was ready 
to listen in a friendly and considerate manner 
to all he had to say, with the view of giving 
such satisfaction to the Ameer as was com- 
patible with the position. Being irritated, 
however, with the British government, the 
Ameer followed the example of Dost Ma- 
homed, and opened a correspondence with 
Russia. Here he was met in quite a different 
spirit from that in which the British govern- 
ment had treated him ; Russian promises, as 
in Burnes' time, were considered satisfactory 
and were believed. Thus in I 876 a deaf ear 
was turned to the friendly offers made by 
Lord Lytton, who had replaced Lord North- 
brook as viceroy. 

Now, there can be no doubt that Shere 
Ali had for some time contemplated a war 
with England as the result of his throwing 
himself into the arms of Russia, and in 
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this case he expected great assistance from 
Russia ; to this end also he by various means 
had attempted to poison the minds of his 
subjects against this country, and had pushed 
on to an extraordinary extent, as already 
stated, the fortifications, and the manufacture 
of guns and ammunition, at Cabul.. 

There  are numerous proofs as to the state 
to which affairs had come. In  June, 1875, 
Lord Northbrook, writing to Lord Salisbury, 
says, " The Ameer's language after the return 
of Noor Mahomed Shah from Simla in 1873, 
was certainly far from satisfactory." Again, a 
sum of ~oo,oooZ., placed to the Ameer's credit 
a t  Peshawur in 1873, by the British govern- 
ment, was allowed by him to remain there, 
and never drawn. Further, he refused to 
allow British officers to pass through his 
territory. I t  was on account of the Ameer 
having thus made up his mind to throw in 
his lot with Russia, that the Peshawur Con- 
ference of 1876 fell through, because we 
could not undertake to give him material 
assistance, and assume the responsibility for 
the Afghan frontier, unless we had an English 
agent in Afghanistan to keep us informed as 
to the state of the country, and of the events 
taking place outside it ; but this preliminary 
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condition the Ameer, with his Russian pro- 
clivities, of course declined, and thus the con- 
ference came to nothing. The Ameer's next 
step was receiving the Russian envoy with 
distinction at Cabul, well knowing that this 
would give umbrage to us, and thereby 
demonstrating that his previous refusals to 
receive our agents arose not from the fear of 
the risk they would run in Afghanistan, but 
from other motives. After reviewing these 
matters, it is difficult to understand that 
which has been stated by many Liberals, 
namely, that it was the change of policy 
which produced the war. Although a great 
deal was both written and spoken at this 
time about the war, yet the general opinion 
in this country was unmistakably in favour 
of the line of policy adopted by the govern- 
ment; and in India it was considered that 
the government had adopted the right policy, 
but that they had gone beyond the bounds 
of leniency, in giving the Ameer an oppor- 
tunity for an apology. Both Russia and the 
Ameer had over and over again declared, 
the former that Afghanistan was without her 
sphere of action, the latter that he would not 
listen to any proposals from Russia. 

~ P P 

Yet in the teeth of these promises the 



Russian embassy was sent, and ostentatiously 
received, and that at a time when there were 
considerable complications in Europe be- 
tween this country and Russia, and when no 
doubt the mission was designed as  a counter 
move against our introduction of I ndian 
troops into Europe. I t  was therefore to no 
purpose that the Russian papers asserted, 
that the mission was a purely friendly mis- 
sion, not designed to set Afghanistan against 
England, and too small to cause any fear to 
the Ameer. 

One  of the arguments of the Liberal party, 
a t  this time, against war with Afghanistan 
was, that if we made war upon any one, we 
ought to make war upon Russia, and not 
upon Afghanistan, for Russia had broken 
faith with us just as much as Afghanistan. 
But a clear answer to this argument is, that 
if it were true that we ought to have gone to 
war with Russia because she had broken 
faith with us, then it is a fact that we ought to 
have been plunged into war. with that power 
many times during the last ten years, and 
notably so during the administration of the 
Liberal government at the time of Russia's 
advance to Khiva. But, the fact of Russia 
having broken her word, does not absolve the 



Ameer from having broken his ; the more so, 
as if he had been steadfast, Russia could not 
have been false. And it was obviously ab- 
surd to go to war with Russia in order to get 
a strong frontier in Afghanistan, our aim being 
not to reduce Russia's power,but to strengthen 
our own. 

Upon hearing of the reception of the 
mission from Russia, when our friendly rela- 
tions with that country wereliable to be broken 
at any moment, and when, had a war with 
Russia broken out, she would have tried to 
weaken our position in India, the Viceroy re- 
quested the Ameer to receive suitably an envoy 
from England,who was going to be despatched 
to him shortly upon important business for the 
mutual benefit of the two governments. T o  
this request the Ameer returned no answer ; 
but when Major Cavagnari and a small party 
advanced beyond our boundary, up the Khy- 
ber Pass to Ali Musjid, in order to ask for 
a safe passage for Sir Neville Chamberlain 
and the mission, he was distinctly told, that if 
the mission advanced it would be opposed by 
force ; and further, Faiz Mohammed Khan 
stated, that Major Cavagnari and his party 
would have been fired upon, but for the per- 
sonal friendship which he himself felt for 



Major Cavagnari ; and althouqh C warned that 
his answer would be held to be the answer 
of the Ameer, he persisted in his direct 
refusal to allow the mission to pass. It ap- 
peared, therefore, that he had received orders 
from Cabul to that effect. This conduct on 
the part of the Ameer could not be passed 
over, and the Viceroy therefore sent a letter 
to him, ~3 oiving him time to make an apology 
before active measures were taken against 
him, at the same time concentrating troops 
upon the lines of advance. 

When one comes to review the situation, 
there can be no doubt that Russia was in- 
triguing in Afghanistan in order to obtain 
her ends in Europe, and intended to harass 
England by making preparations for a con- 
teinplated invasion of India from the north, 
through Afghanistan, and also by advice and 
by the distribution of money, desired to raise 
up  the turbulent hill-tribes, and those spirits 
who, in a large oriental state like India, are 
always ready to make disturbances in order 
that they may themselves profit by the over- 
throw of the existing government. Sir 
Henry Ratvlinson says, '' Had the British 
Conference fallen through in the summer of 
1878, it is almost certain that there would 
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have been a Russian military occupation of 
Afghanistan." How far he is right in the 
conjecture or not, it is impossible to say, but 
without doubt Russia would have striven to 
her utmost to attack us through Afghanistan, 
though it seems somewhat difficult to under- 
stand that she could have done more than 
raise the country against us, and thereby 
influence our position in India. The papers 
taken at Cabul, together with the terms of 
the treaty between the Ameer and Russia, 
which have lately been published, clearly 
show what would have been the result of a 
war with Russia. The following extracts from 
the letter from General Stolietoff to Wazir 
Shah Mahammud Khan, dated 8th October, 
1878, show the advice which was given to 
the Ameer : " The great Emperor is a true 
friend of the Ameer's, and of Afghanistan ; Y 

" Whatever our government advises you, you 
should give ear to it." Then the letter goes 
on : " Now, my kind friend, I inform you 
that the enemy of your famous religion 
(meaning England) wants to make peace 
with you through the Kaiser (Sultan) of 
Turkey. 'herefore you should look to your 
brothers who live on the other side of the 
river (probably meaning the Oxus). If God 



stirs them up, and gives the sword of fight 
into their hands, then go on in the name of 
God (Bismilla), otherwise you should be as 
a serpent ; make peace openly, and in secret 
prepare for war, and when God reveals his 
order to vou, d declare yourself. I t  will 
be well when the envoy of your enemy 
wants to enter the country if you send an 
able emissary, possessing the tongue of a 
serpent and full of deceit, to the enemy's 
country, so that he  may with sweet words 
perplex the enemy's mind, and induce him to 
give up the intention of fighting with you." 

As to  the treaty ; in it, the Russian Go- 
vernment engages to be the perpetual friend 
of the government of the Ameer. To recog- 
nize thk heir that the Ameer should appoint. 
To give assistance to Afghanistan, and to 
repel any enemy that the Ameer may be 
unable to drive out. 

T h e  Ameer engages, not to wage war with 
any foreign power without the  permission of 
the Russian G-overnment. To report what- 
ever goes on in his kingdom to the Russian 
Government. 

T h e  Russian Government will fulfil any 
wishes of the Ameer. Will protect Afghan 
merchants, and will treat with consideration 



AFGHANISTAN. 69 

* any persons sent by the Ameer to learn arts 
and trades in Russia. 

The publication of these papers has shown 
the public the position of affairs which led to 
the late Afghan war ; it is to be hoped, that 
future Viceroys of India will act firmly, as 
Lord Lytton did, and not be deceived by 
" sweet words." 

It may be noticed here, that Russia has 
been gradually creeping up towards Afghan- 
istan, while we have remained stationary, 
relying upon the statement that Afghanistan 
was outside the sphere of Russian action. 

" When the Berlin treaty of January I 3th, 
1879, was signed, the Russian programme 
underwent a considerable modification." 

In  view of the danger involved by Russia's 
contemplated advance into Afghanistan, it was 
considered by the government to be wise, and 
I think it has been abundantly proved that it 
was wise, to take the steps above-mentioned. 
Had we sat down quietly under the slight 
put upon our envoy at the Khyber, our 
prestige in the crowded bazaars of India 
would have been gone, and the Sahib would 
no longer have obtained the respect which 
he now commands, but instead thereof we 
should have heard of frequent cases of sedi- 



tious writing in the native newspapers, and 
sedition breaking out in overt acts in indi- 
vidual cases, for an Oriental cannot under- 
stand a policy of leniency, but considers that 
leniency is a sure sign of weakness or fear. 

I t  was therefore necessary that the impru- 
dent affront offered to this country should be 
atoned for, and to this end Lord Lytton as 
already stated, demanded in an ultimatum 
that a suitable apology should be given, and 
that a British envoy should be received at 
Cabul, Shere Ali being allowed till the 20th 
of November for his answer. But the Ameer 
neglected to send a suitable answer to Lord 
Lytton's letter ; being, doubtless, persuaded to 

- 

adopt this course, partly by his own conceit 
and a mistaken estimate of his own power, 
partly by the advice of his followers, and partly 
by the promises of assistance, and sugges- 
tions of the weakness of England, which were 
urged upon him by the Russian officers in 
his capital, at whose head was General 
S tolietoff. 

The  time given to the Ameer for his 
answer to Lord Lytton's letter having elapsed, 
war was accordingly declared, and on the 20th 
of November, 1878, the forces that had been 
collected on the frontier were put in motion. 
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General Biddulph advanced towards Pishin ; 
General Roberts up the Kuram valley ; and 
Sir Samuel Browne up the Khyber Pass. 
Numerous offers of assistance from the 
Indian native states came on all sides. 

Sir  Samuel Browne was the first to be 
engaged. He had been encamped for some 
time previously a t  Jumrood, which was our 
frontier fortress towards the K hyber Pass, 
from the entrance to which it is situated about 
four miles, being also about ten miles from 
Peshawur. T h e  old Jumrood Castle was in 
a somewhat dilapidated condition, but was 
soon repaired, being composed of but bricks 
and mud, like most of the buildings in India. 
A heliograph was established on the walls, by 
which, communication was kept up with the 
Khyber Pass and Peshawur, and Jumrood 
once more became the important place that it 
has so often been, as the scene of conflicts 
with the Khyberees, or as the position from 
which wars against them have frequently 
been commenced. From Jumrood, Sir  
Samuel Browne, without any loss of time, 
made his preparations for an attack on Ali 
Musjid. 

~ i i  Musjid, or the tomb of Ali, a holy man 
in whose honour a small temple has been 



erected, is a most formidable position in the 
Khyber Pass. The fort, which is composed - 
of rubble and mud, stands upon and crowns a 
rugged, steep, and rocky hill of considerable 
eminence, which is situated like an island in 
the centre of the pass. The foot of this hill, 
on one side, is washed by the river, which is 
never deep, for even in the very narrowest 
part of the pass the highest watermark, left 
by the rains, shows but a depth of six feet. 
The  road up the pass crosses this stream in 
many places, and at Ali Musjid itself the 
rocks on either side rise so precipitously 
that the stream forms the only road up the 
pass. 

These rocky hills, forming the sides of the 
pass, completely surround the hill upon which 
the fort of Ali Musjid is placed, and in fact 
command the fort from several situations ; 
were it not for their commanding positions, 
the situation would be one of very great 
strength, for the hills are exceedingly steep 
and difficult to climb, and being almost desti- 
tute of vegetation in most places, there is but 
little cover to shelter an attacking enemy. 
Still, Ali Musjid is, both from the north and 
the south, a p'osition of considerable strength, - 

and one, which if properly held, would, from 



either side, offer a formidable barrier to an 
advancing enemy. Sir Samuel Browne 
knowing therefore, from the nature of the 
ground, the difficulty of forcing the pass from 
the front, and being also aware of the dread 
that the Afghans have of having their line of 
retreat cut off, ordered Brigadier-Generals 
Macpherson and Tytler to march with two 
small columns by a mountain path to the 
north-east of the pass ; this path after making 
a long circuit through the hills, leads up to 
the crest of a mountain called Rosas, which 
commands Ali Musjid on the east. Sir  
Samuel Browne himself, with the main body, 
started twelve hours later, to  attack the place 
in front. Unfortunately, owing to the non- 
interference policy, which has been so long 
carried on by the Indian Government, we 
had no good maps, or knowledge of the 
country twelve miles from our own frontier, 
and as a result, the march, which had been 
calculated at  twelve hours, took twenty-five, 
so that the troops under Brigadier-Generals1 
Macpherson and Tytler, instead of taking1 
part in the attack on Ali Musjid in the morn- 
ing of the 2znd November, found themselves, 
after marching the whole day, with but little 
food or water, coming down into the pass on 



the north side of Ali Musjid. Here, after 
dispersing the Ameer's troops, they were 
compelled to bivouac in the extreme cold, 
without food or great coats, the few baggage 
animals which they had with them being still 
in the rear, having got delayed in the narrow 
paths through which they had marched. 

Meantime, Sir Samuel Browne, with the 
remainder of his force, had left Jumrood be- 
fore daylight, and, having crowned the 
heights on either side of the road, he had 
advanced his main body up the pass, follow- 
ing, as well as possible, the road built in 
1840 by the celebrated Colonel Mackeson, 
the engineer who earned so much distinction 
during the last Afghan war. I t  was well on 
in the afternoon before the force arrived in 
sight of Ali Musjid. The General then 
advanced a portion of his troops with the 
mountain guns, to take up a position on his 
right, while a small party crossed the river 
to make an attack from the left, the Horse 
Artillery being placed in the bed of the river, 
at a bend, where, partially under cover, the 
guns could fire up into Ali Musjid. The 

!P 
enemy, posted in the fort, and in sungas, 
(rough walls built along the mountain sides) 
kept up a perpetual fire upon our troops from 



their rifles, and also from twenty-five guns 
of various sizes, which we afterwards cap- 
tured. Had their fire been well managed 
much loss must have been sustained, parti- 
cularly among the Horse Artillery, but their 
shells were so badly adjusted that they either 
exploded almost on leaving the guns, or 
never exploded at all, so that our loss was 
very trifling. The fire of our guns appeared 
to make some impression upon the Afghans ; 
and the attack on the left being pushed on, 
the enemy were driven over two ridges of 
most difficult ground by the troops under 
Major Birch. General Sir Samuel Browne, 
however, finding that the force under Major 
Birch was not strong enough without con- 
siderable reinforcements, to take a third 
ridge, crowned with a sunga, which was 
opposed to them, having guns also mounted 
upon it, and, as darkness was approaching, 
ordered the attack to cease, and the troops 
to retire, and bivouac behind the ridge that 
they had captured, not however, unfortu- 
nately, befor2 sixteen of our men had been 
killed, together with two officers, Major Birch 
himself, and Lieutenant Fitzgerald. 

The next morning it was found that the 
Afghans, fearing that their retreat had been 



cut off, had evacuated the place, which was, 
therefore entered without opposition. 

After the capture of Ali Musjid the troops 
advanced by easy stages to Dakka, a place 
situated on the Cabul river, at the extreme 
northern end of the pass. Here they re- 
mained over a fortnight, until it was decided, 
towards the end of December, 1878, to ad- 
vance to Jellalabad, where, during the war 
of 1838-42, as I have already mentioned, 
General Sale defended himself against the 
Afghans, until relieved by General Pollock. 

During the time which elapsed between Ali 
Musjid being taken, and the advance to Jella- 
labad, no serious opposition was offered to the 
force; occasionally small parties were attacked, 
single men and camp followers killed, and 
the pickets attacked at night, or the camp 
fired upon. 

For these attacks, reprisals were taken on 
our side, being expeditions made illto the hills, 
and the villages of the offenders burnt and 
destroyed. 

These expeditions, although they did not 
entirely prevent the recurrence of annoyance 
and outrage on the part of the enemy, were 
yet of great value in giving us a knowledge 
of the country, and in forming convenient 



opportunities for accurate surveys to be 
taken. 

A description of one of these expeditions, 
commanded by Ge~leral Tytler, an energetic 
and thoroughly good officer, whose death 
this year (1880) has been deeply deplored, 
may not be uninteresting. The expedition 
started about the middle of December ; the 
parade fell in, in perfect silence, at twelve 
o'clock at night ; and after marching till about 
seven am. ,  over the ' roughest of roads (the 
way lying principally over the dry bed of a 
river strewn with boulders), just as the day 
was breaking the force reached a hill, on the 
further side of which lay, it was supposed, 
the villages the troops came to attack. 

The column, which had been marching in 
fours, was quickly formed into line, and the 
men, with great caution, were moved to 
crown the ridge of the hill in front, strict orders 
being given that no one should show himself 
on the sky-line. 

The landscape, which had been during the 
whole march lighted up by a beautiful moon, 
now gradually changed its tone of colour as 
the sun rose, and bathed in its first light the 
distant mountains with blue and gold, casting 
long shadows over the plains, until, by de- 



grees, the whole country was bright with 
daylight, except here and there in the val- 
leys, where the mist still hung. Quietly the 
men waited until the mist in front of them 
rolled gradually away. A t  last it is all gone, 
all is discovered ; but what a discovery! there 
is not a soul, not a village, nothing but a few 
empty caves. T h e  force was halted for 
breakfast, which was heartily enjoyed, the 
trouble of having carried it all night being 
little remembered in the enjoyment of eating 
it in the morning. After resting for some 
t ime the  force was again on the move, and a 
short march brought them to a fortified vil- 
lage. Dispositions for attack were quickly 
made, but it very soon appeared that the 
place was deserted ; upon entering, it was 
found to be a square-shaped village, fortified 
with mud and rubble walls, and round 
towers. After the place had been burnt, and 
some of the towers blown up, the force 
returned to camp, where they arrived at  
about six in the  evening, having been on 
the march eighteen hours. Such expeditions 
as  these, have, during the Afghan war, been 
very common ; sometimes the enemy offered 
resistance, but in nearly every case they 
were prepared for the attack, and had escaped 



from the villages, and taken up positions 
from which they could view the proceedings 
in safety, and make arrangements for annoy- 
ing the rear guard when the troops retired. 

Sir Samuel Browne's force having reached 
Jellalabad, remained stationary for sorxe time, 
until it received orders to occupy Gundamuck, 
which place we kept in our possession until 
the conclusion of the treaty with Yakoob 
IC han. 

During this stay at Jellalabad, several ex- 
peditions had been made against the enemy, 
in one of which Brigadier-General Tytler de- 
feated the Shinwaris at Deh Sarrak, and in 
another Brigadier-General Gough defeated 
the IChugianis at Futtehabad, in a brilliant 
action. The stay of the force at Jellalabad 
was marred by an accident which cost us 
more than all the actions fought by the Khyber 
column ; a squadron of the 10th Hussars 
missed the ford while crossing the Cabul 
river at night, the current was strong, the 
horses were swept off their feet, and two 
officers and fifty men mere drowned. 

While the Khyber column had been ad- 
vancing to Jellalabad, General Roberts had 
taken command of the force assembled at 
Thul l .  From that place he advanced, and 



occupied the Kuram fort on the 25th Novem- 
ber, 1878, and from thence pushed on up the 
I<uram valley without opposition until he 
reached Peiwar. 

I t  had been considered by Lord Lytton 
that in all probability the Ameer would at- 
tempt a determined stand against the troops 
advancing from Kuram ; and it had also been 
considered that it would be most important 
that the  enemy should be defeated here, so 
that  the pass of the Shuturgarden might be 
rained, and Cabul threatened from thence. 5 

T h e  result fulfilled the anticipations, for 
on the I s t  December, r 878, General Roberts 
found the enemy, in considerable force, 
strongly posted on the Peiwar Kotal, and im- 
mediately attacked him ; but the Afghans 
fought with so  much determination, and the 

was so  difficult of access, that it was 
found impossible to dislodge the enemy. T h e  
next day, however, the 2nd December, Gene- 
ral Roberts determined to make a turning 
movement, and brought a portion of his force 
in rear of the enemy, while a t  the same time 
h e  made a front and flank attack. T h e  
Afghans were unable to  withstand this de- 
termined and combined attack now made 
upon them, and fled with great loss, leaving 



eighteen guns and much ammunition. Our 
loss was two officers killed, two wounded, 
and fifty men killed and wounded. The 
enemy fled over the Shuturgarden Pass, leav- 
ing the whole country up to, and including 
that pass at General Roberts' command ; be- 
yond this point, however, the General did not 
advance, as the Shuturgarden had been fixed 
as the limit of the operations of his force. 

The Afghans in this battle were com- 
manded by Wali Mohamed Khan, half brother 
to the Ameer Shere Ali ; this man was after- 
wards a claimant for the throne. 

During the movements previous to the de- 
feat of the Afghans at Peiwar Kotal, General 
Roberts found that some of his troops of 
Afghan blood, belonging to the 29th Native 
Infantry, had been communicating with the 
enemy. These men were therefore tried, one 
of them was hanged, and the rest sentenced 
to imprisonment for various terms. 

On the 26th of December, 1878, General 
Roberts issued an address to the chiefs of the 
Kuram, stating that the British Government 
had decided that the Kuram would hence- 
forth be placed under British rule, though 
what form of government would be esta- 
blished, he was unable to state ; but this he 



was able to say, that no Afghan Ameer would 
any longer be permitted to have authority 
over the country. General Roberts' address 
was characterized by firmness and considera- 
tion ; he reminded the Afghan chiefs that 
they would be expected to repress dis- 
order, that their lives and property would be 
respected, and everything done to improve 
the prosperity of the country, but at the same 
time that any injury to the British Govern- 
ment would be severely punished. 

General Roberts then advanced up the 
Khost valley with a portion of his force, and 
although the headmen came in, and he was 
able to obtain supplies, yet he found himself 
shortly afterwards surrounded by the enemy ; 
these he defeated in a short engagement, but 
a detachment left to hold a fortified position, 
was surrounded as soon as General Roberts 
retired, and he was therefore compelled to re- 
turn and relieve the detachment. Finding that 
the force at his disposition was not sufficient 
to hold the Khost country, General Roberts 
abandoned it. 

W e  will now retrace our steps and view the 
proceedings of the third column, which was 
acting against Candahar. When the concen- 
tration of troops was made all along the fron- 



tier, in consequence of the hostile attitude of 
the Ameer, General Biddulph was ordered to 
take command of the force assembled at  
Quetta. * 

Quetta, a place which we had obtained by 
treaty with the Belooch tribes, was at that 
time our foremost station on the road to Can- 
dahar. I t  will be remembered that during 
the last Afghan war we considered that the 
Khan of Khelat had not acted properly 
towards us, and, under the conception that the 
frequent attacks made upon our communica- 
tions had been due to the treachery of the 
Khan, we despatched a force against him in 
the latter part of 1839. 

This force, under General Wiltshire, took 
Khelat after a somewhat severe resistance, in 
which the Khan himself was killed. We 
then raised a Khan of our own into power, 
and since that time the steady good work 
rendered by our political officers on the fron- 
tier, foremost amonqst C whom, were Major 
Sandeman and Major Jacob, has resulted in 
a treaty, which, while preventing much of the 
internecine strife that had been going on 
among the Belooch chiefs, since the death of 
the old Khan at the taking of I-Chelat, has 
also resulted in a promise by which the Khan 
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and Sirdars engage to keep open the trade 
routes, and to keep the peace; it has also 
been arranged that we should maintain some 
troops at Quetta, as our foremost station, and 
also have an English agent there. 

The  position thus gained, with but little 
expenditure of blood or treasure, has proved 
of great value in the present war, for we were 
able to transport our troops, free from attack, 
over a dificult desert country, and concentrate 
them in a position from which to strike at 
one of the most important cities of Afghan- 
istan. The  march of the troops, for con-. 
centration at Quetta, began on the 23rd of 
September. I n  this march considerable 
difficulty was experienced in crossing the 
desert, before reaching Quetta, the labour 
of both men and animals being greatly 
increased by the heat, which rendered it 
necessary to march at night, and by the 
softness of the ground for a considerable 

.- 

distance, which causing the wheels of the 
guns to sink, occasioned frequent halts, and 
oreat exertion on the part of both men and 5 - 

cattle ; still, the tribes and the chiefs in the 
neighbourhood were peaceable, and even 
friendly, and thus on the 9th of November, 
I 878, the force reached Quetta. 



From Quetta, General Biddulph made re- 
cognizance~ in the direction of Candahar, 
moving by slow degrees, reconnoitring, and 
surveying, until the Khojak Pass was reached. 
Here considerable difficulty arose on account 
of the roads being mere paths, totally unfit for 
wheeled vehicles ; however, by great exer- 
tions the guns were dragged up the steep 
ascents, and in one place a ramp was con- 
structed, down which they were lowered. 
Thus by degrees the pass was at last 
crossed. 

While the force under General Biddulph 
was engaged in passing the Khojak, General 
Stewart arrived and took command of the 
whole column. A proper road has now been 
made over this pass, but the wear and tear for 
animals and waggons over both this and the 
Bolan is still very great. The important but 
small district of Sibi had been already occu- 
pied by our troops, in order to secure our com- 
munications ; and as the district of Peshin was 
found to have been evacuated by the enemy, 
it was likewise occupied. A force was also 
sent soon afterwards to Kelat-i-Ghilzie, and 
a garrison placed in the fort. 

Almost the first action with this column, 
took place on the 5th January, when Colonel 
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Icennedy attacked some Afghan cavalry, and 
drove them before him ; in their retreat they 
were fallen upon by Major Luck and a 
squadron of I 5 th Hussars, several were 
killed, a few taken prisoners, and the rest 
dispersed. On the 8th January, 1879, the 
force under General Stewart entered Can- 
dahar without any further opposition. 

Some of the tribes on the line of route 
attacked the posts left to preserve our com- 
munications, but, these were easily dealt 
with, and shortly brought into good order. 
Jellalabad, as I have said, had already before 
this been occupied by the troops under Sir 
Samuel Browne. Thus  Candahar and Jella- 
labad, two of the principal cities of Afghanis- 
tan, were in our possession ; in both, the 
people maintained an attitude of indifference, 
but the traders and peaceful inhabitants were 
not displeased at our arrival. 

After a short rest at Candahar, General 
Stewart's force advanced towards the Hel- 
mand, ramps being constructed to facilitate 
the fording of the Argandab, and on the 23rd 
of January Atta Karez was reached. During 
the forward march, the country surrounding 
the Argandab and Dori rivers, as well as 
that part called the Doab, was surveyed. 



From Atta Karez the  force pushed on to 
Girishk, an important position on the other 
side of the Helmand;  the fort here was 
repaired and garrisoned, and an advanced 
guard pushed on orer  the plain. T h e  ford 
of the Heimand a t  Girishk was found to be 
between three and four feet deep, with a 
strong current ; hawsers were therefore 
stretched from bank to bank, and upon these 
a ferry was constructed which proved very 
useful. Frequent reconnaissances were made 
in all directions until the 23rd of February, 
when, according to the scheme for withdraw- 
ing troops from Afghanistan, the force retired 
upon Candahar. 

In  order to effect the retirement, it had 
been arranged that Colonel M alcolmson 
should watch the fords from Zamindawar, 
where an attack had for some time been 
threatened, forming, when he retired, a rear 
guard to the column. O n  the 26th, when a t  
Kushk-i- Nakhud, Malcolmson was suddenly 
attacked by the enemy ; they were, however, 
beaten off with the loss of I 50 men. Early 
in March the force left Candahar, and retired 
via Balozai, to the Hori valley, and the T a l  
Chotiali valley, that is, by the country north- 
east, and east of Quetta. 



During this retirement the column com- 
manded by Major Keen was attacked in the 
Smallan valley, but the enemy was beaten 
off with considerable loss. This  was the 
only attack made upon the force during its 
march to the Indus. 

The war appeared virtually over, the Ameer 
had fled to Balkh, in the extreme north of 
Afghanistan, and it was here that he  stated his 
intention of laying his case a t  St .  Petersburg 
before the European powers. T h e  Czar, how- 
ever, declined to intervene in the  affairs of 
Afghanistan, and the Ameer remained a t  
Nazir-i-Sharif until he  died, on the 2 1st 
January, 1879. T h e  Russian mission had 
left Cabul for Balkh before the Ameer. 

Yakoob Khan the Ameer's son, having 
assumed the reins of government a t  Cabul, 
had been induced to  come into the British 
camp after it had been advanced to Gunda- 
muck;  there a treaty was signed on the 
26th of May, 1879, by him and Sir Louis 
Cavagnari, making over to  England, what 
is now called the scientific frontier. T h e  
articles of the treaty set forth ; 

Tha t  peace shall subsist between the ruler 
of Afghanistan and the British Government. 

Tha t  the Ameer shall grant full amnesty 



to his subjects, protecting them from all 
punishment on account of their intercourse 
with the British forces. 

That the Ameer's relations with foreign 
states shall be conducted in accordance with 
the advice and wishes of the British Govern- 
ment, and he shall not take up arms against 
any foreign state without the concurrence of 
the British Government. On these conditions 
the British Government will support the 
Ameer against foreign aggression, with 
money, arms, and troops, as it may judge 
best. 

I f  British troops should enter Afghanistan 
to support the Ameer against foreign aggres- 
sion, they shall return as soon as they have 
repelled such foreign aggression. 

That a British resident shall reside at 
Cabul, and that the British Government 
shall have the right to depute British agents 
to the Afghan frontier. 

That the Ameer guarantees the safety of 
British agents within his jurisdiction. 

That the Ameer will offer no impediment 
to British subjects peacefully trading within 
his dominions. 

That he will use his best endeavours to 
ensure the protection of traders, and to facili- 



tate the transit of goods along the well- 
known customary roads of Afghanistan. 

The  improvement and maintenance of 
these roads, together with the duties to be 
levied upon goods carried over them, to be 
the subject of arrangement between the two 
~overnments. 3 

That a line of telegraph be constructed by 
the British Government, and protected by 
the Ameer, between the Kuram and Cabul. 

That the British Government restores to 
the Ameer the towns of Candahar and 
Jellalabad, with all the territory now in 
pos,session of the British armies, excepting 
the districts of Kuram, Peshin, and Sibi, 
these districts to be treated as assigned 
districts, and not as permanently severed 
from the Afghan kingdom, and their revenues, 
after deducting the charges of civil adminis- 
tration, are to be paid to the Ameer. 

The British Government will retain in its 
own hands the Khyber and Michin passes, 
and all relations with the independent tribes 
of the territory directly connected with these 
passes. 

That the British Government agree to pay 
the Ameer an annual subsidy of six Iakhs of 
rupees, in order to assist him to maintain 



AFGHANISTAN: 91 

his authority. (A lakh is equal to about 
I 0,000z.) 

After signing the treaty the Ameer re- 
turned to Cabul, it having been arranged that 
Sir Louis Cavagnari and a smallaescort should 
join him at the capital shortly afterwards. 

I t  will be observed that by this treaty 
we were to hold the Khyber Pass, which 
is the recognized route to Cabul, being open 
at all times of the year. 

The Kuram, which is the shortest route 
to Cabul, being only five marches from that 
place ; this route, which is however closed 
in the winter, was by the treaty only assigned 
to us temporarily, but as the inhabitants are 
opposed to the' Afghans both in religion and 
nationality, they would probably be our good 
friends. 

The third route by the Pishin valley, we 
were to hold on the same terms as the Kuram, 
and to retire from Candahar ; Quetta, and the 
Bolan Pass, being left in the hands of the 
Khan of Kelat. 

The inhabitants of the Pishin valley are 
chiefly agriculturists, who are inclined to 
our rule, though unfortunately much of the 
country round is inhabited by wild tribes, 
who would probably give us some little 



trouble a t  first. I t  was suggested that we 
should assist Persia to take Herat,  but this 
plan, which has not much to be said in its 
favour, is not now likely to be put into 
execution. 

During this war, which cannot but be 
taken to have terminated thus far success- 
fully, we had met with but little opposition 
from the enemy, who evidently did not like 
meeting us in the open field, or  even 
opposing us from strong and chosen positions. 
Our  chief difficulty had been in transport, yet 
great credit is, I think, due to the Commis- 
sariat, for there were always sufficient sup- 
plies of food for the troops, though no doubt 
great loss and expense was occasioned 
amongst the transport animals by their being 
ill-fed, over worked, and badly loaded ; yet 
nowhere were heard those complaints which 
in the Crimean war, Punch so fitly described 
in the sentence, T h a t  one man's preserved 
meat was another man's poison." l 

The treaty having been settled, there ap- 
peared to be no further occasion for the troops 

l Sir Richard Temple has estimated that tlie loss of 
camels from the comtnencement of the war in 1878 to 
towards the end of 1880, amounted to 40,000, and this 
chiefly through want of proper transport organization. 



to remain in Afghanistan; they were there- 
fore withdrawn from all places except those 
that it was considered advisable to occupy in 
order to protect our new frontier. This 
withdrawal of the troops was, unfortunately, 
not effected without great loss, on account of 
the unhealthiness of the passes, and particu- 
larly of the Khyber, during the hot summer. 

On July 24th Major Cavagnari and .his 
escort, consisting of Mr. Jenkins of the Punjab 
Civil Service, Dr. Kelly, and Lieutenant 
Hamilton of the Guides, with twenty-six 
troopers and fifty infantry of the Guides, 
entered Cabul. 

On the journey to Cabul both Sir L. Cavag- 
nari and General Roberts expressed their 
satisfaction at the arrangements the Ameer 
had made in their honour, and Cavagnari de- 
scribes his reception at Cabul, on 24th July, 
as, " most brilliant." 

From Cabul Cavagnari reported on August 
the 3rd, that six Afghan regiments of infantry 
had arrived from Herat. 

Letters from Herat, in May, had described 
that city as in a state of confusion, the mer- 
chants having buried their goods and closed 
their shops on account of the unsettled state 
of the government ; and now the roads also 



in many parts of the country were unsafe. 
On August the 6th, Cavagnari received alarm- 
ing reports as  to the insubordination of the 
regiments from Herat,  and on August q t h ,  
Cavagnari reports want of conciliation in the 
bearing of the Ameer towards his chiefs ; b;t 
all went well until September grd, when three 
regiments broke out in mutiny and attacked 
the Residency ; after a considerable struggle, 
in which great loss was inflicted upon the 
enemy, the Residency was set on fire, and 
Sir  Louis Cavagnari and his escort were 
killed almost to  a man. 

I t  appears, that on the 3rd of September 
three regiments assembled without arms for 
their pay ; some dispute arose on account of 
arrears, which they claimed, but which were 
not granted to them ; this seemed to have 
aroused a spirit of mutiny, which turned to 
vent its fury upon the  Ameer and the British 
embassy, lighting up the discontent which 
had been produced by various and numerous 
reforms not taking place, as was expected, on 
the arrival in Cabul of the British envoy. 

T h e  mutineers commenced by throwing 
stones a t  the Residency, the Afghan Com- 
mander-in-Chief Daud Shah Khan, and the 
Ameer's quarters. The British troops seem 



to have closed the Residency doors and com- 
menced preparations for attack, the mutineers 
ran for their arms, and forthwith a regular 
attack was made upon the Residency ; Sir 
Louis Cavagnari was wounded by a bullet, 
and shortly afterwards killed by the falling of 
part of the house ; the Residency was set on 
fire ; several charges were made by the little 
garrison, headed by Lieutenant Hamilton, 
Mr. Jenkyns, and Dr. Kelly. Both natives 
and Europeans fought most bravely, until at 
last, all being either killed or wounded, re- 
sistance was at an end, not however before 
great loss had been inflicted on the enemy, 
who are said to have lost about 400 men. 
The attack had lasted from eight in the 
morning till the evening. In their expecta- 
tions of plunder the Afghans were greatly 
disappointed, for the Residency being burnt, 
all in it was destroyed, except some coin, 
which the Ameer seized a few days after the 
attack. 

There seems to be no doubt that the 
attack, though not premeditated, had been 
hinted at before, and that the position of the 
members of the embassy was not by any 
means a safe one, the turbulent spirits being 
ready to attack them at any moment, the 



Ameer not being able to defend them, and 
himself a doubtful friend. The  Residency, 
situated in the Balla Hissar, was incapable 
of a protracted defence, and was not properly 
supplied with water. 

That the Ameer promoted the attack 
seems improbable, but that he might have 
done more to suppress it is almost certain ; 
the only efforts he seems to have made in 
this direction were by sending Daud Shah 
Khan to reason with the mutineers, and bv d 

sending Yahya Khan with a Koran, and also 
some Syuds and Mullahs. These, however, 
had no effect upon the mutineers, Daud Shah 
in fact being beaten, and severely wounded 
by them. 

Sir Louis Cavagnari seems to have dis- 
regarded the warnings of danger which were 
from time to time conveyed to him; his 
plucky answers being, " Dogs that bark don't 
bite," and, I f  we four were killed, the 
British Government would lose little, as 
there are plenty of other officers to take our 

9 ,  places. 
In Major Cavagnari's small head, and sharp 

eyes, everlastir~gly concealed by spectacles, 
there lay a keen intellect, supported by a 
sanguine and ardent temperament, which, 



backed bp great courage, and a very con- 
siderable knowledge of the border tribes, 
rendered him one, particularly open to enter- 
prises of danger, and ready at all times, 
without regarding the risks, to go with a 
small force, to any part of the country. 
Major Cavagnari received, at various times, 
much applause for the able way in which he 
carried out his duty, and Lord Lytton has 
testified his personal friendship for Sir Louis 
Cavagnari, and the high appreciation which 
was on all sides felt for the sirrnal C> ability 
with which he conducted the Afghans affairs. 
Yet, viewed by the wisdom derived from 
subsequent events, it appears, that it would 
have been far more prudent to have allowed 
the Ameer time to settle his newly acquired 
power, before valuable lives were risked in 
what has always been a hazardous situation. 
We had obtained the right, by treaty, of 
having an envoy at Cabul, . and therefore 
could always have sent our representative 
whenever we wished ; it was hardly, likely, 
that Major Cavagnari's stay at Cabul would 
increase the power or popularity of the 
Ameer, and, although it was by the Ameer's 
wish, that Major Cavagnari went to Cabul 
in preference to any other part of Afghan- 
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istan, yet there cannot be much doubt that 
the Ameer would have preferred, that, for 
the present, the visit should have been post- 
poned, so that, without appearing to be 
under our tutelage, he might have derived 
power from our prestige. 

As soon as the news of the massacre of 
Major Sir Louis Cavagnari and his escort, 
reached India, energetic measures were at 
once taken to avenge the outrage. 

General Roberts, who was in India on 
account of the army commission, then sitting, 
immediately left for the Kuram. General 
Massey was ordered to reoccupy the Shutur- 
garden Pass, and General Stewart to re- 
occupy Candahar, while at the same time an 
additional force of 6500 men was detailed 
for the Khyber route, under command of 
Brigadier-General C. Gough, his orders being 
to keep open the route from Peshawur to 
Gundamuck, and to provide a movable 
column to hold Jugdulluck, and communicate 
with Cabul. 

The only thing which prevented an imme- 
diate forward movement, was the want of 
transport, which had unfortunately not been 
as carefully kept up as it should have been. 
It  was seen that something must be done to 



put the transport on a more efficient footing, 
and for this purpose a new office was created, 
and Lieutenant-General Sir Michael Ken- 
nedy, R.E:, K.C.S.I., was appointed as 
Comptroller-General of the Commissariat. 

On the 29th of September, General 
Roberts, having recently arrived, and taken 
command of the Kuram force, met the 
Ameer, who had ridden in with a few fol- 
lowers to the camp at Kushi. 

Notice was immediately sent to the dif- 
ferent tribes in Afghanistan, telling them of 
the advance of the troops, and letters were 
sent, by the Ameer, ordering the different 
chiefs to facilitate the movements of the 
columns. 

The opening of this, the second campaign, 
was somewhat similar to that of the first, 
except that the objects were different, for, as 
in the former campaign, the object had been 
to strengthen our position in India, and to 
prevent a dangerous combination from taking 
place outside our territory, and to bring to 
bear sufficient stress upon a neighbour who 
no longer concealed his antipathy to our- 
selves, and had already offered us a gross 
insult. Now, the object of the present 
campaign was, to punish a shameful act of 
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massacre perpetrated upon our countrymen. 
For this purpose, therefore, it was necessary 
that the troops should be sent to Cabul, so 
as to strike at the very scene of the mas- 
sacre. Whereas, in the former campaign, 
which was undertaken simply against the 
ruler, and not against the inhabitants of 
Afghanistan, the object had been, not to ad- 
vance further illto the country than was 
absolutely necessary. 

T o  meet this change in the position, while 
the attack was made on much the same lines 
as before, the orders were very different ; for 
General Roberts, as being nearest to Cabul, 
was ordered to advance there as quiclcly as 
possible ; while, to strengthen our position, 
General Hughes was detached from Can- 
dahar to Kelat-i-Ghilzie ; Candahar itself 
being reoccupied. And General Bright was 
placed in command of the Khyber column, 
which was destined to co-operate with 
General Roberts, and to secure his com- 
munications when the line over the Shutur- 
garden should become impracticable on 
account of the rigours of the winter. The 
country now was in a very unsettled state ; 
the Ameer himself in perplexity ; the people 
inflamed with the idea which had been in- 
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stilled into them, that they would easily 
annihilate the British force, after the manner 
in which they had annihilated Elphinstone's 
army. 

News from Herat arrived, stating the dis- 
turbances which had taken place there. 
Lieutenant Kinloch was murdered on the 
road near Thu l l ;  and the Mangals and 
Ghilzies attacked General Roberts' force, but 
were dispersed with loss. The Kuram 
column advanced as rapidly as possible, and 
on the 6th of October, the reconnoitring 
parties sent out from Char Asiab, reported 
the enemy in force between that place and 
Cabul. 

Here the road and the Logar River run 
through a deep gorge, flanked on either side 
by hills, and here the enemjr, commanded 
by Nek Mohamed, one of Shere Ali's 
brothers, determined to resist the advance of 
the British troops. The enemy's plans seem 
to have been, that while the Afghan soldiers 
and Cabul people held the hills in front of 
General Roberts, and barred his advance 
upon the capital, the Ghilzies should act 
upon the flanks and rear of his force, and 
also should cut off a large convoy that 
General Macpherson was bringing up. The 



positions occupied by the Afghans were very- 
formidable, still in order to prevent the enemy 
from further strengthening these positions, 
General Roberts ordered an immediate 
attack. A small force, under Major White, 
was sent against the enemy, and drove them 
from the main hill ; at the same time General 
Baker made a turning movement, and was 
soon hotly engaged. The advance of .our 
troops was made in a rapid and gallant 
style, that the enemy were unable to with- 
stand, and thus, after a somewhat severe 
fight, they fled in great confusion, leaving 
two standards and twenty guns. The Afghans 
appear to have been surprised at their defeat, 
and particularly were they surprised at the 
rapid advance of the British troops ; as they 
did not seem to have anticipated an advance 
acainst C Cabul until after the approaching 
winter, it was doubtless owing to these 
reasons that the victory was so easily won, 
for the Afghans had not yet been able to 
collect in their full strength, and it was pro- 
bably in view of this, that the Ameer fre- 
quently advised delay on the part of General 
Roberts, being himself, no doubt, in receipt 
of communications from the enemy. On 
the 7th of October, General Roberts had 



advanced to within two miles of Cabul ; here, 
learning that the enemy was in position be- 
hind the Balla Hissar, arrangements were 
made both to attack the Afghans, and to cut 
off their line of retreat ; during the night of 
the 8th, however, the enemy dispersed, leav- 
ing in their position twelve guns, and in the 
Sherpur cantonment seventy-eight guns. 

T h e  cavalry, under General Massey, and 
General H ugh Gough, were despatched after 

- 

the retreating enemy, but so  completely had 
they dispersed that only small parties were 
found together. 

On  the 12th October, General Roberts 
visited the Balla Hissar, and on the I 3th, 
the troops made a public entry into Cabul, 
without encountering any opposition. T h e  
Ameer excused himself from entering the 
city with the troops, on the plea of indis- 
position. 

A large quantity of ammunition, guns, and 
treasure, was found a t  the Balla Hissar, but 
the only remains of the Residency were a 
few burnt walls. Search was made for the 
bodiesof Major Cavagnari and his companions, 
but without success. 

Between the 13th and the 20th of October, 
the positions a t  Ali Khel and Shuturgarden 



were severely attacked, and the Shutur- 
~ a r d e n  was at one time very hardly pressed ; h 

but General Gough came to its assistance, 
and the enemy were dispersed ; also at Ali 
Khel the enemy came on with great persis- 
tence, but were driven back, and a counter- 
attack was made upon them with complete 
success, by Brigadier-General Gordon. Thus 
far all had gone well ; the Khyber column 
reached Jellalabad on the loth of October, 
and effected its junction with the Cabul force 
on November 4th. The only fear General 
Roberts seems to have had, was as regards 
supplies ; the enemy taken by surprise at the 
rapidity of our movements, had offered but a 
small resistance, not having had time to con- 
centrate in full force. 

The Ameer appeared unnerved by his 
troubles, and of his own accord abdicated the 
throne ; General Roberts remaining some- 
what doubtful as to whether or no he had 
instigated the attack on the Residency, and 
observing, that the Ameer in his present de- 
pressed state was quite unfit for the duties of 
governing the country, consented after a time 
to accept his abdication ; and thereupon 
General Roberts issued a proclamation calling 
upon the Afghan authorities, chiefs, and 
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sirdars, to continue to exercise their different 
functions, and stating that he himself would 
hold supreme control over the affairs of the 
kingdom, until the British Government should 
decide upon its course of action ; also stating 
that he had taken over the treasury. 

Previous to this, General Koberts had 
issued a proclamation creating martial law 
in, and for ten miles round Cabul, and calling 
for all things taken from the Residency, to be 
brought in, and offering rewards for the de- 
tection of the authors of the massacre ; and 
also for the detection of those who had 
resisted the British army with the Ameer, 
since the 3rd September, as by fighting 
against their Ameer they had proved them- 
selves to be rebels ; also forbidding the 
carrying of arms by all persons, and stating 
that a fine would be imposed on the city, and 
that a part would be levelled to the ground. 
as a punishment for the dastardly attack on 
the Residency. 

small force was placed in the Balla 
Hissar, and the rest were encamped outside. 
Of the men in the Balla Hissar, about twenty 
were killed, together with Captain Shafto, on 
October I 7th, by an explosion of powder with 
which the place was largely stored. Whether 



the powder had been fired designedly, or by 
accident, seems very doubtful, but that the 
explosion was the result of accident seems 
most probable, as the powder was lying about 
in all directions. 

Two commissions were now ordered to sit ; 
one for the trial of offenders as set down in 
the proclamation ; and the other, to inquire 
into the details of the massacre ; under these 
commissions General Saifridin, the Kotwal, 
and several others were tried and executed. 
Several small actions took place in various 
places, in one near Kelat-i-Ghilzie, Sahib Jan, 
a notorious freebooter, was routed and him- 
self slain ; the Shuturgarden was frequently 
threatened, but attacks were always beaten 
off, and on the 29th October that route was 
closed, the force being withdrawn on account 
of the approaching winter. Communications 
were shortly afterwards opened, and kept up 
by the Latabund route, to Jellalabad and 
Peshawur. 

Later on, that part of General Roberts' 
proclamation which offered rewards for the 
detection of those who had fought against the 
British troops from September 3rd, was re- 
scinded, and free and complete amnesty 
offered to such persons, provided that they 



should give up their arms, and return to their 
homes. Nearly 7000 rifles and guns were 
shortly afterwards brought in, as the result of 
the various proclamations, and up to Novem- 
ber r g th, seventy-eight persons were executed 
in all. Ghuzni and Herat were just now in 
a very disturbed state ; Ayoob Khan at the 
latter, and Mullah Mushk-i-Alam at the 
former, were the principal persons who 
desired to stir up sedition and war against us. 
The result of the teaching, and religious 
reputation of the Mullah was such, that the 
enemy began to collect in large numbers, and 
so great was the gathering, that it astonished 
both General Roberts and all the native 
chiefs in his camp, none of whom seem to 
have expected so great a rising. 

On the first open sign of resistance, General 
Baker was ordered to march to Maidan, one 
of the headmen in that district, Bahadur 
Khan, not having come in when ordered, and 
a small body of troops which were sent on 
November 26th to fetch him, having been 
fired at from his fort, the next day a sliffi- 
ciently strong force was sent to take the fort, 
but it was found that the people had fled ; 
the place was therefore destroyed. This was 
but the commencement of the storm ; news 



now kept coming in continually, showing that 
on every side of General Roberts the country 
was becoming more and more disturbed, and 
attacks were now made on our friends, and 
on small parties of our troops. 

As the enemy appeared likely to fight in 
force, and as it was known that they were 
coming from different parts of the country in 
order to bring their united strength against 
us, it was decided, if possible, to intercept the 
different parties before they were able to 
unite. In order therefore to prevent this 
junction of their forces, General Baker was 
despatched by the Chardeh route to get in 
rear of the enemy from Ghuzni, while General 
Macpherson marched to the Argundeh to 
meet the enemy, drive them back upon 
Baker, and prevent their junction with the 
Kohistanis. 

On the I oth, General Macpherson attacked, 
not the Ghuzni forces, as he had intended, 
but those from Kohistan ; these he defeated, 
and proceeded the next day to advance on 
the Ghuzni road, where General Massey was 
ordered to join him. General Massey with 
the cavalry and artillery, pushed on through 
the valley to join Macpherson, but advancing 
without sufficient care, found himself in a 
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difficult country, much cut up with water- 
courses, with ~o,ooo of the enemy in front of 
him. His cavalry made an ineffectual charge, 
in which they lost heavily, and Massey was 
compelled to retreat, leaving four guns ; these 
were, however, shortly afterwards recovered 
by Colonel Macgregor and General Koberts. 

The  enemy now attempted to force their 
way into the camp at Sherpur, but here they 
were kept in check by two companies of the 
92nd Highlanders. 

On the I ath of December, attacks were 
made in order to dislodge the enemy from the 
hills ; but though successes were gained in 
one part, they were lost in another, the 
Afghans being in great strength, fighting very 
courageously, and being well led. Under 
these circumstances General Roberts with- 
drew into his camp at Sherpur, the enemy 
obtaining possession of Cabul, and of a great 
deal of treasure and powder which had unfor- 
tunately not been taken away or destroyed. 
The  camp at Sherpur was pitched in a forti- 
fied position constructed by Shere Ali, and 
which consisted of a rectangular parallelogram 
over 2500 yards long, by 1000 yards broad. 
Thesouthern side of this parallelogram, facing 
Cabul, was formed of a long range of barracks, 



with a parapet and banquette above them, 
outside of which was a dry ditch, and a mud 
wall sixteen feet high, divided and protected 
by bastions. 

T h e  northern side of the parallelogram 
was formed by the Behmeru hills, a small 
range rising in an isolated position on the 
Cabul plain. I t  had been Shere Ali's in- 
tention to carry the fortifications entirely 
round these hills, but the design had never 
been completed. In  the centre of the 
Behmeru hills there is a gorge, which formed 
an  exit from the Sherpur encampment, and 
was protected by block-houses. T h e  ends of 
the parallelogram were defended in a similar 
manner to the southern face, but the fortifi- 
cations were somewhat weaker. General 
Roberts, having, withdrawn into Sherpur, 
commenced repairing the fortifications, until 
the morning of the 23rd of December, when 
the enemy, a t  a concerted signal, commenced 
their attack upon the camp, under the leader- 
ship of Mahomed Jan, who stated that he was 
acting for the young Musa Khan, the heir of 
the deposed Ameer. 

About six in the morning of the ~ 3 r d  of 
December, the enemy's signal-fire was l i g h ~ d ,  
and shortly afterwards, a feint was made upon 



the south-west angle of the camp ; this, how- 
ever, came to nothing, and the main attack 
was developed on the north-east angle near 
the Behmeru village. For a short time this 
attack was made in great force, and with 
much determination, the firing being particu- 
larly hot, and being replied to with some care 
on our part, owing to a deficiency of ammuni- 
tion. However, the enemy failing to make 
much impression upon the place, his attack 
began to grow feebler ; this apparent feeble- 
ness was taken advantage of by General 
Roberts, who thereupon made a counter at- 
tack, and sending out the cavalry in consider- 
able force, was completely successful, cutting 
up a great number of retreating Afghans. 
This attack upon Sherpur was the last real 
stand the enemy made, and General Roberts 
again became master of Cabul. 

The Afghans had, during their occupation 
of the city, committed great excesses, and 
plundered the Balla Hissar. The crisis was 
over, but it had bee11 very severe ; it was es- 
timated that at one time 30,000 men were 
arrayed against us, and such was the deter- 
mination of the enemy, that General Roberts 
was obliged to draw in all the small posts on 
the line of communication, and to call for 



General Gough and a large force to come to 
his assistance, while the Government of India 
deemed it necessary to obtain a regiment from 
the Cape, as well as to delay the return to 
England of those regiments who would have 
embarked for this country as soon as their 
places were filled by the annual reliefs. 

While General Roberts was fighting hard 
for his position at Cabul, the country both 
about Candahar, and Jellalabad was quiet, the 
people about Candahar being more disturbed 
by the rumours of our abandonment of the 
country, than by the news of the heavy com- 
bination against us at Cabul. 

Unfortunately these attacks on Roberts' 
force were not the only way in which the 
widespread coalition against us showed itself, 
for on December 23rd, Jugdulluck Kotal was 
attacked ; on the 24th General Norman 
was attacked ; and on the 29th Gundamucl; 
was attacked, Asmatulla Khan being the leader 
against us in this last with 2 0 0 0  Ghilzies of 
the Lughman valley ; but in all these attacks 
the enemy were beaten off with loss. Mean- 
while Yakoob Khan the Ameer, Yahya, Za- 
karia Khan, and Waiir, were sent to India as 
prisoners pending the result of the investiga- 
tions concerning the massacre, as it was con- 



sidered that their being sent out of the country 
would strengthen our position, because from 
their power, high rank, and suspected hostility, 
they were likely to  prove dangerous enemies. 

In  March, 1880, General Roberts having 
been now a long time fully in possession of 
Cabul, it was considered wise in order to  pre- 
vent any further disturbance, to disperse the 
large number of the  disaffected who had col- 
lected a t  Ghuzni. F o r  this purpose General 
Stewart was ordel-ed to advance from Canda- 
har upon that place. T h e  first brigade left 
Candahar on the 29th of March, the others 
shortly afterwards following. O n  the  6th 
Kelat-i-Ghilzie was reached, and a detachment 
of troops, who had held this place during the  
winter, were picked u p  ; the force then ad-  
vanced with but little molestation until the  
19th of April, having now covered a distance 
of about 240 miles. About five a.m. on that 
day the march began. I t  was expected that 
the enemy would shortly make a stand, they 
having been seen in large numbers the pre- 
ceding evening. About 7.30 a.". a large 
gathering of Afghans was found, posted in a 
position a few miles in advance of our troops, 
and dispositions were immediately made, by 
General Stewart, to attack them. A t  nine 
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o'clock the enemy showed in a thick line oc- 
cupying a position nearly two miles in length, 
with a body of horsemen posted on his right, 
to  act against our left flank. 

General Stewart says in his despatch (our 
troops having been formed in line) : " T h e  
auns had scarcely opened fire, when, in an in- b 

credibly short space of time, an enormous mass 
of men, with standards, formed on the hill top, a 
considerable number of horsemen riding along 
the ridge with the intention of sweeping along 
our line to attack the baggage. From the 
central mass out rushed successive waves of 
swordsmen on foot, stretching out right and 
left, and seeming to develope the position. 
T h e  horsemen turned the left, now strength- 
ened by a squadron of the 19th Bengal Lan- 
cers, and pouring down two ravines, which 
formed a V, struck the Lancers before they 
could charge, forcing the leading squadron to 
its right and rear ; while the 3rd Goorkha re- 
giment, the infantry of the left, formed rally- 
ing squares." 

" T h e  situation during this temporary suc- 
cess of the enemy was rendered critical, as  the 
squadron could not be rallied until it had 
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passed to the right of the line of infantry, then 
hotly pressed and giving way. P, 



" The onslaught of fanatic swordsmen was 
a t  this time so rapid, and was pushed with 
such desperation that during the few minutes 
that followed, it became necessary to place 
every man of the reserve in the firing line "- 
" the two Sapper companies with half a bat- 
talion of the 19th Punjab Native Infantry re- 
inforcing the left, while a half-battalion of the 
19th Punjab Native Infantry, with the two 
companies serving on the Lieutenant-General's 
escort supported the guns on the left. T h e  
enemy, however, continued to push on, and 
approached within a few yards of the guns, 
when the whole of their case-shot being 
expended, both batteries were withdrawn a 
distance of 2 0 0  yards. T h e  gallantry with 
which the batteries maintained their ground 
till the last moment, and the orderly manner 
in which the retirement was effected, reflected 
the greatest credit on officers and men." 

" At  this time the infantry of the right was 
forced back, and a fresh position was taken 
up, two guns of the G 4th Royal Artillery 
being detached to the left centre, whither the 
remainder of the battery was subsequently 
moved." 

" Some well-directed shells from the 
40-pounder guns, with No. 6-11th Royal 
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Artillery, checked the forward movement of 
the enemy's horsemen round our left flank." 

" The fighting lasted for one hour, during 
which the troops under Brigadier-General 
Barter had come up and reinforced the right 
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centre." At ten o'clock the enemy was com- 
pletely defeated, and spread over the country, 
their loss being estimated at between 2 0 0 0  

and 3000 men, our loss being seventeen killed 
and I 24 wounded. The enemy's force was 
roughly estimated at I 3,000 men, while ours 
consisted of about 2650, and twelve guns. 
The enemy would have been further destroyed 
had it not been necessary, in the opinion of 
the General, to reserve the cavalry to protect 
the baggaqe. C- 

The next day Ghuzni was entered without 
opposition. This fight showed the power of 
the Afghans, for in spite of the steadiness of 
our troops, and the efficient way in which our 
guns were served, the enemy, both on the 
left and on the right of our position, pene- 
trated our line. On the left, the Afghan 
horse came suddenly upon the 19th Bengal 
Lancers, forced them back, and galloped 
through our infantry, who formed rallying 
squares, while on the right also the Ghazis, 
some on horseback, and some on foot, got 



within our line, which had consequently to  
be  thrown back. 

When  the force arrived a t  Ghuzni, they 
found the fortifications of the city to be  much 
less formidable than they had been led to 
expect, many parts of them beinq C- comnlanded 
by the hills around. 

A few days after General Stewart reached 
Ghuzni, information was brought in, that the 
Afghans were collected in the neighbourhood 
in considerable numbers, the defeat of the 
19th not having quite dispersed them ; so on 
the 23rd April a force moved out of camp 
early in the morning, with the intention of 
surprising the enemy ; the surprise was 
effectual, but the Afghans were found to  be 
posted in a village, against which our small 
force was unable to  act with effect until rein- 
forcements arrived ; when, a general advance 
was made, and the enemy, deserting their 
villages, fled, many being cut up  by the  
cavalry. T w o  days later the force, with 
General Stewart, left Ghuzni for Cabul. 

While we were casting about for some one 
qualified to  fill the posi'tion of Ameer, Ab- 
durrahman Khan  appeared upon the scene. 
Abdurrahman is, as has been already stated, 
the son of Afzool, and nephew of the Ameer 



Shere Ali ; he had taken. a prominent part in 
the rebellions formed by his father and uncle 
against the Ameer ; but when, in I 869, these 
rebellions were finally put down, Abdurrahman 
retired across the frontier, and has since been 
living an exile from Afghanistan, supported, 
it is believed, by Russian money. This 
prince now entered the country with a few 
followers, and, in the belief that, from 
the capacity he had displayed during Shere 
Ali's time, he was likely to make a good 
ruler, negotiations were opened with him on 
the part of the British Government. Although 
the position offered to him must have been 
very tempting, he yet was very slow in ac- 
cepting that position, and for a considerable 
time it was doubtful whether it was not his 
intention to form a party against us ; his 
letters to numerous chiefs breathinq L a rather 
warlike spirit against the English, but pro- 
bably this was nothing but Afghan diplomacy, 
for he eventually accepted the position of 
Ameer, and was installed at Cabul, the 
British Government undertaking to evacuate 
the place shortly. While these events had 
been taking place in and about Cabul ; Ayoob 
Khan, the brother of Yakoob Khan, was at 
Herat. During Shere Ali's rule, Yalioob 



Khan and Ayoob Khan had together go- 
verned Herat independently of their father, 
but when Yakoob was decoyed to Cabul by 
Shere Ali, and confined there, Ayoob fled 
from Herat to Persia, where he remained 
until, on our approach, Shere Ali left Cabul. 
Ayoob then returned to Herat, obtained 
admission from Shere Ali's governor, and 
finally made himself master of the place. 
He does not seem to have approved of the 
treaty made by Yakoob Khan with us at 
Gundamuck, but held himself aloof, trying to 
consolidate his power, Herat being in a very 
disorderly state. 

When Ayoob heard that his brother had 
been deposed, he began to collect forces with 
the supposed object of attacking the Wali of 
Candahar, who was our friend, and after very 
considerable delay, he set out from Herat on 
the I 8th of June. Whether he intended to 
attack us seems to be doubtful, but his move 
was calculated to strengthen his position, and 
he was desirous of collecting the revenue in 
the country through which he passed. 

His forces seem to have increased largely as 
he went on, so that by the time he reached the 
Helmand, he had with him a very considerable 
army, and was well supplied with guns. 



At this time General Primrose was in com- 
mand of over 4000 men at Candahar, and this 
force was considered an ample garrison for 
protecting the town and country at the 
time. 

Shere Ali Khan had been recognized as 
Wali, and had a native force of Afghans 
under his orders. 

Lord Ripon, who had succeeded Lord 
Lytton as Viceroy, telegraphed to the Secre- 
tary of State as soon as he received the news 
of Ayoob's advance, that he proposed to 
instruct General Primrose that the Wali should 
defend himself beyond the Helmand ; but if 
Ayoob reaches Furrah, a sufficient force is to 
advance towards Girishk, to prevent Ayoob 
from passing the Helmand. " This would 
necessitate moving up reinforcements from 
Phayre's reserve ;" and he adds, " No troops 
would be moved until necessity actually 
arose ! " " When news reached India that 
Ayoob's advance guard was reported to have 
arrived at Furrah, the Viceroy telegraphed to 
the Secretary of State, that he had instructed 
Primrose and Phayre in accordance with the 
above. 

Telegram from Viceroy 27th June, 1880, to Secre- 
tary of State. 



From this it would appear that the Vice- 
roy, and in fact the Government in England, 
did not understand the gravity of the situa- 
tion ; they do not seem to have been aware 
of the strength of Ayoob's force, and believed 
that the Wali Shere Ali was strong enough 
to deal with him beyond the Helmand ; this 
is much to be regretted, but this unfortu- 
nately is not all, the Viceroy was evidently 
aware that it would be necessary to send up 
reinforcements to Candahar as soon as a force 
was sent from thence to the Helmand; yet 
he took no account of the fact that General 
Phayre's transport was in a state of great dis- 
organization, and that he was totally unable 
to move at a moment's notice ; still, he says 
i 6  no troops would be moved until necessity 
actually arose." I t  is obvious that this was 
a great mistake, for, when " necessity actually 
arose " General Phayre would be useless, for 
he was not in a fit condition to move ; and as 
the affair turned out, he did not arrive at 
Candahar till after General Roberts reached 
it in September, two months later. Thus 
foolish economy became expensive and bad 
policy. 

On the I ~ t h  of July General Burrows 
marching from Candahar with a force of nearly 
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-?ooo men reached the Helmand; here, another 3 

unfortunate order restrained him from cross- 
ing that river. The Wali, with his troops, 
was on the further side of the Helmand, and 
on the approach of Ayoob, he gave notice to 
General Burrows that there was some dis- 
affection amongst his men, and finally he 
came over to General Burrows, and requested 
him to cross the river and disarm the mu- 
tinous regiments. This, General Burrows, 
restrained by the strict order he had received 
not to cross the river, refused to do, but 
instead, it was decided that the Wali should 
move his troops to General Burrows' side of 
the river, so that if necessary they could be 
disarmed. 

The next day, July 16th, when the Wali 
attempted to move his force, the Cabul regi- 
ments mutinied, seized the guns and baggage, 
and drove the Wali and his cavalry across 
the river. 

The mutineers having so far succeeded, 
retired from the camp. After a short delay, 
a portion of General Burrows' force crossed 
the river in pursuit of these regiments, and 
coming up with them, captured the guns, with 
most of the stores, and inflicted a slight loss 
upon the mutineers, who quickly dispersed, 



no doubt many of them going to join Ayoob's 
army. General Burrows now retired from 
his position on the Helmand, finding that the 
stores collected for his use by the Wali had 
been plundered, and that the river, being 
low at this time of year, was fordable nearly 
everywhere. It  was known to the General 
that the strongest position in rear of the 
river was at Kushk-i-Nakhud, which lies 
on the road to Candahar, thirty miles from 
the Helmand ; he therefore considered it ad- 
visable to fall back thence, where supplies 
were abundant,. and where the road being 
narrow, bounded on the one side by the 
mountains, and on the other by the desert, it 
would be almost impossible for an enemy to 
pass unobserved. 

Kushk-i-Nakhud is a place, where it has 
several times been suggested that a per- 
manent fort might with advantage be con- 
structed. Had General Burrows remained in 
this strong situation and fortified the village, 
there seems little doubt that he would have 
been able to keep Ayoob at a distance, until 
he was in a position to strike a strong blow at 
him. But General Burrows shifted his camp 
twice, the second time, with the intention of 
protecting his sick and stores by an enclosure, 



fearing a night attack from the enemy's 
cavalry. T h u s  he  remained in great dis- 
comfort (for the e n c l o s ~ ~ r e  was too small for 
the force) until the  2 7th of July, when, hear- 
ing that  the enemy was in his immediate 
vicinity, he  marched to  meet .him. General 
Burrows' force amounted to about 2 7 0 0  men, 
and  was composed of the  following troops :- 
3rd Bombay Cavalry ; 3rd Sinde Horse ;  six 
companies of the  66th Regiment ; 1st Bom- 
bay Grenadiers ; 30th Bombay Native In- 
fantry (called Jacobs' Rifles) ; E battery, R 
Brigade, R.H.A. ; and some native Sappers. 

T h e  enemy was variously estimated at 
between 18,000 and 25,000 men, with thirty 
ouns ; General Burrows' guns consisted of six 3 

R.H.A. rifled guns and six smooth-bores, 
captured a few days previously from the 
Wali's mutinous troops, and worked by volun- 
teers from the  66th regiment. 

General Burrows says in his despatch, 
dated August, 3oth, I 880 : " T h e  force 
marched a t  6.30 a.m. on the 27th July, en- 
cumbered by an enormous quantity of ord- 
nance, commissariat stores, and baggage. 
Th i s  was unavoidable, a s  the hostile state of 
the country rendered it impossible to leave 
anything behind in safety, and I could not 



divide my already too weak force." I t  was 
the intention o f .  the general to reach Mai- 
wand, a small village about ten miles from his 
camp, but a short distance from this place the  
enemy showed in strength, and General Bur- 
rows thereupon deployed his force into line on 
a gravelly plain, placing his cavalry on the  left, 
and his guns in the centre, the 66th regiment 
being on the right, with Jacobs' Rifles and 
the Bombay Grenadiers between them and 
the  guns. T h e  baggage, carried by about 
2000 animals, being placed near a village in 
rear, under charge of a baggage guard of 
European and native troops. 

T h e  battle commenced with artillery fire 
on both sides, the enemy gradually advancing 
in line, their infantry being placed in the 
centre, while their right was covered by a 
vast mass of horsemen, and their left by large 
numbers of fanatical Ghazis, considerable 
forces being, also held in reserve, and the  
guns placed a t  intervals along the line. 

During the artillery combat, and while the 
infantry were lying down passive spectators 
in the fight, the baggage guard was twice 
severely attacked by the Ghazis, but in both 
their aitacks the enemy was driven off with 
considerable loss. 



About two o'clocl<, the enemy unobserved, 
advanced two guns to a position on the right 
of our line, which they now began to enfilade 
with an accurate and severe fire, the distance 
being only about 400 yards. 

Our infantry now commenced a heavy 
fire upon the Afghans, but, notwithstanding 
the musketry and artillery fire which was 
brought to bear upon the enfilading guns, 
they continued to be well served, and to 
pound shot after shot into our position, so  
that the fire became exceedingly hot, the 
cavalry and mounted officers suffering at  this 
time very severely, the ground not affording 
our troops any protection, while the enemy, 
advancing by nullahs and hollows, crept up 
to our line, and about three o'clock a strong 
body of Ghazis charged the guns, attacking, 
a t  the same time, our left and centre ; 
Lieutenant Maclaine, R.A., who had been 
working his two guns very gallantly all day, 
was now captured, the remainder of the guns 
retired, Jacob's Rifles gave way, and, with the 
Bombay Grenadiers, were driven in upon 
the rear of the 66th, who were a t  that 
time repelling the Ghazis in front of them. 
T h e  confusion now became terrible, Ghazis, 
Grenadiers, and Jacobs' Rifles mixed in one 



confused struggling mass, confounded the 
still, steady 66th. General Burrows rode up, 
and, with many other officers, attempted to 
restore some sort of formation among the 
disordered soldiers, but in vain. The  whole 
mass surged onwards towards the baggage, 
which had already started on one of the roads 
to Candahar. Now was the time for re- 
serves, but there were none ; now was the 
time for a charge of cavalry, the cavalry were 
there, and were ordered to charge, General 
Burrows himself riding up to them to order 
the attack, (having no staff officer left), but 
whether their charge was checked by an 
order to halt, or, as has been stated, whether 
they were demoralized by the heavy fire to 
which they had so long been exposed, or 
whether they feared to attack this mass of 
furious swordsmen who had for the first time 
during the war fairly broken our infantry, 
does not appear. No doubt, however, re- 
mains that the charge was a mise'rable failure, 
and comparatively unhurt, except for the 
casualties of the earlier part of the day, the 
cavalry drew off, and were joined by the 
artillery, the smooth-bore guns falling one by 
one into the hands of the enemy for want of 
horses. The  discipline of the artillery was 
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yet as strong as ever, frequently they halted, 
and checked the enemy with their fire ; the 
native sappers seem also to have retained 
their order. 

For many hours the artillery and cavalry 
retreated upon Atta Karez, without water, 
and it was late the next day when they 
reached Candahar, being met by General 
Brooke, who had been sent out to bring them 
in. The retreat of the infantry was a terrible 
affair, without order and without reason, they 
pressed on, following the line of baggage 
animals. The 66th alone retained their 
order, and, taking up a position in a walled 
enclosure, inflicted great loss upon the 
Afghans, who dared not approach them, but 
here, they rapidly began to fall before the 
enemy's fire, till the few that remained re- 
ceived the order to retire. The loss in this 
retreat of the infantry was terrible ; although 
a rear guard was formed, and several weak 
attacks that the enemy made were beaten 
off, yet the men fell in great numbers from 
exhaustion and thirst, they having taken a 
road along which the watercourses, at this 
time of year, are dry, so that few of the whole 
force obtained any water until seven o'clock 
the next morning, being then forty miles 



from the battle-field. Though General Bur- 
rows has been blamed for the loss of this 
action, and for this, the 0111~  real disaster 
which we have suffered in ~ f ~ h a n i s t a n ,  yet all 
accounts agree, that, under the  trying circum- 
stances, he  showed indomitable courage and  
oreat coolness, having three horses killed a 
under him, and bringing off more than one 
wounded officer on his horse. Our  loss in 
this affair was about 1000 men killed, very 
few wounded arriving a t  Candahar. 

General Primrose, in his despatch, gives 
the  greatest credit to the 66th Regiment in 
this battle ; he says that out of 406 men and 
19 officers who went into action, 10 officers 
and 275 men were killed, and 2 officers and 
32 men wounded. " T h e  officers and men 
nearly all fell fighting desperately for the 
honour of their queen and country." A n d  
he  adds, about " IOO officers and men made 
a most desperate stand in a garden. T h e y  
were surrounded by the whole Afghan army, 
and fought until only eleven men were left, 
inflicting enormous loss upon the enemy. 
Those  eleven charged out of the garden, and 
died with their faces to the foe, fighting to 
the  death. Such was the nature of their 
charge, and the grandeur of their bearing, 



that, although the whole of the Ghazis were 
assembled round them, not one dared ap- 
proach to cut them down ; history does not 
afford any grander or finer instance of 
gallantry and devotion to queen and country 
than that displayed by the 66th Regiment - 

on the  27th of July, 1880." Many in- 
stances of. individual courage are recorded. 
Colonel Galbraith, commanding the 66th, was 
killed, with his officers and men rallying 
round him, Captain M'Math falling by his 
side ; second Lieutenant Barr was shot dead 
over one of the  colours, and Captains 
Garratt and Cullen were killed while com- 
manding their companies . with as much 
coolness as if on ordinary regimental parade ; 
Lieutenant Honywood was shot down while 
holding a colour high above his head, shout- 
ing, " Men, what shall we do  to save this ? " 
Also Sergeant-Major Cuppage was killed 
outside the garden while carrying a colour. 
I do  not mention all the other officers who 
died on this disastrous day, it is sufficient to 
sav that both officers and men all died 
fighting gloriously, and doing their utmost to 
resist the tremendous odds against them. 
Other examples might be recounted, such as  
that which is mentioned of a Bombay grena- 



dier, who, being badly wounded, requested his 
comrades to put his cartridges within reach, 
his body was afterwards identified with only 
one loaded cartridge remaining. 

Thus, although this day was one of terrible 
disaster, yet it was one that every English- 
man might be proud of, as showing that our 
troops have not degenerated since Cressy or 
Waterloo, and that whatever the odds are, 
the British soldier will not hesitate to face 
them. 

No doubt the battle was badly planned, 
the ground was bad, being cut up with water- 
courses, so that the cavalry could not act 
freely to the front, while it was sufficiently 
level to expose them to a galling fire. No 
advantage was taken by General Burrows of 
his greater superiority in man~uvr ing  power ; 
he fought a short line against a long line, 
thereby giving the enemy an opportunity of 
outflanking him on both sides ; his informa- 
tion of the strength of the enemy was very 
bad ; and he allowed his men to remain for 
hours resentless under a heavy fire, which 
seems to have somewhat demoralized the 
native troops, particularly the cavalry. If 
General Burrows desired to fight a defensive 
battle, he should have chosen his ground, and 



remained in a good position, until Ayoob 
attacked him. If, on the other hand, he 
intended to attack the enemy, he  should have 
obtained better information, and as soon as 
he came up with the Afghans have made a 
strong attack upon them. 

When  the news of this disaster reached 
General Primrose in Cat~dahar,  he  instantly 
evacuated the cantonments, and retired into 
the city, a t  the same time sending out General 
Brooke to  bring in the remains of Burrows' 
army, and telegraphing to the Viceroy that 
Burrows' force had been " annihilated." 
This  precipitation in evacuating the canton- 
ments a t  Candahar, seems to have caused 
more excitement, and consequent disaffection 
in the country, than even the victory, which 
the native accounts represented as being 
obtained with such heavy loss on Ayoob's 
part, that he hesitated to advance. I t  is 
supposed, that if a bold front had been shown 
to him, he  might never have ventured another 
battle before Candahar, where the garrison 
consisted of about 3000 men. Subsequent 
visits to the battle-field proved, without doubt 
that the enemy's loss must have been very 
severe, long lines of dead horses showing 
how our artillery fire had told. 
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Almost as soon as the troops had hastily 
evacuated the cantonments, the line between 
Candahar and India became interrupted, the 
telegraph was cut, and several of the posts 
were attacked, and had to be withdrawn. 

Amid this general disaffection, it was ex- 
ceedingly gratifying to the Viceroy to receive 
a telegram from the Khan of Kelat, offering 
transport animals, and stating that he would 
be happv 4 . to do anything in his power for our 
assistance, his words being, " My head and 
my all belongs to the British." 

After the battle of Maiwand, Ayoob came 
on slowly to Candahar, and took up a position 
some three miles from the city, he then com- 
menced throwing up siege-works, occupying 
the villages round, and throwing shells into 
the city. 

T h e  garrison meanwhile set about repairing 
the fortifications, and making their position 
as strong as possible ; the disaffected of the 
population were turned out of the city, extra 
wells were sunk, as  the water supply was not 
large, though fortunately there was no want 
of provisions ; the citadel was occupied in 
great force, and the garrison felt confident 
that they could defend their position against 
all Ayoob's attacks. 



As General Phayre was not in a fit state 
to move on Candahar, for want of transport, 
and as a large and highly-disciplined force 
was still at Cabul, with Generals Stewart and 
Roberts, it was decided that the promised 
evacuation of that part of Afghanistan should 
be carried out, and while General Stewart 
retired his force by the K hyber to Peshawur, 
General Roberts should move on Candahar, 
and raise the siege of that city. 

I t  was obvious that in this march, General 
Roberts would have to cut himself adrift 
from all communications, as even if General 
Stewart remained at Cabul, he could not keep 
up communications with Roberts, the distance 
that general had to march being over 300 
miles, neither could General Roberts spare 
troops for that purpose. 

General Roberts started on this hazardous 
and daring march on the 9th of August, 
taking with him certain supplies for the 
European troops, but trusting for the chief 
part, to what he could collect en yfoute. As the 
country over which he would have to march 
was known to be very rough, the general 
took with him no wheeled carriages, all his 
baggage being transported by animals, even 
his guns being carried on elephants. His 
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force consisted of over gooo men of all arms. 
For nearly three weeks General Roberts 
and h i s  army disappeared, very few tidings 
coming of their movements, while great 
anxiety was felt both at home and in India, 
at this bold expedition, which, it .was held, 
could only be justified by success. How- 
ever, the troops marched remarkably well ; 
the people around were quiet ; and sup- 
plies came in plentifully, the country tra- 
versed being one which had not been before 
used up by the passage of troops, and the 
Ameer exerting all his influence to induce 
the country people to bring in provisions. 
Large supplies were collected for the arrival 
of the troops at Khelat-i-Ghilzie, and the 
narrison of that place was brought on to 3 

Candahar. 
Durinq C the time that General Roberts 

was performing his march, some fears were 
felt as to whether the garrison of Can- 
dahar would be able to hold out until relieved ; 
the fears proved groundless, for Ayoob's 
proceedings before the city were very feeble ; 
beyond sending a few shells into the place, he 
did little or nothing, except occupving d the 
country close up to the walls. General 
Primrose on his side, made one sortie, with 



the object of dislodging the enemy from a 
position 'on that side towards which it was 
expected General Roberts would arrive, and 
also with the idea that a successful sortie 
would strengthen the moral of his troops, and 
weaken the confidence of the Afghans. For  
this purpose he attacked the village of Deh-i- 
Kwajeh, which lies close to the citv, and in 
fact, is connected with it by a row of small 
houses running up  to the walls. T h e  sud- 
denness of the attack drove the enemy out of 
the village; but our troops were unable to 
clear the place, and the enemy after their first 
surprise gathered in great strength, and 
attacking our men, forced them to retreat 
with considerable loss, we losing nearly 2 0 0  

men out of a total of about rooo. 
Meanwhile the retirement from Cabul had 

been carried out. O n  the I ~ t h  of August, 
General Sir Donald Stewart evacuated Sher- 
pur, after a friendly interview with the Ameer, 
who came to the camp to wish the general 
farewell ; it was very satisfactory that the 
Ameer should come of his own accord to the 
camp, as  it showed the success which General 
Sir  Donald Stewart had achieved in his deal- 
ings with the Afghans, both here and in other 
parts of the country. The number of people 
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who accompanied General Stewart in his 
retirement was very large, it was estimated 
that about 30,000 persons, troops, camp fol- 
lowers, and others, together with near 20,000 

animals retired along the Lataband route, 
for Jellalabad, and Peshawur. This march 
was safely terminated without resistance on  
the part of the Afghans. 

Since General Burrows' defeat at the 
battle of Maiwand, General Phayre had 
been using all his endeavours to get his 
division in order for the march; in this, 
he was much assisted by the new rail- 
way which had been opened as far as Sibi ; 
but such was the deficiency of transport, that 
he was unable to reach Candahar before 
General Roberts. 

On the 3 1st of August, after doing the last 
two marches very easily, in order that the 
troops might be fresh, General Roberts 
reached Candahar. The cavalry were sent 
out, the same day, under General Hugh 
Gough, with Colonel Chapman, to recon- 
noitre the enemy's position. These without 
loss to themselves drew the enemy's fire from 
all points, so that his dispositions were pretty 
well ascertained. 

The  next day, the 1st of September, orders 
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were issued for the attack. T h e  enemy oc- 
cupied a position about three miles north of 
Candahar, on a range of hills that run in a 
direction from south-west to north-east, and 
through which there are two passes, called 
respectively Baba Wali and Moncha. Here 
Ayoob had posted the principal part of his 
force, and many of his guns, of which, in all, , 
he had over thirty. Behind this range of 
hills, and running in a direction almost paral- 
lel with them, flowed the Argandab river. 

Between the river, and the south-west end 
of the range of hills, rises an isolated hill 
which Ayoob had crowned with guns, and 
behind this hill, and between the river 
and the hills, the enemy's main camp was 
situated. General Roberts' plan was as 
follows : he made a feigned attack upon the 
front of the enemy's position along the range 
of hills, and for this purpose the heavy bat- 
tery and the Candahar garrison were detailed. 

- 

Atwthe same time he sent the greater part of 
his cavalry, with General Hugh  Gough, to 
the extreme right of the enemy's position, 
near the Argandab river, to cut off the 
enemy's retreat towards Girishk, while three 
brigades, under Macpherson, Baker, and 
Macgregor, respectively, the whole being 
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under General Ross, were placed in a position 
to  attack the south-west end of the range of 
hills, and the whole of the right of the 
enemy's position. At nine a.m. the battle 
commenced, the heavy battery opened fire, 
which was steadily returned by the Afghans 
on the Baba Wali Pass, while the 92nd ~ i ~ h -  
landers and  the 2nd Goorkhas advanced 
against the enemy's right, attacking the vil- 
lage of Sahib Dan  that  lay between them and 
the hills, and which was held by the  enemy 
in great force. T h e  village was shelled, and  
the  infantry pushed on to  the  attack, and 
although the  enemy fought here with great 
determination, yet they could not resist the  
assault of our troops, and thus Sahib Dan  
was carried. T h e  attack was now pressed 
against another village, called Pir Paimal, 
situated a t  the end of the range of hills. A 
third village called Gundigan, further to the  
west, being a t  the same time turned, and the  
enemy forced to  abandon it. T o  the village 
of Pir Paimal, and u p  the hill beyond, the in- 
fantry forced their way, t h e  Afghans lining 
every wall, and occupying all available covert, 
and refusing to  give ground to the fire, but 
only yielding to  the  repeated rushes of our 
men. I t  was here that our loss was the 
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greatest, but the attack was very shortly suc- 
cessful. One of the enemy's camps in rear of 
Pir Paimal, and also the isolated hill, now fell 
into our hands, and all combined resistance 
being over, General Gough started his cavalry 
up the Khadrez valley after the retreating 
enemy, while Ayoob's main camp was cap- 
tured, and the Bombay Cavalry Brigade, who 
had been stationed with General Burrows 
opposite to the Baba Wali Pass, was sent in 
pursuit of the enemy up the Argandab valley. 
By midday, the whole position was in our 
hands, the enemy rapidly dispersing. The 
day had been brilliantly gained, and General 
Roberts complimented his troops upon their 
work. Poor Maclaine, of the artillery, who 
had been taken prisoner at Maiwand, was 
found brutally murdered near the tent he had 
occupied. The enemy's loss was computed 
at 1000 men, and thirty-eight guns fell into 
our hands ; our loss was little over 2 0 0  men. 
The only drawback to the entire success of 
this action was that the enemy got away 
rather too easily, our infantry being exhausted, 
and the cavalry from their positions not being 
able to inflict the crushing blow upon the re- 
treating Afghans that they might otherwise 
have done. The effect of the victory was 
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most satisfactory, supplies came in on all 
sides, and everywhere the country was quiet. 
The battle-field at Maiwand was visited, and 
stones piled over the graves of those who had 
fallen. Congratulations were received by 
General Roberts and his troops on their suc- 
cessful relief of Candahar. A large garrison 
was now left in the place, the remainder of 
the troops were withdrawn into India. 

The Khyber Pass was now evacuated by 
our forces, the fortifications built by us at 
Lundi-Kotal and Ali Musjid being placed 
in the hands of friendly Afrides, who are to 
receive pay to keep this route open in our 
interest ; this abandonment of our fortifica- 
tions to these hill-men has been considered 
a very dangerous step, as the Afrides are no- 
toriously untrustworthy. 

The Kuram has been handed over to a 
friendly tribe, and thus, the only part of 
Afghanistan at the end of 1880 in our hands 
was Candahar, and the communications lead- 
ing to it. Whether, if Candahar is evacuzted, 
Pishin will be retained is at present doubtful ; 
it is also much questioned whether it would 
be any advantage to us to hold it after aban- 
doning Candahar. 

The question now remains, what is to be 



done with Afghanistan ? Various plans have 
been promulgated for dealing with this ques- 
tion ; of these we will examine the principal, 
which are as  follows :- 

1st. Tha t  we sh,ould annex the whole 
country including Herat.  

and. Tha t  we should settle some chief, or 
chiefs,. in the country, as  securely as possible, 
and ourselves retire behind the scientific 
frontier, with, or without Candahar. 

3rd. Tha t  we should evacuate most of the 
country, and continue to hold almost the 
same frontier as  hitherto. 

T h e  difficulty of the first plan is, that 
by taking the whole of Afghanistan we 
are adding a large tract of unremunerative 
country to our possessions, for it is recog- 
nized that the  country will not pay thecost 
of its occupation ; further, we shall have to 
spend a considerable sum annually, for the 
next few years, in maintaining large mili- 
tary garrisons in the principal places, to keep 
order among the warlike and restless popu- 
lation. Also our frontier will have eventually, 
in this case, to be pushed on to the  Hindoo 
Koosh range of mountains, and in the event 
of a war with Russia, we should be placed in 
the position of having to defend that frontier; 
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we should thereby be further by some 600 
miles from our true base, which is India ; and 
all oursupplies would have to be brought across 
Afghanistan, through passes swarming with 
what at present is a hostile population, a popu- 
lation that could not be relied upon ; as these 
people are recognized as being amongst the 
most treacherous in the world, a people who 
never can resist the prospect of plunder. Also 
Herat, being over 300 miles from Candahar, 
would, in the case of war from the north, be a 
difficult place for us to defend. For not only 
should we have to transport the whole of 
our stores and men from India to Candahar, 
but also, again, the whole distance further on 
to Herat, all of which country, over 600 
miles, would have to be protected by our 
troops, for in case of war with Russia she 
would no doubt do everything in her power 
to stir up the Afghans in our rear, and 
although we might run a railway the whole 
distance, yet it would require protection for 
its entire length. This railway also would 
be a costly operation, and could not for 
some time be expected to pay. Again, 
every mile that we advance reduces the 
distance that Russia would have to travel 
from her base, and it has been abundantly 



proved that one of the chief obstacles to be 
contended against in carrying on war in these 
parts, is the difficulty of transport. For 
these reasons it appears, that the annexation 
of the whole country would be a mistake, 
involving expense and danger, without suffi- 
cient compensation. The argument on the 
other side is, that if we do not take Herat, 
Russia will, and Herat has been frequently 
described as a most important place ; it is 
situated at a point where the Hindoo Koosh 
can be most easily crossed by an army en- 
cumbered with baggage and artillery ; also 
the country around it is very fertile ; and it is 
capable of being made a base from which to 
attack India, supplies being drawn from the 
country round, and through the channels of 
trade, Herat being a commercial centre. 
Our object, therefore, is to prevent Herat 
falling into the hands of Russia. As the 
holding of Herat is the principal object aimed 
at by those who hold the desirability of an- 
nexing the whole country, so what to do with 
Herat is the chief difficulty with which those 
persons have to contend, who recommend 
either of the other two plans. Now as 
regards Herat, if we leave it as at present, it 
is obvious that Russia will soon be within 



easy striking distance of the city ; and in the 
event of war between her and England, her 
first move would be to seize Herat, and con- 
centrate her troops there, and once there, it 
would be no doubt a very difficult operation 
for us to drive her out. When at Herat, she 
might take her time, and advance whenever 
she found herself strong enough for the 

- 

purpose, and at the time of year that was 
most suitable. In this case we must fight 
her when she wishes. Either in front of 
Candahar, probably near the Kushk-i-N akhud 
(which is the place to which General Burrows 
retired to wait the advance of Ayoob Khan), 
or on the Helmand, but that river being 
frequentlv d fordable in nearly every direction 
is not such a good line of defence as might 
be wished, though at times, when in flood, it 
is a formidable barrier; or, we must fight 
in rear of Candahar, in which case the enemy 
will have ample opportunity for collecting his 
supplies, and making that city his base ; and 
there can be little doubt that the moral effect 
of a Russian army in Candahar would be 
very severely felt in India. Also, it may be 
said, that should we inflict, upon the advancing 
Russian army, a decisive defeat on the north 
side of Candahar, the campaign would pro- 



bably be ended, but if on the south side, it 
would not be so, for we should not only have 
to take Candahar, but also to fight whatever 
forces Russia might have pushed up the 
country in the direction of Cabul. 

Looked at, therefore, from these points of 
view, it appears that it is unnecessary for us 
to annex the country at present, though we 
should use our whole influence to have a 
friendly and strong ruler at Herat, one who, 
being our friend, and knowing that we should 
not interfere with his government so long as 
he proved friendly, would be ready to give us 
information of the events which were taking 
place on his frontier, and whom, if necessary, 
we could support with arms, men, and money, 
in case of his being attacked by Russia. 
Ayoob Khan, who is at present ruler in 
Herat, is about the worst man we could have 
there, as not only does he govern very badly 
(Herat being in a very disturbed state), but 
also he is bitterly opposed to ourselves. 

The annexation of the country round Cabul, 
would be a loss rather than a gain, for it 
would require a very large garrison, and 
therefore be a great expense; and it would 
be a long time before our authority would be 
properly respected without frequent expe- 



ditions against different tribes. There  is 
also no doubt, that by holding the Khyber 
Pass and the Shuturgarden we should com- 
mand all the influence we required with the 
ruler of Cabul. Thus  much for the annexa- 
tion plan. 

T h e  second scheme is, that we should 
settle some chief or chiefs in Afghanistan as 
securely as possible, and ourselves retire 
behind the '' scientific frontier," with or with- 
out Candahar. T h e  scientific frontier, as it 
is called, is a line of country, roughly de- 
scribed as, extending from the Khyber to 
Quetta, including the Khyber and Michni 
passes, the Kuram, Sibi, and Pishin. 

Our object is, as Sir  Henry Rawlinson 
says, " to obtain a strong, friendly, and inde- 
pendent power on the north-west frontier of 
India, without however accepting any crush- 
ing liabilities in return." By the treaty of 
Gundamuck, which gave us the scientific 
frontier, we sought to 'obtain a strong and 
defensible Iffountain frontier, and a position 
from which we could command Afghanistan, 
where, by a kind and liberal policy, it was 
thought we should be able to keep on friendly 
terms with the Ameer, who, assisted by our 
advice and prestige, would hold his kingdom 
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by a firmer grasp than any of the previous 
rulers of Afghanistan since our connexion 
with it. This  then, seemed the best solution 
of the difficulty, and the question of our hold 
on Candahar, we were a t  the time the treaty 
was made, willing to waive, although as now 
the retention of that place, both on military 
and economical grounds, was strongly advo- 
cated, and as strongly condemned. Still, at  
the time of the Gundamuck treaty the Govern- 
ment abandoned the idea of holding Can- 
dahar, on the grounds that it would be dis- 
pleasing to the Ameer, and also would pre- 
vent his having such a strong hold on Herat. 
Th i s  plan of keeping the scientific frontier in 
our hands seems to offer the most suc- 
cessful settlement of thi,s difficult question. 
T h e  reasons for giving up Candahar in I 879 
do  not hold now, asawe cannot a t  the present 
moment abandon Candahar, for there is no 
one to take it ; the Ameer is unfortunately 
not sufficiently settled in Cabul, and is unable 
t o  collect the revenue of the country he a t  
present holds, while his capital is not by any 
means secure, and therefore he is not in a fit 
state to take over the province of Candahar 
should we evacuate it. Ayoob Khan will 
also probably make another attempt on the 



place in a few months, and should he  obtain 
Candahar, and defeat the Ameer, we shall 
then be in the  position of having the country 
ruled by a man whom we know to  be most 
unfriendly to  us ; this will hardly be a satis- 
factory conclusion to arrive at after so much 
war. We shall therefore be obliged to  assist 
the  Ameer in some way, if we wish him to 
remain a friendly, or  a strong ruler in Af- 
ghanistan ; if we d o  not assist him we cannot 
expect any future Afghan ruler to be our 
friend, for the present Ameer has more claim 
to our assistance than it is conceivable that 
any  future Ameer can have ; yet if we assist 
him we shall very likely be draw11 into 
another war, and even although we should 
only assist him with arms and money, we 
shall apparently still have the old difficulty of 
requiring agents in Afghanistan, and conse- 
quently wanting information ; already the in- 
formation from Cabul is exceedingly meagre 
and untrustworthy. 

T h e  following are some of the opinions 
expressed a s  regards Candahar. Sir  Richard 
Temple has said that the situation of Can- 
dahar is such that it must under "all circum- 
stances be held." T h e  cultivation round 
Candahar is of the very best in all Asia ;" 
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" the resources are extremely great." General 
Biddulph also, in a recent lecture delivered 
at the Royal United Service Institution, 
seems t o  be of opinion that our frontier 
should include Candahar, and be pushed on 
beyond that city as far as the Helmand, and 
for the followiilg reasons :--That the first 
object of an enemy advancing to attack India 
would be to seize the Helmand country. 
Here the principal position is at Girishk, but 
Girishk is easily defensible, and the enemy 
leaving it and crossing the Helmand higher 
up, would expose his right flank ; he must 
therefore take this place; the line of the 
Helmand would consequently form the first 
barrier which an invader would meet with, 
while Kush-i- Nakhud Saidah and Atta Karez 
could form the second line ; these lines would 
leave the defender with Candahar and all the 
productive country round it in his possession, 
and would leave the attacking force in a bare 
country, with the necessity of drawing his 
supplies from the Herat district. Hence 
General Biddulph contends that the pos- 
session of these points are most necessary. 

If we abandon Candahar the next most 
important position behind it appears to be the 
Khoja Amran mountains. These mountains, 



which lie on the further side of Pishin from 
Quetta, and are crossed by the principal 
roads, form the only real impediment between 
the Bolan Pass and Candahar. 

General Biddulph says on the extreme 
north-east corner of the Pishin plain 6 6  is 
Balozai, a position of the highest importance." 
" From here there are fair open vales, descend- 
ing gradually towards Quetta and Pishin, and 
close by we find the passes which lead to 
Zhob, Bori, and Tal. At Gwal, thirteen 
miles south, on the road to Quetta, lies the 
exit of the routes to Sibi and to Tal. Quetta 
fails entirely, to command these passes, while 
Balozai does so perfectly." The produce .of 
the country is considerable, and the climate is 
fair. 

Besides these opinions of men who have 
been over the country, and are well qualified 
to judge, Lord Napier of Magdala and 
Colonel Humley have given their opinions that 
Candahar would be of great importance to us 
from a military point of view ; for although it 
breaks our line of defence, still it is situated 
in a fertile position ; the inhabitants around 
are well disposed towards us, and it affords a 
good position for observing Herat. Lord 
Lytton also, the late Viceroy, is strongly in 
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favour of our keeping this part of the country, 
and many other persons of great experience, 
have expressed the same opinions. The 
advantages of the scientific frontier over our 
old line, appear to be very considerable, for 
with our positions chosen in time of peace, 
and the necessary fortifications and communi- 
cations by railway made, we should be able 
at any time to defend in strength, any given 
point, or points, with but little trouble and 
expense, and should have the enormous ad- 
vantage of knowing every bit of the country ; 
while the enemy, marching for several 
hundred miles from his base, would have to 
attack us in these narrow and difficult defiles, 
which are capable of strong defence, and 
which have so often proved fatal to other ex- 
peditions, but which have always hitherto 
been passed by the invaders of India without 
difficulty; the rulers of that country, apparently 
fearful of the continued expense and trouble of 
holding these mountains, have never taken 
proper precautions to defend them against an 
advancing enemy, but have, instead, trusted 
to the large forces they were able to bring 
against him in India, a trust that has so 
frequently been fatal. And it is here to be 
noticed, that with our present armament and 
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civilizing power, we could hold the hill coun- 
try on our north-west frontier, with advantage 
to the people, and at a very much less cost 
than any other previous rulers of India. 

The third plan, which is the plan the 
Liberal Government now in office seem to 
desire to carry out, is the evacuation of nearly 
all the country that we have at present gained, 
and the retirement to almost our old frontier. 
And this policy appears to be based upon the 
considerations that the scientific frontier, and 
Candahar, can at any time be reoccupied by 
us, and that it will be more economical to 
spend a large sum in reoccupying the country 
when that step becomes necessary, than to 
spend considerable sums each year in holding 
it. And it is also asserted, that the late war 
has vindicated our power, and shown that it 
is the interest of all rulers of Afghanistan to 
remain our loyal friends. As to the last part 
of this argument, it may be answered that 
even if the rulers of Afghanistan recognize 
the advantages of being on friendly terms 
with us, those advantages will not be recog- 
nized by the different tribes, who, it has 
been clearly shown, in the present war, have 
been taught little by the experience of the 
inany defeats they have suffered; and it is to 



be remembered, that if these men were 
properly led, disciplined, and armed, they 
would prove very formidable enemies. 
Nothing will effectually teach these tribes 
respect for our power but the fact, that we 
remain in the country, and put down all 
abuses by a firm, strong rule ; there is a very 
vast difference between a strong power always 
wielding irresistible authority in a country, 
and the same power making occasional though 
strong expeditions into the districts adjoining 
its border. Also it appears probable that 
sooner or later we shall have to reoccupy 
our late positions, and as  soon as we come 
to occupy th'em we shall be in much the 
same situation as we have been during the 
late war ; we shall certainly not be in a position 
of such gross ignorance of the country, and all 
connected with it, a s  that to which we were 
doomed by the policy of masterly inactivity ; 
still we shall have no friends, a t  a time when 
they would be particularly valuable ; but, on 
the contrary, our occupation of the country 
will once more arouse all the passions of the 
people against us, and the Afghans will not 
only hate us, but will join the ranks of our 
enemies, particularly if there is a prospect of 
an invasion of India. This  will greatly increase 
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the danger with which we may be threatened. 
It is clear that if we leave Afghanistan now, 
the country will be torn by internal dissen- 
sions, and the population will remain the 
same lawless people that they have ever been ; 
instead of little by little becoming the peace- 
able inhabitants that our strong rule, and the 
protection which we should give to life, pro- 
perty, and commercial enterprise, would in 
time make them ; while the daring spirits, who 
are not fitted for peaceful occupations, would 
form for us, under discipline, very efficient 
soldiers. There is also this great drawback, 
that this reoccupation of country might have 
to be commenced at any time, for the danger 
with which we are threatened from Russia, is 
not that she would march a large army into 
India, but that whenever it was desired to 
create a diversion against England, a small 
Russian force composed of daring spirits 
would enter Afghanistan, form a native army 
as they proceeded towards our frontier, and 
disturb our position by forming alliances with 
native princes, whom we should not be able 
to control ; and thus by sending agents in 
advance in all directions, stir up sedition 
against us ; and this perhaps without official 
recognition at St. Petersburg, so that, with- 
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out any cams 6eZli against Russia, she would 
be causing us great uneasiness, forcing us to 
be prepared for instant war, and obliging us 
to spend great sums to reoccupy Afghanistan, 
and this simply because, the political baro- 
meter in Europe indicated the possibility of 
a coming storm ; thus the power of England 
might be partially paralyzed without costing 
Russia any expense to speak of. O n  these 
points, Sir  James Stephen and Sir Bartle 
Frere have written very ably, as  well as 
numerous other well-known public men. 

Another of the arguments upon which the 
Liberal Government rely for this contem- 
plated retirement from Candahar, (for the 
Kuram and Khyber have already been re- 
signed) is the expense of the occupation, but 
a t  present there are no statistics showing what 
the expense would be, and opinions differ, one 
party asserting that the occupation would pay 
itself, and the other that it would be a great 
drain on the resources of India. There  is no 
doubt that the railway to Candahar, which 
would have to be built, would cost a consider- 
able sum, without, for some time yielding 
much return, but it would open up the country, 
and Candahar would rapidly become a much 
more important place than it now is; and 
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there seems no great difficulty in making the 
necessary roads, for Captain Holdich, R. E., 
lately in charge of the surveys in Afghanistan, 
stated but a short time ago, at a meeting of 
the- Royal Geographical Society, that the dif- 
ficulties of road-making " were hardly formid- 
able anywhere, and they gradually diminished 
as we left the Indian frontier behind." 

It has also been stated, that Candahar has 
already, in many respects, improved under 
our rule, and that the area of cultivation has 
been nearly doubled. 

Again, another of the arguments used in 
favour of the abandonment of the country, is 
that the hill routes are difficult to march 
through, and therefore it would be far wiser for 
us to leave these difficulties to the enemy to 
encounter, while avoiding them ourselves ; to 
this it may be answered that we could scarcely 
sit still in India while the enemy was collect- 
ing  large forces at Candahar, Cabul, and Jel- 
lalabad, and if we did, the enemy's difficulties 
could not be very great, for one of the routes, 
that through the Khyber, is very short, the 
whole of the pass from Jumrood to Dakka 
being only about twenty-eight miles long, and 
traversed through its entire length by a good 
road, with no very steep incline ; while the 
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other routes would not present great difficul- 
ties, provided that the march was unopposed. 

In favour of the retention of Candahar 
Lord Napier of Magdala has lately printed 
an able minute, while the Duke of Cambridge 
and many others have recorded their opinions 
on the same side. 

The abandonment of the Kuram and Khy- 
ber routes is of less importance than that of 
Candahar. For the Khyber has been evacu- 
ated chiefly because of its unhealthiness in 
the summer, and on account of its proximity 
to our frontier it could with ease be reoccu- 
pied. While the Kuram has also several dis- 
advantages as follows : many parts of it which 
would have to be occupied are unhealthy ; 
there is no prospect of a railway to it for some 
time ; the Shuturgarden is closed for three 
months in the winter, so that an advance at 
that time is almost impossible, and the dis- 
tance to Cabul from Pawil Pindi is longer by 
this route than it is by the Khyber. Still, 
were we engaged in a war with Russia, some 
force would have to be maintained on these 
routes. 

However, the result of these matters lies 
hidden in futurity, and it will be for history to 
decide upon the value of the opinions put 



forth on this subject ; but it is hardly satisfac- 
tory for the men who have fought in, and for 
the people who have paid for the recent 
war, to  have nearly the whole of what has 
been gained by great  labour and expense 
cast away, so that  all that  has been done in 
the recent campaigns may shortly have to be 
recommenced from the beginning. 

And this in order that  the policy of mas- 
terly inactivity may be again indulged in, a 
policy which even its authors would not have 
ventured upon with the Russians already ad- 
vanced so far, that  Merv is almost within 
their grasp. 
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CHAPTER I.  

I N  1880 the Liberal Government, having 
acceded to power, proceeded to put in force 

- 

those principles which in opposition they had 
so  often and so loudly urged ; they therefore 
turned their attention during the latter part 
of 1880 and early in I 88 I to  reducing their 
responsibilities by retiring from Afghanistan ; 
and opinions on this subject being strongly 
expressed on both sides, though by far the 
most numerous and most weighty advocates 
were on the side of retaining Candahar, still 
the Government chose to  follow their own 
views, and although beaten in the House of 
Lords in the debate on the Retention of 
Candahar, they yet commanded a large party 
majority in the House of Commons, and 
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forthwith determined to  abandon the country, 
and retire t o  India, leaving troops a t  Pishin 
and Sibi for a short time, and  discontinuing 
the  railway which was a t  that  time being laid 
in the  direction of t he  Khojak p a s s ,  and 
which had already advanced some distance. 
T h e  order for stopping the railway was very 
unwise, as in I 884 the  work had to  be recom- 
menced, and the  year following much saving 
in the expense of collecting transport would 
have resulted, had the  line been continued 
from its  commencement. 

Orders were now sent ordering the  evacua- 
tion of Candahar, and in the  spring of 1881 
the  troops retired to  India, leaving detach- 
ments tb occupy Quetta, Pishin, and other 
posts on the  frontier. 

Meanwhile, Ayoob Khan  had retired after 
his defeat by General Roberts,  to Herat, 
where, having consolidated his power, he 
once more, in July, 188 I ,  advanced across 
the  Helmand upon Candahar, defeating the 
Ameer's general, and making himself master 
of that  city and of the  surrounding country ; - 

thus'as the  first-fruits of the  new policy, Ayoob 
Khan, our enemy, and the  friend of Russia, 
became master df the richest portion of the 
Ameer's territory, comprising the  principal 



route between our frontier and that  of 
Russia. 

Fortunately for us, in September Ayoob 
Khan was attacked and defeated by the  
Ameer, and,  being compelled to  leave Can- 
dahar, retired to  Herat  ; he found this city 
also very disturbed, and afraid to  remain 
longer, he fled over the frontier to  Persia ; 
while Herat  shortly afterwards fell into the 
Ameer's hands ; thus Abdurrahman became 
ruler of the whole of Afghanistan. 

I t  was, indeed, fortunate for us  that  the 
tide -of battle thus turned in our favour, for 
had it been otherwise, we see that  Russia, 
having made her rapid advance towards 
Afghanistan, would now have been welcomed 
by her friend and our enemy, Ayoob Khan, 
and another Afghan war would have been 
necessary for the recovery of our prestige 
and influence in the country, and of the 
important positions resigned by Mr. Glad- 
stone's Government, unless, indeed, we were 
prepared to  see a strong advance-guard of 
Russians occupying Candahar in the year 
1885. T h e  events since the abandonment of 
Candahar show the  extreme danger which we 
ran through the obstinate determination of 
the Government to give up the fruits of what 
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is now seen to  have been the  necessary war 
of 1878-81. 

Thus,  af ter  the  lapse of but three years, it 
was found necessary to  return t o  the aban- 
doned policy of activity on our frontier, and 
for this purpose the Sibi-Quetta railway was 
recommenced ; and the  Ameer who, in I 880, 
and also in 1883, had been told that  the 
British Government would aid him in repelling 
unprovoked aggression by a foreign state, on 
condition that  he followed the  advice tendered 
by this country, was in the summer of 1883 
granted a n  annual subsidy of twelve lalchs of 
rupees (value about E I 20,000). 

Abdurrahman is possessed of much courage 
and determination, and, assisted by the arms 
and money which we have given him, he has 
made himself fairly strong on the throne of 
Afghanistan. 
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RUSSIAN P R O C E E D I N G S  A N D  DIPLOMACY. 

I N  1882 a proposal was made by Russia that 
a joint commission of English and Russian 
officers should define the frontier of Afghan- 
istan from Khojah Saleh on the Oxus to  the 
Persian frontier; this strikes one a s  a curious 
move on the part of the Czar's Government, 
particularly when viewed by the light of sub- 
sequent events, for what did w e  want a n  
Anglo-Russian commission for 3 An Anglo- 
Afghan commission was all that  we needed ; 
Russia had no claim to the frontier, being at 
that  time a long way from where it was likely 
to  be drawn; but it was a clever move on 
Russia's part, suggesting the idea tha t  they 
were so  friendly and so ready to help to  lay 
down the frontier, and thus John Bull's good- 
nature was used to  draw a veil over this 
irritating subject, until Russia was more 
prepared, by having advanced herself t o  the  
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Afghan frontier, to  reopen the  question. We 
then see the  means she adopted to, define the 
boundary herself, for on the arrival a t  the 
frontier of the Commission appointed by Eng- 
land, with Sir  Peter Lumsden at its head, 
towards the end of 1884, it was found that 
the  Russian Commission had not started, and 
it was seen that the  Russian Government did 
not intend that  it should start, at all events 
for some time ; but instead thereof Sir Peter 
Lumsden found that  Russian soldiers had 
been pushed on from Sarakhs to  the neigh- 
bourhood of Penj-deh, a distance of about 
fifty miles. What ,  then, was the object of 
Russia in proposing the  delimitation of the 
Afghan frontier? I think it is not far to 
seek. At the time of the proposal of the 
joint commission Russia was pushing on 
towards Merv, but still at a considerable 
distance from that place, being over 150 
miles to the westward. Knowing that this 
country was watching her movements with 
suspicion, a suspicion justified by previous 
bad faith, she  deemed it advisable to  throw 
dust in our eyes by proposing that  a frontier 
should be defined, a proposal so suited to 
our tastes and convenient for Russia as 
enabling her t o  shelve by a plausible argu- 



AFGHANISTAN. 7 

ment any awkward inquiries, and remove if 
possible for a short time what was facetiously 
called Mervousness. T h e  plan aided by the  
joke succeeded excellently, and Russia found 
herself, in February, I 884, a t  Merv, and shortly 
afterwards a t  Sarakhs, a more important place 
.than Merv, from its situation on the Heri Rud,  
at a point where the roads from Herat,  Meshed, 
~ s k a b a d  and Merv meet. And it is important 
t o  notice, in passing, that  there are two 
Sarakhs opposite to each other ; that  situated 
on the left o r  western bank of the  Heri Rud,  
and called New Sarakhs, is, or rather was, a 
Persian fortress, and therefore for Russia to 
be settled there must imply either that Persia 
is completely in her hands, and afraid to a c t  
contrary to her wishes, or that  some arrange- 
ment or treaty has been come to  between the  
two. 

Now, in 1884, when Russia was comfort- 
ably established a t  Sarakhs, she began to 
find that  the delimitation of the frontier of 
Afghanistan was not quite so convenient a s  
heretofore. T h e  drawing out the  frontier- 
line, which had been proposed by her two 
years previously, and then allowed to  sleep, 
again came to  the  front in view of her rapid 
advance ; but, following her usual lines, the  



Commission was agreed to in Europe, in 
words, while Russia's agents on the spot 
were by acts  making the  most of their time 
in securing advantages before the arrival of 
the talked-of Commission. 

T h e  delimitation of the  Afghan frontier 
was not now, in 1884, so  convenient to  Russia 
as she had made it appear to  be two years 
previously, for, according to her own proposals, 
the line was to be marked between Khojah 
Saleh and the  neighbourhood of Sarakhs, but 
she was already at Sarakhs,  and  in fact had 
pushed on over fifty miles further on the road 
to  Herat ,  which important town was become 
now her object, she  intending to send a 
large force thither in I 885 ; hence she has 
striven how to  g e t  out of the Frontier Com- 
mission, and the arrival of Sir Peter Lumsden 
on the frontier has proved very inopportune 
for h e r ;  but, seeing that  England was en- 
gaged in Egypt, she took advantage of her 
opportunity, and adopted the simplest means 
for attaining her ends. First she prevented her 
own boundary commission from starting, and 
secondly she proceeded to push on as rapidly 
as possible and occupy with her own troops the 
most important positions she could reach on 
the road to Herat, judging, from her experience 



of Mr. Gladstone's Government, that what- 
ever she took she would be allowed to keep. 
When, however, Sir Peter Lumsden reported 
the situation of the  Russian forces, and the 
matter was referred t o  the Czar's Govern- 
ment, a system of delay was adopted a s  most 
advantageous to Russia, giving her time before 
war broke out for collecting her forces, and 
for the Baltic to  become navigable, although 
still Russia could not believe that  England 
would g o  to war, partly because of the Liberal 
Government, partly because we are not a 
nation to undertake war if we can help it, 
partly because we have acted feebly since 
Mr. Gladstone was in power, in so many 
quarters of the world, and also chiefly because 
the Russians did not believe that  a nation 
who seemed to  have so much trouble in 
settling the affairs of so insignificant a 
country as the Soudan would yet venture 
upon a great war with a European power. 

Russia, as above stated, had in March, 
1885, advanced her troops over fifty miles 
from Sarakhs in the direction of Herat, and at 
a place called Penj-deh she found herself 
confronted by the Afghans, while part of Sir 
Peter Lumsden's escort were camped near;  
the Russian general attempted to push on to 
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Penj-deh, but finding that he would have to 
fight for this place, he desisted, and stationed 
his troops close to the Afghans. 

Russia, it is to be observed, had no right 
whatever to be in this country, for by sending 
her troops to Penj-deh she was occupying 
territory far on the Afghan side of the line of 
that frontier which she had agreed to define. 
However, her object being to reach Herat 
and obtain all the most important positions 
on the road thither, she pushed on, and 
sought to justify her movements by saying 
that the Ameer had only recently occupied 
the country himself. 

As to Penj-deh, it is hardly necessary to 
answer the Russian complaint that the Ameer 
has only recently occupied this territory, and 
that it forms no part of his real kingdom, 
because even if he had no right to it, neither 
has Russia any right, and consequently, 
judged by their own dealings, the Ameer has 
quite a s  much right to occupy it as Russia; 
but, a s  a matter of fact, the territory has, as 
far as records go, formed part of the kingdom 
of Afghanistan, a s  much as many other parts 
of that kingdom, many provinces having at  
various times made themselves independent 
of the ruler at Cabul; suffice it to say that 
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from 1863 to 1879 (when Shere Ali died) 
the tribes of this territory paid tribute to the 
Government of Herat, a s  they also did pre- 
vious to  that  time whenever the  Government 
of Herat was sufficiently strong to make itself 
respected and enforce payment, and this too 
a t  a time when, there being little fear of in- 
vasion from that  quarter, Penj-deh was of 
much less value than since Russia has esta- 
blished herself on the border, and is seeking 
an  entrance into Herat. I t  may also be 
mentioned that  in nearly every map Penj-deh 
is marked some fifty or sixty miles within the 
Afghan frontier. And although in a Russian 
staff map Penj-deh was placed outside the 
boundary of Afghanistan, yet when this was 
brought to  the notice of M. de  Giers in 1884 
he repudiated this line. 

Penj-deh, it should be remembered, is a n  
important strategical position, and its posses- 
sion would enable the Russians to  dominate 
the road from Hera t  to  Maimana and Balkh, 
as also Herat  itself. I ts  importance only 
came to  be recognized by the  Russians when 
in March, 1884, M. Lessar, a n  engineer, 
travelled over the  country, inspecting the 
roads and surveying : and it is in consequence 
of his report that  the Russians have advanced 



their troops. One more argument to show to 
whom Penj-deh belongs. I n  1884, M. Les- 
sar on his surveying expedition went to  the 
people of Penj-deh and asked whose subjects 
they were ; t o  which they replied by refusing 
him admittance, and declaring that they were 
the  subjects of the  Ameer of Afghanistan ; 
and forthwith fearing that  M. Lessar's visit 
boded no good, they applied for an  Afghan 
garrison, which was sent to them, and at the 
time that  these troops were sent M. de  Giers 
in Europe was repudiating a line, as already 
stated, marked south of Penj-deh, and the 
English and Russian Governments were 
arranging together for delimiting the Afghan 
frontier from Khojah Saleh to Sarakhs, that 
is, in a line over fifty miles north of the 
Afghan garrison. 

No doubt Russia's intention was, finding 
from M. Lessar's report the importance of 
the  country sixty miles south of the Sarakhs, 
to  occupy with her troops all the  important 
positions she could, while, as usual, with 
civil words throwing dust  in the eyes of the 
English Government; so that  when the 
Frontier Commissioll came t o  do its work, 
if ,  indeed, that  work were ever to be done 
by - them, the  Russians would be well on 



the way to, if not actually in possession 
of Herat ; that gained, the only negotiation 
which would make Russia drop her prize 
would be negotiations based on the argu- 
ment of big battalions on the spot, and a n  
ultimatum which would end in war. For 
it is to be observed that Russia, unlike Eng- 
land, never retires from any territory upon 
which she has once got  a hold, unless com- 
pelled to do so by superior force ; and the  
only reason why Russia is not now a t  the 
great end at which she has so long been aim- 
ing, Constantinople, is that Lord Beaconsfield, 
at the time of the war between Russia and 
Turkey, took the wise and proper course of 
preparing for war and sending the British fleet 
into the Sea  of Marmora. 

From the foregoing it will be seen that  
Russia has not a vestige of a claim to the 
position occupied by her troops. Her  con- 
tention that  by conqueriilg the Merv and 
Yuletan Turcomans she is entitled to the 
country upon which they have raided and fed 
their flocks, but which, nevertheless, has never 
belonged to them, is too far-fetched to require 
argument, for it is evident that the people of 
Penj-deh are not under the sovereignty of 
Merv, but under the sovereignty of the ruler 



of Herat, and therefore it is absurd to base 
a claim to Penj-deh upon the conquest of a 
tribe elsewhere. 

T h e  Russian newspapers in February, I 885, 
in order to account for Russia's advance into 
the Afghan territory, gravely asserted that 
they were entitled to do so by the agreement 
which was come to between Lord Granville 
and Prince Gortchakoff in 1873, which, they 
stated, fixed the Afghan frontier ( (  a t  the 
northern limits of the country which was 
actually under the sway of Shere Ali ;" this, 
they asserted, would place the line south of 
Penj-deh. The  obvious answer to this argument 
is, first that this is evidently the line that M. de 
Giers repudiated, and secondly that no English 
statesman in 1873 or any other year would 
ever have consented t o  place a Russian out- 
post in a commanding position threatening 
Herat, Maimana, and Balkh, thereby, instead 
of forming a barrier between Russia and 
Afghanistan, giving Russia, on the contrary, 
a greater hold by far than England has on the 
Ameer ; for it is only necessary, in order to 
recognize this, to remember that in 1873 
Russia professed to consider Afghanistan 
outside the sphere of her influence. These 
movements by Russia on the frontier are 



again an  illustration of the entire absence 
OF reliability in Russian promises and repre- 
sentations for over half a century as regards 
Central Asia. 

Well may we say, almost in the words of 
Macbeth,- 

" And be these statesme# flow no more believed 
That palter with us with a subtle tongue; 
That keep the word of promise to our ear, 
And break it to our hope." 

Russian promises and assurances are not 
only untruthful and unfaithful to us, but also 
to the unfortunate Afghans and native rulers. 
I t  was after listening to the words of Russia 
that  the Persian Shah found himself com- 
pelled to retire beaten from Herat after 
having, in 1837, commenced the siege of 
that  city at the  inst.igation, and trusting to 
the representations of Count Simonich, and 
contrary to the advice of Mr. M'Neill, our 
representative at the Persian Court. I t  was 
after listening to Russian promises, from the 
mouth of M. Vickovitch, that Dost Mahomed 
neglected our agent, Mr. Burnes, and was 
shortly afterwards driven from his throne by 
our advance ; it was also after listening to 
the  words of deceit of General Stolietoff that  
Shere Ali kept back our mission under Sir 



Neville Chamberlain, and, as a result, was 
driven from Cabul and shortly afterwards died, 
looking in vain for the 13,000 men promised 
him by the Russian general. 

I t  is sad to read of the  death and disap- 
pointments of this unfortunate Ameer, waiting 
in vain for replies to his letters addressed to 
the Russian authorities, and too late recog- 
nizing what the  English agents  had already 
told him, namely, that  Russia would not help 
him in his hour of need ; while it is instruc- 
tive to  read that  at the  time of Shere Ali's 
flight from Cabul the Russians under his pro- 
tection went in hourly fear for their lives, and 
were thankful to be able to steal away in the 
dark from their betrayed Afghan friends. 

I t  may not be  amiss here to  give a short 
account of Russia's proceedings, showing her 
promises and assurances to the  various 
British Governments, and how these promises 
and assurances have been fulfilled. 

I n  I 8 I 3 the  treaty of Gorlistan was signed 
between Russia and Persia, the  English 
Government having acted as mediator;  by 
this treaty Russia acquired a large slice of 
Persian territory south of the  Caucasus, 
territory which she  had captured during the 
lingering war that  had just been brought to  a 



conclusion, and Persia agreed not to keep 
any naval force in the  Caspian Sea,  which 
now became a Russian water. 

Although this treaty had been patched up, 
yet it was not sufficient to allay the antipathy 
existing on the frontier between the Russians 
and Persians, an antipathy which increased 
year by year, owing to  various reasons, one 
of them being the misrule of the  Russian 
Government, until, in I 826, a religious war 
was preached against those who had out- 
raged Mahomedan feelings. T h e  Shah,  
though himself fearful of the  consequences, 
was yet unable to prevent this war. At first 
the  Persians were victorious, but General 
Paskewitch in September, 1826, defeated the 
Shah's army, and shortly afterwards the 
Russians took Erivan and Tabeiz. 

T h e  result of this war was to  enlarge 
Russian boundaries, giving her Erivan, and 
marking out a frontier south of that  city 
from Mount Ararat to  the Caspian Sea; this 
treaty of peace was signed at Toorkomanchai 
in 1828. 

T h e  year 1834 saw England and Russia 
acting together in Persia, and Count Nessel- 
rode expressing the  hope that the two 
empires would continue so to act  ; yet in the 
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year 1836 the  two ministers at the Persian 
Court were urging upon the S h a h  advice dia- 
metrically opposed one to the  other, Count 
Simonich pressing the  Persian ruler to  attack 
Herat ,  while M'Neill was trying to  prevail 
upon him not t o  undertake the  adventure. 

When  the  conduct of Count Simonich was 
reported to  the  British Government, and by 
them referred through the English Ambas- 
sador to  Count Nesselrode, he  declared that 
our minister had been misinformed, and that 
Count Simonich had never given such advice 
to  the  Shah ,  and that  such conduct on the 
part of t he  Persian monarch was both 
foolish and  impolitic. T h e  state of things, 
however, did not improve, and therefore the 
Earl of Durham drew the attention of M. 
Rodofinikin to  the  fact tha t  the Russian 
Government was represented by a person 
who either would not or could not act 
according t o  his instructions. Affairs went 
on gett ing more and more pronounced at 
Teheran, until t he  Shah  undertook, aided by 
Russian money, t he  a t tack on Herat.  Now, 
however, Count Simonich changed his front, 
and attempted to  dissuade the  Shah  from his 

A 

enterprise, and  when the  Persian monarch 
started, in November, 1837, on his expedition, 



Count Simonich remained behind ; but when 
Mr. M'Neill proceeded on other business to  
the  Shah's  camp at Herat,  Count Simonich 
immediately followed him, although there 
was a t  the time another Russian attached to  
the  court of the  Shah. Mr. M'Neill at- 
tempted, and on more than one occasion 
succeeded in arranging a peaceful settlement 
between the Shah and the governor of Herat, 
but on these occasions when he returned to  
the  Persian camp after obtaining the  consent 
of the  Afghans, he  always found that  his 
work had been undone, and that  the  Shah  
refused to sign what he  had agreed to ; 
while the Russians in the Persian camp did 
their best to  assist in the attacks on the 
place. T h e  result, however, a s  already stated, 
was that  the Shah  was compelled to  retire 
from the  city and raise the siege. 

T h e  difference between the  words and 
actions of the  Russian Government called 
forth, in October, 1838, a note from Lord 
Palmerston, in which, after  recapitulating the 
causes of complaint which his Government 
had against the proceedings of the  Russian 
agents, he asks whether " the intentions and 
the  policy of Russia towards Persia and 
towards Great Britain are to  be deduced 



from the declarations of Count Nesselrode 
and  M. Rodofinikin to  the  Earl of Durham, 
or  from the  ac t s  of Count Simonich and 
M. Vickovitch ; and  s tates  tha t  the British 
Government thinks itself also justified in 
observing that  if from any cause whatever 
the Russian Government has, subsequently 
t o  the  months of Febr-uary and May, 1837, 
altered the  opinions which were then expressed 
t o  the Earl of Durham, and  if that  Govern- 
ment has in consequence thought fit t o  give 
t o  its ambassador in Persia instructions 
diametrically opposite t o  those which were 
then described by Count Nesselrode and 
M. Rodofinikin, and  which M. Rodofinikin 
offered t o  exhibit t o  the  Earl of Durham;  
then, and in such case, t he  system of un- 
reserved reciprocal communications upon 
Persian affairs which of late years has been 
established between the  two Governments, 
gave to  the  British Cabinet a good right to  
expect that  so entire a change of policy on 
the  part of Russia, together with the  reasons 
on which it was founded, would have been 
made known to  her Majesty's Cabinet by the 
Cabinet of S t .  Petersburg, instead of being 
left t o  b e  inferred from the  acts of the 
Russian agents  in Persia and Afghanistan." 



This  note was answered by the  usual 
protestations that  Russia had no intention 
of attacking British interests in the Eas t ,  and 
that,  on account of the distance between t h e  
frontiers, and the difficulties to  be overcome, 
" a glance at the map ought to  be sufficient 
t o  dissipate, in this respect, all prejudice, and 
to convince every impartial and enlightened 
man that  no hostile design against England 
can direct the  policy of our (the Russian) 
Cabinet in Asia." When, however, in Feb- 
ruary, 1885, the Russian soldiers and allies 
were facing the  Afghan troops and part 
of General Lumsden's escort, the reductio ad 
absurdurn of the  " impartial and enlightened 
man " theory, as well as the good intention 
theory, became evident. 

Count Nesselrode further asserted that 
his Government had done all in its power to 
divert the  Shah from his attack on Herat, 
enjoining upon Count Simonich " to employ 
all his credit" for this purpose. Also, 
referi-ing to  M.  Vickovitch's mission to  Cabul, 
(the very mission which by Russian pro- 
mises succeeded in gaining the ear of Dost 
Mahomed and sending Burnes empty away), 
he  remarks that  this was " simply occasioned 
by the  mission of an agent whom Dost 



Mahomed Khan  sent t o  us, in 1837, to St. 
Petersburg, with t h e  intention of - forming 
commercial relations with Russia ;" and that 
this mission " had for i ts  object neither a 
treaty of commerce nor any political com- 
binations whatever which a third power could 
have reason to complain of or  t o  take 
umbrage a t .  I t  h a s  produced, and was 
intended to produce, but one result-that 
of making us  acquainted with a country 
separated from our frontier by great  dis- 
tances, which oblige our Government to  
increase i ts  precautions in order tha t  the  
activity of our commerce should not run the  
risk of engaging there in ruinous enterprises 
without having been enlightened beforehand 
as to the  chances to which it might be 
exposed ;" " our Cabinet can offer to that  of 
London the positive assurance that  in the 
mission of M. Witkewitsch t o  Cabul, and in 
t h e  instructions with which he  was furnished, 
there has not existed the  smallest design 
hostile t o  the  English Government, nor the 
smallest idea of injuring the  tranquillity of 
the British possessions in India." 

I t  is scarcely necessary to  a d d  that  the 
result of the  actions of Russian agents, and 
the  assurances of the  Russian Government, 
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was that England made war upon Dost 
Mahomed, and that  M. Vickovitch, defeated 
in his designs, and his ac ts  being disowned 
by his own Government, committed suicide. 
And once inore Count Nesselrode expressed 
in the strongest terms the good intentions of 
his Government. 

T h e  Central Asia question was now allowed 
to slumber till 1869, when, in consequence 
of Lord Clarendon's representatioils to the 
Russian Minister, Prince Gortchakoff him- 
self gave the  " assurance that his Imperial 
Majesty looks upon Afghanistan as com- 
pletely outside the  sphere within which 
Russia may be called upon to exercise her 
influence." Expressing a wish that  the  
possessions of the  two countries in Asia 
should be separated by " a n  independent 
zone," Prince Gortchakoff further stated 
that " he saw no objection whatever to  
English officers visiting Cabul, though he 
agreed with Lord Mayo that Russian agents 
should not do  so." 

Notwithstanding these satisfactory assur- 
ances the Government felt anxious, as it was 
reported that Russia was bent upon taking 
Khiva ; this, however, was firmly denied, but 
in the year 187 1 it was admitted on Russia's 
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part that it had been proposed to carry out 
an  expedition against the Khan of Khiva; 
but Count Schouvaloff in the following year, 
in order to allay the  growing feeling of anxiety, 
stated that it was only intended to punish 
the  acts  of brigandage of the Khan of Khiva, 
and to rescue some Russian prisoners, he 
giving when in London the " most decided 
and positive assurances that not only 
was it far from the intention of the 
Emperor to take possession of Khiva, but 
positive orders had been prepared to prevent 
it, and directions given that the conditions 
imposed should be such as  could not in 
anyway lead to  a prolonged occupancy of 
Khiva." 

Fact S, again, were against assurances, for, 
notwithstanding all that Count Schouvaloff 
had stated, Khiva was taken in June, 1873, 
and the Khan compelled to  sign a treaty by 
which Russia became master of his territory. 

Again Russia repeated her usual formula 
that Afghanistan was beyond her sphere of 
action, that she did not intend to attack the 
tribes unless they raided upon her, and that 
peremptory orders had been given not to 
attack the Tekke Yurcomans in the direction 
of Merv. 



AFGHANISTAN: 2 5  

Further, in his despatch of January, 1873, 
Prince Gortchakoff also stated that  peace and 
tranquillity in Central Asia are the objects 
which Russia in common with England, 
continues to  pursue. 

H e  also assured her Majesty's Minister for 
Foreign Affairs that " his Majesty the Em- 
peror considers extension of territory to be 
extension of weakness ; and his Majesty has 
himself stated that  there is no intention of 
extending the Russian dominions." 

Nevertheless in 1875 Lord Derby com- 
plained again of the continued advance of 
Russia, and Count Schouvaloff replied, asking 
if he was justified in assuming that England 
would not move forward if Russia'did not. I t  
was easy, of course, for Lord Derby to give this 
assurance, but this, again, was but hoodwink- 
ing our Government, for Russia continued her 
advance, and once more, in 1877, she was 
appealed to, and gave further assurances, 
yet  in 1878 the Russian mission was sent to 
Cabul, and the Ameer was urged by Stolietoff 
to  send an envoy to us " possessing the tongue 
of a serpent and full of deceit" (see Vol. i., 
page 68), the same plan having been found 
to succeed so very well and easily in so 
many instances with the British Government. 



Previous t o  this mission General Kauf- 
mann (whose personal character had been 

- 

described as much opposed to deception in 
political as in private life) had had frequent 
communications with the Ameer, but these 
were denied by the  Russian Government, 
who wrote t o  General Kaufmann t o  find out 
if there had been such communications or 
not ; the  general denied the  existence of such 
communications, but it is unfortunate for the 
Russian case that  much of this actual corre- 
spondence fell into our hands when we took 
Cabul, thus proving the  political deception of 
the  Russian agents. 

Again, in 1881, the  Russian Government 
asserted tha t  they had no intention of advanc- 
ing to Merv, but if they should be obliged 
t o d o  so, they would not remain there;  but 
in 1884 they procured the allegiance of the 
Tekke Turcomans at Merv, and sent an  officer 
to  administer the  country. 

They  then established themselves a t  
Sarakhs, and pushed on to Penj-deh, being 
only stopped there by Afghan troops and the 
presence of General Lumsden;  M. Lessar 
having already been over this ground exami- 
ning the  principal roads to  and  about Herat, 
and surveying. 



From the foregoing it is abundantly clear 
that  no trust is to  be placed in Russian 
promises, and the  only plan of dealing with 
her is to  hold as strong a position as possible, 
so as to  be able to insist with a strong hand 
upon the performance of those promises which 
are so freely given by Russia, but so little 
acted up to. 

T h e  Blue Book " Central Asia, No. 2, 
9 9  

I 885, is most interesting reading, showing 
how Russia is always solicitous for our wel- 
fare, while acting against us and gaining her 
own ends, unless she is opposed by a strong 
hand. 

Events have also shown the folly of the 
masterly inactivity policy, and how little truth 
there was in the dicta of the Liberal Govern- 
ment in I 873, when they stated to Shere Ali 
that  they did not foresee any danger to  him 
from his powerful neighbour in the north, a s  
Afghanistan was beyond Russian influence, 
and aggression from that quarter was not t o  
be anticipated ; had it not been for this policy 
the year 1885 might have found us with a 
satisfactory frontier on the Russian side of 
Afghanistan, decided by ourselves, and pro- 
tected a t  important points by Afghan troops, 
assisted by English skill ; while many of the 
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warlike Afghans might have been enrolled 
under our banner, and the influence of our 
civilization and peace have penetrated the 
Afghan valleys, so  that  our political officers 
would have been receiving offers of assistance 
from the  Sirdars of the country in the same 
way as in 1885 these most gratifying offers 
were received from the native states in India, 
and from our colonies in all parts of the 
world. 

However, there is one thing which the 
masterly inactivity policy has done for us : it 
has  shown the world that  we are not hunger- 
ing for more land, and that  our object is to 
avoid annexations and  land-grabbing. I trust 
that when war with Russia does break out, 
for sooner or later, if Russia continues to 
exist as a great  power, it will come, then I 
trust we shall show that  it was not from fear, 
from weakness, or  from any unworthy motive 
that  we have acted a s  we have done, but 
rather from a desire of living peacefully with 
our neighbours. 



CHAPTER 111. 

RUSSIAN ADVANCES IN CENTRAL ASIA. 

IT may be as well here to trace shortly the  
history of Russia's advance into Turkestan, 
and to  premise that these lines of advance are 
those which will be used by her in the  event 
of her attacking Afghanistan and India. 

S h e  has advanced into Turkestan by 
three distinct lines. T h e  first of these lines 
is from Orenburg to  the  S e a  of Aral, thence 
up the waters of the Jaxartes or Sir Daria 
River, until she found herself a t  Bokhara, 
Samarkand, and on the Zurafshan River. 

T h e  second line is from the Caspian S e a  
and the  Sea  of Aral to  Khiva, and thence up 
the  River Oxus or Amu Daria to Chardjui, 
where she has formed a depbt, and is con- 
tinuing her advance to  Khojah Saleh, a t  
which place the river bends in a well-defined 
easterly direction, and forms the northern 
boundary of Afghanistan. 



T h e  third line is from the Caspian Sea at, 
Krasnovodsk, Michaelovsk, and Tchikishlar, 
to Kizil Arvat, Askabad, Sarakhs, Merv, 
and Penj-deh on the Murghab and Kushk 
rivers. 

T o  these three lines of advance must be 
added a fourth, which I have kept distinct as 
being a line of advance from Western Siberia, 
the other three lines being from Europe. 
Before the Crimean War, Russia had ex- 
tended her posts little by little, south of 
Tobolsk, until she reached the Ili River. 

I t  was soon seen that by advancing her 
posts in a westerly direction so as to join 
the  advanced positions on the line of the 
Jaxartes River, a vast territory would be 
enclosed, and this large district would again 
be increased by joining the posts on the 
Oxus to it, and later on the line from the 
Caspian to Askabad, Merv, and the Afghan 
frontier. When this is completed the 
Russian kingdom of Central Asia will be 
bounded by one continuous line. 

I will now trace a little more in detail these 
advances. 

I t  was towards the end of the sixteenth 
century that Russia acquired Siberia, and 
shortly afterwards we hear of her claiming 



the obedience of the Ameer of Bokhara and 
the Khan of Khiva, but these claims could 
not be enforced, and were really nominal 
only; early in this century, however, it was 
decided to add further territory to the Russian 
frontiers in this direction. The  first move- 
ment was made by the Russians along the 
most northern route from Orenburg to the 
Sea  of Aral, and thence to Aralsk, where 
they erected a fort called No. I fort ; they 
were then on the banks of the Jaxartes 
River at the Sea  of Aral ; and from here 
they rapidly pushed upwards to fort No. 2, 

and afterwards to Perovski, which they 
reached in 1853. Thence they proceeded to 
Turkestan, taking several strong forts which 
opposed their progress, until they reached 
Tashkend in 1865. 

Troubles then broke out with Bokhara, 
whose Ameers hitherto had received friendly 
missions from Russia for upwards of a cen- 
tury ; till about the year I 865, the Ameer of 
Bokhara, finding. that the Russians were 
rapidly approaching his territory, and hearing 
the accounts of their previous proceedings, 
began to be alarmed. Now, the object of the 
Russian generals being to advance, and the 
Ameer being in a somewhat hostile state of 
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mind, it was not difficult for 'them to find a 
pretext for action against him, and upon his 
retaliating by imprisoning some Russian en- 
voys who had been sent to him, war was com- 
menced. The  first Russian expedition was, 
however, unsuccessful, but another expedition 
being started, commanded by another general, 
the Bokharians were defeated a t  the battle of 
Irdja, and the Ameer reduced to submission ; 
the Russian conquests being afterwards 
pushed on to Samarkand, the fall of which 
important city, in 1868, a t  once raised the 
prestige of Russia throughout Asia. So 
completely is the Ameer in the hands of 
Russia, that his son was one of the Eastern 
princes present to acknowledge the supre- 
macy of the Czar on the occasion of his 
coronation in 1883 ; and although the Ameer 
of Bokhara is allowed to retain his throne, 
yet he is absolutely a t  the disposal of Russian 
orders, and a t  his death Russia will probably 
take over the country. 

W e  now turn to the second line of advance, 
that across the Caspian and by the Sea of 
Aral to Khiva. Though Russia, as we have 
seen, claimed to have some power over the 
Khan of Khiva, yet there had been very 
little intercourse between the two states for 
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many years ; some Cossack expeditions 
had been made, but had been unsuccessful, 
and  Peter the Great had sent a n  expedition 
under Prince Beckovitch to  Khiva, which, 
after encountering great difficulties, reached 
its destination, only, however, to  be massa- 
cred shortly afterwards ; yet so little commu- 
nication was there between the two countries, 
that  the Czar, knowing nothing of the fate of 
his soldiers, was compelled to send a special 
mission to find out the result, and in the end 
Beckovitch and his followers were left un- 
avenged. Thus  matters stood until 1839, 
when an  unsuccessful expedition was sent 
against Khiva ; in 1842 a mission was sent, 
which likewise was without result ; and an  
expedition in 1859 also gained but little 
success ; but in I 87 1 Russia made prepara- 
tions for a determined attack,  and although 
protesting in Europe that  she was not going 
to  take this course, she yet, in 1873, des- 
patched a strong expedition composed of 
columns marching from different quarters, 
from the Caspian, from the Sea  of Aral, and 
from Tashkend. The  expedition was success- 
ful, the town of Khiva was captured, and the 
Khan compelled to agree to an ignominious 
peace which extended Russia's supremacy 



over his country, and gave her complete 
command of the River Oxus. 

I t  may be as well to  note here that the 
Khan of Khiva in I 872, seeing that he was 
about to be attacked by Russia, sent an envoy 
to Lord N orthbrook, who, however, declined 
to render him any assistance, it being clearly 
out of Lord ~o r thb rook ' s  power, except by 
way of diplomacy, which with Russia is not 
very effectual ; but it is interesting to note 
this mission as  showing how willing the Central 
Asian rulers would be to  have our assistance 
against their northern neighbour ; and if the 
Ameer of Afghanistan should be of the same 
mind as the Khan of Khiva was when in a 
like situation to that in which the Ameer now 
is, we need have little doubt as to  his loyalty 
to us. 

Russia's third line of advance has been 
froin Tiflis to the Caspian, across that sea to 
Krasnovodsk, Michaelovsk, and Tchikishlar ; 
from those places she has advanced to Kizil 

A 

Arvat and along the Atrek. On this line 
three of Russia's expeditions against the 
Turcomans failed, until, in I 88 I ,  General 
Skobeleff captured, with great slaughter, the 
Turcoman stronghold of Geok Tepe, where 
General Lomakin had previously been de- 



feated ; Askabad was then made the  capital 
of the province, and a treaty concluded with 
Persia by which they obtained some portion 
of Persian territory, though not as much a s  
they demanded. In 1884 the Czar received 
the submission of the Merv Tekke Turco- 
mans, and the Russian forces occupied 
Sarakhs. 

In  the case of Merv, as in that of Khiva, 
the Turcomans would no doubt have been 
very pleased if they could have obtained 
English assistance against their aggressive 
enemy ; yet, now that  they have given way 
to Russia, they will in all probability prove 
valuable soldiers and allies for her, though 
from their love of money it would not be 
difficult to alter their views, and from their 
position they would form valuable allies to  
us  in case of war ; and if Russia is permitted 
to  remain south of Sarakhs it will but mean 
war in the future, as soon as she is quite 
prepared for an  advance to Herat, and in 
the meantime it will be to her interest to repre- 
sent at all the native centres, that, notwith- 
standing England's ~ r o t e s t s  I and preparations 
for war, yet she is really afraid to move and 
is compelled to submit to whatever move- 
ments Russia choses t o  make, so that  in 
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~ r o ~ o r t i o n  as the weakness of England will 
be displayed, the strength of Russia will be 
magnified. 

Russia having taken possession of Merv 
and Sarakhs, now began to look with 
longing eyes in the direction of Afghani- 
stan, and following her usual method, a 
peaceful surveying expedition was despatched 
to examine the country from Sarakhs up  to 
Herat, and to make treaties, if possible, 
with the inhabitants of those districts. 

T h e  results of this survey showed the im- 
portance of the situations at Penj-deh, Pul-i- 
Khatum, Zulficar, and Ak-Robat, and also 
made it clear that the few tribes in the 
vicinity were not inclined to accept the 
sovereignty of the Czar. Thereupon the 
Russian commanders immediately pushed on 
their troops, and instead of sending a com- 
mission to draw out the frontier line, they 
proceeded to occupy whatever territory 
seemed to them most advisable, until 
General Komaroff, having received reinforce- 
ments, and having failed in his attempts to 
induce the Afghans to attack him, as  was 
witnessed and recorded by our own officers 
on the spot, he advanced his troops to 
positions opposite the Afghan forces, passed 



their posts, and made demonstrations likely 
to bring on a rupture of the peace, and,  in 
the  words of Sir Peter Lumsden, made " con- 
tinued and irritating daily attempts to  excite 
hostility " (vide telegram dated Tirpul, April 
17th, 1885, Sir Peter Lumsden to Lord 
Granville) ; finally, on the 30th of March, 
1885, they attacked the Afghan position at 
Ak Tepe, the junction of the  Kushk and  
Murghab rivers, and routed our allies with 
great slaughter (I  say our allies for we had 
undertaken to  defend the Ameer from " un- 
provoked aggression "), some of Sir Peter 
Lumsden's escort being witnesses of the 
battle, which Captain Yate, who was in com- 
mand of the English escort, had used all means 
in his power to prevent, having in a n  inter- 
view with the Russian general pointed out 
to  him the words of M. de Giers to the  
English Government that the strictest orders 
had been sent to abstain from attacking the  
Afghans ; t o  this the general replied that he 
had received no such orders, and he.declinecl 
t o  give any assurance that the  attack on the  
Afghan position would not be made without 
notice. And when the advance of the 
Russian cavalry to the rear of the Afghan 
position was pointed out t o  him, he explained 



this movement by saying that it was " merely 
a pleasure trip." General Komaroff's tele- 
gram to Europe, putting all the blame of the 
- 

rupture on Afghan shoulders, has since been 
in every sentence explained by General 
Lumsden as  misleading or absolutely in- 
correct. 
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CHAPTER IV. 

R U S S I A N  C I V I L I Z A T I O K  A N D  F U T U R E .  

M O V E M E N T S .  

IT  will be interesting now to note the work 
Russia has been doing in Central Asia. There 
can be no doubt that a civilizing influence 
has been exerted, which, although rude in 
itself, has bestowed great benefits upon 
thousands of unfortunate people by checking 
the raids of the roving tribes, and by abolish- 
ing the slave trade, and instituting in its 
place some resemblance of peace and order ; 
at the same time it is impossible to read the 
history of her advances without seeing that 
these advances have been made by ambitious 
generals seeking personal distinction, and 
animated by a fixed desire for acquiring 
territory ; and that  pretexts of all sorts have 
been made out for the purpose of covering 
with a show of justice the harshness and 
illegality of these frequent extensions, and 



of the  severe blows inflicted upon the un- - 
fortunate and often unoffending people ; in 
many instances the Russians simply imitat- 
ing the  Turcoman plan of making raids 
without excuse or justification, the only 
difference being that  in Russia's raids, where 
she  was successful, there she remained. 

Her  Government, when it has annexed a 
country, is tyrannous and oppressive ; it is 
unable t o  keep its own large cities in order 
without the  most severe regulations and 
police system ; and the extreme badness of 
Russian government and civilization may be 
inferred from the  existence and state of her 
Siberian prisons. 

T h e  ~ r i n c i p a l  promoter of the idea of a 
Russian invasion of India was General Skobe- 
leff, h e  and a large party in Russia having 
always looked with longing eyes upon Con- 
stantinople, which they believe will one day . . '  
become a Russian city, giving them a safe 
refuge in the Black Sea,  and a convenient 
sally-port into the  Mediterranean. Twice 
has  Russia been baulked of her prey by Eng- 
land, first, at the time of the Crimean War, 
secondly, when her troops were actually at the 
gates  of Constantinople, at the  conclusion of 
the Turkish W a r  of l 1877, when a body of 
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picked regiments marched to San Stefano, 
which is so close to the city that  the writer 
with many other persons a t  the time made a 
pleasant afternoon excursion from Constanti- 
nople to the camp and back, only to find a 
collection of hard, lean, active-looking men 
and horses with scarcely any superfluous flesh, 
but muscles toughened by the severe training 
of crossing the Balkans in the face of the 
enemy. 

Twice thus defeated in her ends, and once 
almost with her hands on the prey, Russia 
has recognized that  the way to Constanti- 
nople lies not so much over Turkish soil, a s  
through the passes of Afghanistan into India. 
S h e  sees that  once well established within 
striking distance of our Eastern empire, the 
principal ally of Turkey would hesitate before 
going to her assistance, if Russia should again 
raise the old cry against the "unspeakable 
Turk," and advance again towards her ambi- 
tious ends. One thing she does not take into 
consideration ; it is, will not the combination of 
interests which she has attacked, and is attack- 
ing, prove too strong for her ; and the fact be- 
coming evident that she must be stopped in her 
aggression, as Napoleon I. was stopped in his 
career of conquest, will not Turkey, Persia, 
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her Caucasian provinces, the various Turkis- 
tan tribes, Afghanistan, China, and Poland, 
supported by the movable forces of England 
uniting together, prove the fallacy of Russian 
ambition, and end in the bankruptcy and dis- 
ruption of her great but weak empire? Such 
a fate is doubtless one day prepared for her, 
but not until she has spread the outlines of 
civilization over the vast spaces of Central 
Asia. And this, be it observed, is almost 
finished ; already she has broken through the 
barbarism of the tribes almost up to the 
frontier of India, and soon Persia, like 
Afghanistan, pressed by the encroachments 
of Russia, will appeal for assistance to Eng- 
land, and thus her government will come under 
the sway of civilization. 

In a -letter written by General Skobeleff 
in 188 I ,  about a year before his death, he 
expresses very clearly his views as to the ad- 
vantage of attacking India, so that, in the 
event of any complications in Europe, England 
might be threatened by a strong force in 
Afghanistan ; and he recommends that Russia 
should have Residents a t  Meshed, Herat, and 
Merv. H e  also appeals to what he calls " the 
sacred words " of the late Emperor, when he 
said that he would not allow on the Persian 
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frontier any preponderating influence but that  
of Russia. 

I t  is for England, sooner or later, to  coun- 
teract this preponderating influence in Persia, 
which means, in other words, a gradual ad- 
vance of Russia to  the  Persian Gulf, and  the 
exclusion of English merchants and English 
interests from that  country, which in Russian 
hands would become as exclusive as her pre- 
sent Central Asian provinces, where no 
foreigners, especially Englishmen, can travel 
without great difficulty, as is illustrated in the 
account Colonel Burnaby gives of the op- 
position thrown in the way of his journey to  
Khiva. While on this subject, I will quote 
frorn Colonel Burnaby's book a passage 
showing the wisdom of the uncivilized Khan 
of Khiva, which compares curiously with the 
ignorance of our own Ministers ; for it will be 
remembered that  Mr. Gladstone laughed a t  a 
Russian invasion of India as an  old woman's 
idea. 

T h e  following is the passage from Colonel 
Burnaby's book ;-the Khan observed, " ' the 
Russians will now advance to  Kashgar, then 
to  Bokhara and Balkh, and so on to Merv and 
Herat.  Youwill have to fight some day,whether 

- 

your Government likes it or not. I am informed 



that India is very rich,' he added, ' and Rus- 
sia has got plenty of soldiers, but little with 
which to pay them. I am payingforsomeof 
them now,' he continued, looking with a sad 
smile a t  his treasurer." 



CHAPTER V. 

T H E  POSITION O F  T H E  AMEER OF  

IT now remains to  consider what line the 
Ameer will take. 

In  1885, he  finds himself scarcely secure 
on the throne, with other aspirants for the 
dignity, and with a powerful neighbour in the 
North who has rapidly absorbed all the Native 
States  which but a few years ago formed an  
insurmountable barrier between her frontier 
and Afghanistan; and this State  while bidding 
with one hand for the Ameer's support, with 
the  other hand is threatening to add his 
territory to  those provinces lately acquired. 
In the South the Ameer finds another poner- 
ful state not only anxious to avoid enlarging 
its frontier, but ready to support him in his 
resistance to his Northern neighbour. One 
side or the other he must take ; for to  be 
neutral would mean the loss of his finest 



territory, since if he does not oppose Russia, 
she  will, without doubt, take possession of 
Herat ,  and with it she  will absorb the Ameer's 
territory North of the Hindu Kush ; while, so 
soon as Russia occupies Herat,  England on 
the  other side will advance to  Candahar and 
the  Helmand, and Afghanistan will become 
the  seat  of a war which, however concluded, 
either by Russia becoming the conqueror, 
and  advancing into India, or by England 
driving Russia out  of the country, and im- 
posing severe terms of peace upon her, would 
be equally a misfortune for the Ameer. In 
the first case, no doubt he  would be absorbed, 
as Khiva and Merv have been, as a stepping- 
stone to  further advance, and  as one link in 
a long chain of communications which must 
be held very strongly. In  the  second case, 
h e  would be almost equally unfortunate ; for 
England would be  compelled t o  hold Canda- 
har and Herat,  and the important positions 
in the  neighbourhood of her antagonist's 
frontier, while disgusted at the  Ameer's 
conduct, and perpetually irritated by Afghan 
attacks, she  would in all probability turn her 
successful arms against Cabul, and thus the 
Hindu Kush would become the Northern 
frontier of India. 



For the  Ameer to  remain. neutral would 
thus appear to  be a very disadvantageous 
policy for himself ; he  must therefore take 
either the  side of Russia or England. 1 f  he  
takes that  of Russia, whether she is success- 
ful or not, Afghanistan will suffer in the same 
way as if he  remained neutral. If, on the other 
hand, he  takes the side of England, he may 
feel pretty sure that  this country will not take 
any of his territory which is not absolutely 
necessary for the  security both of his king- 
dom and of India, while he will be sustained 
on the  throne of Cabul, and supported by 
English money. 

At the  beginning of April, 1885, the .\meer 
of Afghanistan met Lord Dufferin in Durbar 
at Rawul Pindi, where he remained about a 
fortnight, the  result being to  all appearance 
highly satisfactory, the  Ameer returning t o  
Afghanistan impressed by his reception and 
by the  review held in his honour, and having 
expressed himself as being both highly 
gratified, and " the  Queen's Ameer." His 
departure was no doubt hastened by the 
news tha t  the Russians had attacked and 
defeated the Afghan outposts a t  Penj-deh on 
the  30th of March, just a t  the time that  the 
Ameer was entering India;  the news, how- 



ever, of this attack, doubtless designed to 
counterbalance to some extent the effect of 
the Viceroy's reception, did not reach England 
or India before the 9th of April, and after 
the grand Durbar which was held on the 8th. 
T h e  Ameer was escorted on his return jour- 
ney through the Khyber Pass by our officers 
and the Afridis in our pay ; upon the latter he 
seemed to look with some suspicion ; but the 
whole visit had gone off most successfully and 
without any hitch. 
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CHAPTER VI. 

AFFAIRS I N  EUROPE, 1885. 

DURING April and May, 1885, in Europe 
the greatest excitement prevailed ; military 
and naval preparations in England and Russia 
were pushed on with energy ; the exchanges 
throughout the world suffered under frequent 
fluctuations ; Russian stock particularly fall- 
ing rapidly, while her bankruptcy was freely 
predicted in the event of war. Great fears were 
felt in England as to the want of firmness of 
Mr. Gladstone and his cabinet, and it was 
clearly seen that his previous actions and 
vacillation were highly disadvantageous to 
this country, as  rendering Russian pretensions 
more difficult to deal with, the minds of all 
foreigners being impressed with the idea 
that Mr. Gladstone would never have the 
courage to declare war. On Primrose Day 
a very large portion of the people, both in 
London and the provinces, and of every 
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class, wore the Beaconsfield flower, ' while 
the white feather was hawked about the 
streets of London as " Mr. Gladstone's 
badge." On every side the doings of the - 
Government were held up to derision and 
rebuke. Lord Salisbury, in a speech said, 
referring to Mr. Gladstone's public speeghes, 
that the first principle of his foreign policy 
was economy, yet he had just asked for eleven 
millions. That  his next principle was peace ; 
as an  illustration of peace Lord Salisbury 
referred to our dealings with the Arabs, 
Boers, Afghans, and Russians. That his 
next principle was the concert of Europe ; 
we have maintained the concert of Europe, 
but directed against ourselves. The  fourth 
principle was not to enter into any en- 
tangling traps or engagements; in answer to 
which Lord Salisbury pointed to the recent 
convention which will shortly provide an 
international control of Egypt. Lastly, he 
said the  principle of freedom was to  be main- 
tained, in answer to which Lord Salisbury 
pointed out t he .  Arabs fighting to be free. 
Thus, then, have the Liberal Government 
acted up to the principles of their election 
campaign and Mr. Gladstone's Midlothian 
speeches, which last have done the greatest 
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damage to this country by hampering the 
Premier's hands; and thus is seen the  folly 
of governing for the benefit of party and not 
for the State. 
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CHAPTER VII. 

T H E  C H A N C E S  O F  \VL4R. 

IT is difficult to  say much as to  the chances 
of war, but the  following facts are pretty 
clear. Supposing the  Afghans to act  fairly 
with us, and to fight with the same energy 
against Russia that  they displayed in the 
last war that  we had with them, then they 
will form most useful allies, and alone will 
oblige Russia to  put into the field a large 
army, and to use this army with full energy. 
When, therefore, we bring up the forces which 
are assembling on our frontier, Russia will 
require to  place in line as many men as we 
can bring into the  field plus the large force 
required to  resist the Afghans. Thus  should 
the Afghans prove true allies, as the natives 
in India have often proved to  us, and be armed 
by England and led by Englishmen, then we 
need have little fear of Russia's ever reaching 
India;  but in our consideration, we must 
make allowances for the probable lukewarm- 



ness, if not hostility, of many Afghan tribes, 
and this is what renders the situation one of 
anxiety to this country. There is not much 
doubt that  Russia in time could bring large 
numbers of men against Afghanistan, provided 
that  her line from Tiflis to Sarakhs was not 
threatened or attacked ; but having got the 
men a t  or about Sarakhs, she would have the 
greatest possible difficulty in maintaining 
them theie, unless she were able to place 
them in the fertile lands which lie around 
Herat,  or feed them from Persia. Hence it 
is seen that  once at Herat, the great difficulty 
of the war to  her will be overcome, for her 
railway and communications, not taken up 
with forwarding supplies, will be a t  liberty 
for the despatch of reinforcements, and the 
British and Afghan forces would, supposing 
Russia to  be defeated in the field, still have 
to take Herat, a n  operation which would 
probably be attended with difficulty and con- 
sequent delay, before peace could be signed, 
unless Russia were forced to a peace by 
severe blows inflicted upon her line of com- 
munications and her vulnerable points in 
Europe. As Russia has lately drawn her 
supplies from Persia, an  alliance between 
England and Persia should be concluded ; 
and Russia's line of communication and 
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supplies thus at one blow be attacked. Persia, 
it is to  be observed, is most interested in this 
war, for should Russia be denied her hold in 
.Afghanistan, her next proceedings will be the 
absorption of the Shah's country, in 'order to 
obtain an outlet for her trade at the Persian 
Gulf. Hence Persia has much to fear from her 
aggressive neighbour on the north, but very 
little to fear from England on the east, and 
with careful management ought to become 
our fast friend and an improving power. I t  
must be remembered that many times has it 
been suggested that English officers should be 
sent to Persia to  assist her in strengthening 
her country, and in forming an army with 
which to resist Russian aggression, and with- 
out doubt the sooner this is done the safer 
will be our possessions in India. 

T h e  following is annexed in order to convey 
a convenient idea of the approximate distances 

- - 

to  be traversed by the opposing forces in 
case of war :- 

Miles. 

From Michaelovsk on the Caspian to Kizil Arvat . 144 
Froin Kizil Arvat to Askabad . '35 
From Askabad to Sarakhs . . . 186 
From Sarakhs to Herat . S . , 202 

Total distance for the Russians to travel from the 
Caspian to Herat . . . S . . 667 - 



Miles. 
From Herat to Farrah . . . 165 
From Farrah to Girishk . . . 125 
From Girishk to Candahar . . 79 

Total distance from Herat to Candahar 369 
Candahar to Quetta . . . 145 

Total distance from Quetta to Herat . . 514 - 
T h e  road from the Caspian S e a  to Canda- 

- 

har does not present any great difficulties, a s  
there are no high passes to  traverse; in fact, 
it has been stated that  a wheeled carriage 
could be driven the whole distance. From 
Candahar to the  Indus our armies have 
already marched, and the road is well known. 
I t  may be as well to  add that the distance 
from Candahar to Kurrachee is between 600 
and 700 miles, while that from Sibi to Herat  
is as near as possible 600 miles ; Sibi to  the 
Indus being about 150 miles, and Sibi to  
Quetta about 80 miles. 



C H A P T E R  VIII. 

T H E  SITUATION IN ENGLAND.  

A CERTAIN school has arisen in the country 
who have for their motto such words as  
Peace, Retire, Retrenchment, Reform. The 
words are the motto of all Englishmen rightly 
understood, but by the party by whorn they 
are so frequently paraded they are not rightly 
understood. I t  is only necessary to look 
back to Liberal Governments, to see war, or 
the seeds of war ;  advancement, or the 
necessity of advancement ; expense, or bad 
economy, allowing the weeds of waste to 
grow up, necessitating increased expense ; 
clap-trap cries got up, to a large extent, for 
speech-making, weakening the social fabric, 
and frequently setting class against class. 
Now, although this is the upshot of the 
greater part of the Liberal policy, yet there is 
no doubt that Liberals are most valuable in 
the state, they are always ready to ventilate 
new subjects, and to start new theories: it is 



part of their business to  do s o ;  and in their 
cries, as in their acts, there is a grain of good 
and a grain of truth, but these grains of value 
are so overlaid with tawdry, and consequently 
false glitter, put on to  catch the public eye 
and assist a speech, or bring a speaker into 
notice, and also the cries themselves often 
are so misunderstood by the criers who shout 
them, that they produce the very evils which 
they denounce, and which their authors wish 
to  prevent. Thus  we see in Mr. Gladstone's 
administration of I 880 to I 885, Peace turned 
into war in all quarters of the globe ; Retire- 
ment turned into advancement, notably in the 
Cape, in Egypt, and the Soudan, while it will 
not be long before a further advance will have 
to  be made on the Indian frontier, when we 
become, as we must shortly do, responsible 
for the safety of Afghanistan and Persia ; 
Retrenchment also has given place to fearful 
expenditure in Egypt, in the Cape, in the Red 
Sea, and finally, in preparing for war with 
Russia all over the world; while the word 
Reform has, under Mr. Gladstone, had the 
effect of setting burning class questions 
afloat, both in this country and in India, and 
unsettling the important interests represented 
by land, capital, and contract. 
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Ever unprepared, ever vacillating, ever 
giving way, and never adopting a clear and 
steadfast line of policy, the Government in 
I 885 have brought Englishmen into contempt 
in every quarter of the globe, have rendered 
our friends lukewarm, our enemies triumphant, 
and have stultified the express utterances of 
our responsible officers, and thus has the 
sterling worth of English promises been 
debased, so that no reliance can be placed 
upon our word, nor can our actions be pre- 
dicted, and all this because of one great fault, 
the English Government has failed to follow 
Nelson's celebrated command, TO DO ITS 

DUTY ; for driven here by one current, and 
there by another current of its own partisans, 
it has left, first on one hand, and then on the 
other, the clear and courageous path of duty, 
and has governed, not for the good of the 
state, but for the good of its supporters, that 
is, to  keep its own party in office. 

All persons recognize with contempt the 
action of a man who " began to  build, and 
was not able to finish," yet in this position we 
stand, we have begun to build a splendid 
empire in India, we have not finished it, and 
much labour is required before the scaffolding 
of our support can be in any way weakened, 



if we would prevent the edifice from crumb- 
ling to pieces. Nay, more, all men hold him 
in greatest contempt, who, born to a great 
estate and great honours, is not man enough 
to accept the responsibilities of these advan- 
tages, and by energy and courage improve 
the estates, increase the honours, and, by his 
support, spread happiness among those born 
with inferior advantages ; yet there is a class 
in this country who, disregarding the high 
duties and responsibilities which belong to the 
nation, would, with a plea of generosity and 
kindness in their mouths, retire from their 
high position, give up their hold on India and 
our other great possessions, and permit our 
friends, our allies, and our subjects, yea, our 
own flesh and blood, to fall a prey to Russian 
aggression, to despotic power, and to social 
discord and internecine strife. 

Our way is clear before us if we are 
honourable men and do our duty ; we have 
received the legacy of possessions from our 
forefathers, it is for us to strengthen these 
possessions a t  all hazards and a t  whatever 
sacrifice, and thereby to increase the pros- 
perity and happiness of those over whom we 
bear rule. 

W e  should not fight, as Russia or France, 



for territory-far be it from us-but when we 
are compelled to fight, let us fight to conquer 
by strength and by honourable actions, and not 
imitate the Russian plan of slaughter without 
quarter, so as to strike terror into the nations ; 
such deeds cannot be too strongly condemned, 

- - 

and by a sure Nemesis they eventually injure 
the oppressor more than the oppressed. Now 
is the time when we must resist Russia's 
advances against India; fortunately with a 
friendly Afghanistan we are in a position to 
ac t  with power, and it remains for us now to 
make Afghanistan strong on its northern 
frontier, while a t  the same time forming an 
alliance with Persia, and rendering her aid, 
so that Russia being driven back to the 
Caspian Sea, Persia may be put in posses- 
sion of some of the Russian ports and the 
railway from the Caspian to Sarakhs, while 
other railways from the south shall open up 
her country, and good government free from 
fear of Russian aggression restore peace and 
contentment in her neglected territories, and 
thus our Indian empire be protected by the 
arts of peace more than by big battalions. 

One point is now clear-it is that Russian 
aggression must a t  all hazards be stopped, 
and Turkey's important position between the 
Black Sea and the Mediterranean must never 



AFGHANISTAN. 6 r 

be permitted to fall into Russian hands, or 
into the hands of any Continental power suffi- 
ciently strong to  forbid our ships the passage 
into the Black S e a ;  for, once let this be per- 
mitted, then Russian aggression will become 
more clearly marked as her vulnerable points 
will have become secure. 

If the blunders committed by Mr. Glad- 
stone's Government, and the critical position 
in which we are placed in so many quarters 
of the world, shall ac t  as a spur to  English- 
men to do their duty a t  any sacrifice, and 
awake from their lethargy and fear of respon- 
sibility; if the contempt felt by foreigners for 
Englishmen, and the dishonour of our word 
should brace up the nation to the standard of 
its great traditions ; if the trading community 
should see from the history of the years I 880 
to  I 885, that  the peace-at-any-price policy 
results in war, or peace a t  the most ruinous 
price ; if public patriotism shall take the place 
of private interest,-then will even a great 
Russian war be a n  advantage to this country 
as a means of consolidating our patriotism 
and raising our morality ; and no more men- 
tion will be heard of the disgraceful " scuttling 
policy" which leaves the tribes and the in- 
dividuals who have assisted us in our need 
unprotected against the fury of their enemies, 
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and with scarcely any prospect before them 
but ruin, and spreads broadcast a hatred of 
the English name. These  results we have 
witnessed with shame during the years from 
1880 to  1885 in so many quarters ; we have 
seen Gordon abandoned, and this truly great 
man feeling all the humiliation of knowing 
that  he was deserted by his countrymen until 
too late ; and now we see the Soudan ex- 
peditions, after brave speeches, gallant fight- 
ing, and terrible slaughter, about to be given 
up, and all the results of so much expendi- 
ture and so much bloodshed and misery, 
thrown away, and this with the full prospect 
that these expeditions will again have to be 
undertaken. 

In  thus advocating a firm policy on the 
part of our Government, I would not suggest 
any further extension of our possessions, or 
the  adding of one rood of ground to our 
territories, unless it be such small strong 
positions as may enable us to hold our 
enemies in check, and thus maintain a firm 
and conciliatory policy, and ac t  the part of 
policemen to  any unruly neighbours. 

T H E  END. 
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